Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Elizabeth C. Ailes

(date)

Geographic and Seasonal Variation in Campylobacteriosis

By Elizabeth C. Ailes Doctor of Philosophy

Epidemiology

Christine Moe, PhD Advisor

Ruth L. Berkelman, MD Committee Member

Mitchel Klein, PhD Committee Member

David G. Kleinbaum, PhD Committee Member

Elaine Scallan, PhD, MPH Committee Member

Robert V. Tauxe, MD, MPH Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Geographic and Seasonal Variation in Campylobacteriosis

By

Elizabeth C. Ailes A.B., Bowdoin College, 2000 M.P.H., Yale University, 2003

Advisor: Christine Moe, Ph.D.

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2010

Abstract Geographic and Seasonal Variation in Campylobacteriosis By Elizabeth C. Ailes

Campylobacter infections are a major cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the U.S., where approximately 2 million people become ill annually. As campylobacteriosis is not nationally notifiable and reporting requirements vary from state to state, laboratorybased surveillance data from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) is vital for assessing the magnitude of the disease burden and monitoring trends of this important pathogen. Since FoodNet was established in 1996, regional and seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis has been observed. In order to better understand these patterns, the first goal of this dissertation was to examine key factors that may explain the observed geographic variation in campylobacteriosis across the 10 FoodNet sites, such as geographic differences in surveillance artifacts (health care use, stool sample submission, and clinical laboratory practices) or risk factors for campylobacteriosis (high risk foods and other exposures). The second goal was to examine whether climatic factors were associated with campylobacteriosis and whether seasonal variation in risk factors existed. An analysis of multiple cross-sectional surveys conducted in the FoodNet sites did not find evidence to suggest that differences in healthcare utilization or stool sample submission practices explained the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. Similarly, analysis of a survey of clinical laboratories found that variation in clinical laboratory methods is unlikely to account for the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. Additionally, an examination of casecontrol study data showed no evidence of geographic effect modification of select risk factors for campylobacteriosis, although the frequency of some exposures did vary by FoodNet site. An analysis of surveillance and meteorological data showed a modest association between campylobacteriosis and both minimum temperature and extreme precipitation events. No evidence of seasonal effect modification of risk factors was found. The goal of this dissertation was to examine key factors that may explain the observed variation in campylobacteriosis, given the constraints of data collected for public health surveillance purposes. Reasons for the geographic and seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites remain elusive. Potential areas of further exploration include differences in the circulating strains of *Campylobacter*, the quantity of *Campylobacter* on poultry, and immune response to *Campylobacter*.

Geographic and Seasonal Variation in Campylobacteriosis

By

Elizabeth C. Ailes A.B., Bowdoin College, 2000 M.P.H., Yale University, 2003

Advisor: Christine Moe, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2010

Acknowledgments

There are a number of people who I'd like to thank for helping me throughout the dissertation process. The chair of my dissertation committee, Christine Moe, has been an incredible supporter of me since the moment I met with her when I applied to the doctoral program in Epidemiology. I would also like to thank Ruth Berkelman, who has been a wonderful mentor and advisor throughout my graduate career both prior to my dissertation research and during it. Mitch Klein has sat through many hour-long meetings with me and has done so much to strengthen my understanding of epidemiological methods. Elaine Scallan, Rob Tauxe and David Kleinbaum were invaluable members of my committee as well.

I would not have been able to complete this process without the support of my friends and family. In particular, Kira, Lauren and Michael have helped me navigate the ins and outs of doctoral research and provided a much-needed, at times, source of humor and guidance. I would also like to thank my husband, Adam, for his never-ending encouragement and his willingness to learn as much about *Campylobacter* as any MBA student could. And, finally, I have to thank both of my parents for helping me get to where I am today -- my mom for encouraging me to reach higher and my dad for being ready to pick me up should I stumble. Mom and dad, this dissertation is dedicated to you.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND	3
Campylobacter Microbiology	3
Survival Mechanisms	5
Reservoirs	6
Animal Reservoirs	7
Environmental Reservoirs	8
Campylobacter on Food	10
Poultry	10
Milk	12
Drinking Water	13
Cross-contamination of Food	14
Clinical Features	14
Antibiotic Resistance	17
Immunity	
Epidemiology of Campylobacter Infections	19
United States	20
Europe	
Developing Countries	
Risk and Protective Factors for Campylobacter Infection	
Risk Factors	

Protective Factors for Campylobacter Infection	26
Outbreaks	27
Surveillance in the United States	28
Clinical Laboratory Diagnostic Methods	29
Transport Media	30
Non-culture Methods	31
Culture Methods	31
American Society for Microbiology Guidelines	34
Prevention of Campylobacter Infections	35
Public Health Implications	37
Possible Explanations for Geographic Variation in Campylobacter Incidence	38
Surveillance Artifacts	39
True Differences in Incidence Rates	43
Seasonal Variation in Campylobacter Incidence	47
Seasonal Variation in Exposure to Campylobacter	47
Temperature-Dependence of Campylobacter Incidence	50
Summary	53
References	54
Tables and Figures	76
CHAPTER 3. DISSERTATION OBJECTIVES	78
CHAPTER 4: DO DIFFERENCES IN RISK FACTORS OR HEALTH CARE USE	
EXPLAIN THE GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN CAMPYLOBACTERIOSIS IN	
THE FOODNET SITES ?	79

Abstract	79
Introduction	79
Methods	81
FoodNet	81
Case-Control Study of Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis	82
Differences in Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis	83
Population Surveys of Diarrheal Disease and Healthcare Use	85
Differences in Health Care Utilization and Stool Sample Submission	86
Results	88
Differences in Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis	88
Differences in Health Care Utilization and Stool Sample Submission	89
Discussion	89
References	96
Tables and Figures	100
CHAPTER 5: IS THERE GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN CLINICAL	
LABORATORY PRACTICES FOR THE DETECTION OF CAMPYLOBACTER I	N
THE FOODNET SITES?	105
Abstract	105
Introduction	105
Methods	107
FoodNet	107
Survey Data	107
Statistical Analysis	108

Results	. 111
Survey Data	. 111
Statistical Analysis	. 112
Discussion	. 113
References	. 118
Tables and Figures	. 121
Appendix 5A. Additional Analyses	. 128
Frequency of laboratory characteristics by FoodNet site	. 128
Laboratory profile analyses	. 130
Tables and Figures	. 132
Appendix 5B. Rationale for Use of Salmonella Data	. 135
Isolating the Impact of Laboratory Practices	. 135
Tables and Figures	. 138
CHAPTER 6: WHAT IS THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN RAINFALL AND	
TEMPERATURE AND CAMPYLOBACTER INFECTIONS IN THE FOODNET	
SITES FROM 1996-2006?	. 141
Abstract	. 141
Introduction	. 141
Methods	. 143
Data Sources	. 143
Data Analysis	. 144
Results	. 148
Discussion	. 151

References	
Tables and Figures	
Appendix 6A:Distributed Lags	
CHAPTER 7: DO DIFFERENCES IN RISK FACTORS E	XPLAIN THE SEASONAL
VARIATION IN CAMPYLOBACTERIOSIS?	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	
Statistical Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
Tables and Figures	
CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSION	
Conclusion	
Future Directions	
References	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1 Association of exposures with campylobacteriosis, stratified by FoodNet
site
Table 4.2 Frequency of case characteristics and consequences of infection, by FoodNet
site, 1998 FoodNet case-control study of risk factors for
campylobacteriosis
Table 4.3 Association between FoodNet site and seeking care or being asked to submit a
stool sample for testing, among those who reported an acute diarrheal episode
with duration of three or more days during the previous one month or four
weeks
Table 5.1 Frequency and rate of testing of stool specimens at clinical laboratories in the
2004 FoodNet Campylobacter laboratory survey
Table 5.2 Number of laboratories, Campylobacter detection rate median and
interquartile range, and Poisson regression model results
Table 5.3 Poisson multivariate regression model results
Table 5.4 Poisson interaction model including FoodNet site and transport media use
type, adjusted for number of stools tested in 2004126
Table 5A.1 Frequency of laboratory practices and characteristics by FoodNet site 132
Table 5A.2 Frequency of laboratory profiles and Poisson model results showing the
association of the laboratory profile with the Campylobacter detection
rate
Table 5B.1 Average rates of campylobacteriosis and salmonellosis by FoodNet site and

correlation between campylobacteriosis and salmonellosis rates by

	county	38
Table 6.1	Weights assigned to minimum temperature on each day prior to specimen	
	collection date during possible exposure period 1	62
Table 6.2	Association between climatic factors during a priori specified lag periods and	d
	the probability of the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of	
	campylobacteriosis 1	62
Table 6.3	Association between climatic factors during a priori specified lag periods and	d
	the probability of the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of	
	campylobacteriosis 1	63
Table 6.4	Multivariate Model: Association between climatic factors during a priori	
	specified lag periods and the probability of the occurrence of a culture-	
	confirmed case of campylobacteriosis 1	64
Table 6A	.1 Minimum temperature distributed lag, all FoodNet sites 1	76
Table 6A	.2 Minimum temperature distributed lag, adjusted for day of year effects and	
	extreme precipitation, by FoodNet site	77
Table 6A	.3 Extreme precipitation distributed lag, all FoodNet sites	78
Table 7.1	. Association of risk factors with campylobacteriosis, stratified by season 1	92

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Map of FoodNet sites as of 2006
Figure 2.2 The American Society for Microbiology (ASM) recommendations for the
isolation and identification of typical thermotolerant Campylobacter species
(e.g., <i>C. jejuni</i> and <i>C. coli</i>) from a stool specimen
Figure 2.3 Burden of illness pyramid
Figure 4.1 Proportion of controls reporting exposure, by FoodNet site
Figure 5.1 ASM recommended procedures for the detection of <i>Campylobacter</i> from
stool
Figure 5A.1 Rate Ratios and associated 95% confidence intervals of laboratory
profiles134
Figure 5B.1 Scatter plots of average rates of campylobacteriosis by average rates of
salmonellosis for each county, select FoodNet sites 1996-2006139
Figure 6.1 Average weekly rates of campylobacteriosis (adjusted for FoodNet site and
year) and temperature, FoodNet sites 1996-2006
Figure 6.2 Average weekly rates of campylobacteriosis (adjusted for FoodNet site and
year) and precipitation, FoodNet sites 1996-2006170
Figure 6.3 Rate ratios (adjusted for calendar year and changing FoodNet site and
comparing the rate of campylobacteriosis for a given week compared to the
rate in the 51st week) of campylobacteriosis by age group and week
Figure 7.1 Number of cases of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis by week and
season

Figure 7.2. Proportion of controls reporting exposure to risk factor, by season, for risk	
factors with a prevalence of exposure that varied significantly by	

season

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Campylobacter infections are the most common cause of bacterial gastrointestinal illness in the industrialized world and are a leading cause of bacterial foodborne illness in the United States (U.S.), where approximately 2 million people are infected annually.¹ Although outbreaks of *Campylobacter* infection can occur, infections in humans are usually sporadic² and person-to-person transmission is limited. Identified risk factors for Campylobacter infection include consumption of chicken, unpasteurized milk, and untreated water.^{1, 3-6} as well as exposure to dogs, cats or poultry, working or living on a farm, and foreign travel.^{1,4,6} In many industrialized countries the epidemiology of *Campylobacter* infections shows a bimodal age distribution, with increases in incidence in children less than one and in individuals between 20-35 years of age.^{1,4} Strong seasonal variation in incidence is notable as well, with peak incidence often observed during the summer months.^{2, 3, 7 8-10} While most infections are selflimited, the symptoms of campylobacteriosis typically include diarrhea, fever, abdominal cramps, and muscle pain.¹¹ Furthermore, long-term sequelae, such as Guillan-Barré syndrome and reactive arthritis, can develop in $\sim 1\%$ of patients. In the U.S., the annual economic cost of campylobacteriosis related to days of work lost, medical visits, and death has been estimated at 0.6 - 1.0 billion.¹²

As campylobacteriosis is not a nationally notifiable disease in the U.S., and reporting requirements vary widely from state to state, information on the incidence of this disease is obtained from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet). FoodNet began in 1996 in 5 sites and has grown to include 10 sites as of 2008. In addition to performing active surveillance for culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections, FoodNet has conducted a number of targeted studies to better understand the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis. Since the beginning of FoodNet, regional variation in *Campylobacter* incidence has been consistently observed. The average annual incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections from 1996-2006 ranged from 7/100,000 in both Maryland and Tennessee to 34/100,000 in California.¹³ Reasons for this geographic variation are unclear. While differences in surveillance artifacts (health care access, stool culture submission, and clinical laboratory testing) may be a cause of geographic variation, it is also possible that there are true regional differences in the risk for infection.

The goals of my dissertation are to examine factors that may be related to regional and seasonal variation in *Campylobacter* incidence among FoodNet sites, given the constraints of data collected for public health surveillance and detection purposes.

CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND

Campylobacter Microbiology

First identified as a *vibrio*-like cause of a illness in humans in the 1950s,¹⁴ *Campylobacter* had been known to cause abortions and infertility in cattle and sheep and diarrhea in pigs and other animals for a number of years. With the advent of new laboratory techniques such as selective media and filtration, the importance of *Campylobacter* as a source of human illness came to light only in the late 1970s.^{6, 15}

Members of *Campylobacteraceae* family include not only *Campylobacter*, but also the genus *Acrobacter* and the species *Bacteroides ureolyticus*, and are related to the *Helicobacter* genus.¹⁶ These bacteria are similar morphologically to *Vibrio* and were first thought to be a novel *Vibrio* species. *Campylobacter* are spiral-shaped, flagellated, Gram-negative, bacterial rods that exhibit a darting motility. They are *microaerophilic* (requiring lower than atmospheric levels of oxygen) and many, particularly those responsible for human illness, are *thermophilic* (thriving at 37° - 42° Celsius), making them well-adapted to the intestinal tract of mammals and birds. Both the specific environmental conditions necessary for the growth of these bacteria and their fragility were partially responsible for the delay in the isolation of *Campylobacter* in the laboratory.

There have been over a dozen species of *Campylobacter* identified thus far, and with the development of more sensitive laboratory assays, new species are still being observed and categorized. While most species are causative agents of gastrointestinal disease, some species of *Campylobacter*, including *C. gracilis*, *C. concisus*, *C. curvus*,¹⁷ *C. rectus* and *C. showae*,¹⁸ have been associated with periodontal infections in humans.

Several species, such as *C. fetus*, are more often found in immunocompromised hosts.¹⁹ Furthermore, a number of species have so far only been found in animal hosts and have yet to be associated with disease in humans. However, the clinical laboratory methods used in many areas currently favor particularly thermophilic *Campylobacter* species, such as *C. jejuni*, *C. coli* and *C. lari*.²⁰

While it has been estimated that over ninety-percent of the gastrointestinal disease caused by *Campylobacter* is a result of infections of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*, as laboratory methods for the isolation of *Campylobacter* are further refined, other *Campylobacter* species may become recognized as important causes of human illness. For example, co-infections of *C. coli* and *C. jejuni*, as well as infections with *C. upsaliensis, C. hyointestinalis*, and *C. lari*, have recently been identified in patients with diarrhea.²¹ Newly identified *Campylobacter* species, such as *C. hominus*, found in the stools of healthy individuals,²² and *C. lanienae*, isolated from healthy workers at a poultry abbattoir,²³ have also just been recognized. A better understanding of the impact of laboratory methods on the selection of certain *Campylobacter* species over others is needed. The majority of the following discussion of *Campylobacter*, unless specifically stated, deals primarily with *C. jejuni*, and to some extent *C. coli*.

Even within distinct species of *Campylobacter*, particularly within *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (those most widely studied), there can be great strain-to-strain variation as is evidenced by genetic and phenotypic differences.²⁴ These bacteria have the ability to acquire and exchange genetic material through a number of mechanisms, resulting in an ever increasing array of different strains. Unlike other bacteria, such as *Salmonella*, for which the serotype often provides some indication of the potential source of infection,

Campylobacter serotypes are not a good marker for host-specificity or virulence. Therefore, a more refined genetic fingerprint of the bacteria has been needed.²⁵ Much of the work identifying various *Campylobacter* species, and specific genetic strains of *Campylobacter* within each species, has benefited from the development of new molecular subtyping techniques. Methods used to type *Campylobacter* include amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP), multi-locus sequence typing (MLST) and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), though new methods are also being developed.²⁶ Studies using these methods have allowed comparisons between strains found in various animal, environmental, and human sources and provide a better understanding of how various types of *Campylobacter* are dispersed through the environment, and ultimately the specific strains that are associated with human illness.^{25,27-29} These "attribution" studies (which are able to associate human cases with specific environmental or animal sources due to the genetic similarity of the *Campylobacter* strains), have been conducted in a number of countries.

Survival Mechanisms

Given the stringent growth requirements necessary for *Campylobacter* to survive, these bacteria have developed a number of survival mechanisms that allow longer persistence in the environment. A number of bacteria, including *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella*, and *Vibrio*, and it has been suggested for *Campylobacter* as well, exhibit the ability to enter a viable but non-culturable state (VNC).³⁰⁻³³ Microorganisms in a VNC state are metabolically active but undetectable using laboratory culture methods. The role that the VNC form has in the development of clinical infections is still undetermined. Baffone et al. (2006) were able to show that clinically relevant *Campylobacter* strains which were artificially induced to transform into a VNC state maintained the ability to return to a culturable state once ingested by mice.³⁴ However, other studies have shown no return to a virulent or infectious state.^{35, 36} Verhoeff-Bakkenes et al. (2007) recently showed that *Campylobacter* organisms in a VNC state lacked the ability to adhere or invade cells in culture suspensions.³⁷ Thus, it remains questionable as to the importance of this form of the bacteria in the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis. Further evidence that *Campylobacter* in the VNC state can result in infections may suggest a new mechanism for the role of water in *Campylobacter* transmission. DNA-based assays have identified *Campylobacter* in samples of drinking and recreational waters even though cultures were negative.³⁸

An additional survival mechanism of *Campylobacter* is their ability to develop biofilms, aggregates of bacteria enclosed in an extracellular matrix that acts to protect the interior cells.³⁹⁻⁴¹ Joshua and colleagues (2006) demonstrated that a number of *Campylobacter* strains, when placed in an aqueous solution, were able to form biofilms.⁴⁰ The development of these biofilms has been shown to enable bacterial populations to survive environmental stressors that individual bacteria are thought to be susceptible to.

Reservoirs

Campylobacter can replicate in a number of animal species and Campylobacteriosis is considered a zoonotic disease. While *Campylobacter* is not known to replicate in various non-animal environments, it can persist in them using the survival mechanisms discussed earlier. This has important implications for human infections and therefore both animal and environmental reservoirs will be considered.

Animal Reservoirs

Campylobacter are well-suited to grow in the intestinal tract of many mammals and birds. Animal reservoirs of *Campylobacter* include, but are not limited to, poultry, wild birds, cattle, pigs, and domestic pets.^{1, 42-44} Certain species of *Campylobacter* show greater affinity for specific animal species. An important implication for human *Campylobacter* infections is that domestic animals, such as cats and dogs, carry Campylobacter. Younger animals tend to shed higher amounts of Campylobacter than their elder counterparts and are more likely to develop symptomatic infections.^{1, 45-47} C. upsaliensis is most often isolated from cats and dogs, while C. jejuni and C. coli also found less frequently.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ Livestock animals such as cattle, sheep, and pigs are also important hosts for a number of *Campylobacter* species.^{51, 52} Infections with *C. jejuni* and C. coli in many of these animals are asymptomatic, although younger animals, such as calves, may show symptoms such as diarrhea.⁵¹ Manure from these animals has been found to contain varying amounts of Campylobacter.^{50, 52} C. fetus fetus, C. fetus veneralis, and to some extent C. jejuni, infections in cattle and sheep can lead to abortive loss.⁵¹

Poultry are one of the most important reservoirs of *Campylobacter*, particularly of *C. jejuni*. These bacteria reside in the intestinal tract (jejunum, ileum, and cecum)⁵³ of poultry and are excreted in their feces. As with the other animals discussed above, chicks are more likely than hens to be symptomatic when infected with

Campylobacter.⁵¹ Birds are particularly suited to carry *Campylobacter*, and these bacteria can also be found in a number of migratory birds species, as well as geese, ducks, and pigeons.⁵⁴ The importance of migratory bird carriage of *Campylobacter* for human infections remains unclear, although as molecular typing becomes more widespread, additional studies will likely consider their importance. Browman et al. (2004) compared genetic profiles of *Campylobacter* isolates from various migratory birds to those from human cases and found very few matches between the subtypes.⁵⁴ Additionally, while *Campylobacter* was linked in England to contamination of milk because of bird-pecked milk bottles, the reduction in this form of milk delivery has probably limited the contamination of milk by wild birds (though contamination of unpasteurized milk is still a source of infections).

Environmental Reservoirs

Given its restrictive growth requirements, *Campylobacter* is not thought to multiply in food or the environment. Persistence of *Campylobacter* in the environment is possible, however, and therefore human infection associated with exposure to certain environmental conditions is feasible. Contamination of the natural environment with *Campylobacter* is likely due to the shedding of the bacteria from infected animals. Lakes, ponds, streams, and estuaries have all been shown to harbor various concentrations of *Campylobacter*.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ The likelihood of these aquatic environments to harbor *Campylobacter* is related to their proximity to livestock and poultry areas,⁵⁶ although *Campylobacter* can be deposited by migratory birds as well.

A number of mechanisms facilitate the survival of *Campylobacter* in water have been described, including the formation of VNC forms and biofilms, as discussed previously. Lehtola et al. (2006) showed that, when direct culture was used, *Campylobacter* could be detected in a water sample one day after it was spiked with Campylobacter but not thereafter. When fluorescent in-situ hybridization was used, the bacteria were found up to 3 weeks later (1 week later in biofilms).⁵⁸ Cools et al. (2005) showed that the survivability of *Campylobacter* in water at 4^o Celsius depended on the strain of *Campylobacter* studied.⁵⁹ They found that strains of poultry-origin survived longer (1-2 months) than those of water or human origin (~ 1 month). Another mechanism employed by *Campylobacter* to persist in water is internalization by invertebrates. Studies have shown that certain species of protozoa internalize *Campylobacter*, allowing the bacteria to be protected from environmental stressors,⁶⁰ and that *Campylobacter* can be engulfed by, and replicate within, amoebae.⁶¹ Interestingly, novel enrichment techniques have been developed which capitalize on this feature of *Campylobacter*.⁶²

Although *Campylobacter* are susceptible to desiccation, they have the ability to survive in animal manure. Studies of pathogen survival in manure have found that they can last for up to 63 days in dairy cattle slurry.⁵⁰ Once the manure is spread on soil, bacterial populations can persist for up to a month, although the type of soil may impact their ability to survive.⁶³ *Campylobacter* has also been identified in soil from sandy beaches and was found in samples of both wet and dry sand.⁶⁴

Campylobacter on Food

Given the growth requirements and environmental sensitivity of *Campylobacter*, it is somewhat surprising that cases of illness are so often associated with consumption of contaminated food. The particular growth restrictions of *Campylobacter* with regard to atmospheric conditions and temperature prohibit these bacteria from readily growing outside their animal hosts; *Campylobacter* do not readily grow in food.⁶⁵ Cooking and pasteurization create temperatures too high for *Campylobacter* to survive, so these processes tend to eliminate *Campylobacter* in food products. Furthermore, these bacteria are also sensitive to desiccation⁶⁶ and ultraviolet light,⁶⁷ as well as to osmotic stress and low pH,⁶⁵ making survival in some foods less likely.

Poultry

Handling and consumption of (often undercooked) poultry is one of the main risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection.^{1, 68} The mechanisms through which poultry are initially infected with *Campylobacter* remain unclear. Studies have shown that the likelihood of vertical transmission, from hens to chicks, of *Campylobacter* is low.⁶⁹ Therefore, the most likely route of contamination of poultry flocks is environmental. There is substantial variation both in the flock prevalence of *Campylobacter* (the percentage of flocks that have detected at least one infected bird), the within-flock prevalence (percentage of chickens within a flock that have *Campylobacter*) and the quantity of *Campylobacter* on poultry as it moves through the processing plant. In the U.S., flock prevalence among broiler chickens (chickens raised for meat as opposed for eggs) can range from 0-100%, depending on the flock being surveyed.⁷⁰ Despite high

prevalence of colonization in most U.S. flocks, studies have found several flocks that remain *Campylobacter*-free all the way to the poultry slaughtering houses (abbatoirs).⁷¹ During processing, *Campylobacter* can be released from poultry intestines due to fecal spillage, leading to contamination of other parts of the carcass. The occurrence and concentration of Campylobacter on carcasses have been shown to vary throughout poultry processing. A 2007 study in the U.S. showed that the occurrence of Campylobacter ranged from 92% on "pre-scald" carcasses to 100% on "pre-chill" carcasses to 52% on "post-chill" carcasses.⁷² While various processing steps have been shown to decrease the concentration of *Campylobacter* on carcasses, certain strains of *C*. *jejuni* are more resistant to these steps than others.⁷¹ Furthermore, while carcass processing tends to reduce the overall load of *Campylobacter* on poultry, contamination of the processing equipment can occur; this may cause previously *Campylobacter*-free carcasses to actually become contaminated during processing.⁷¹ The likelihood of crosscontamination from environmental surfaces to previously-clean carcasses seems to decrease with time, however.⁷³ Cools et al. (2005) showed that 120 minutes after a heavily contaminated flock of poultry was processed, the equipment surfaces were no longer contaminated.⁷³ Still, given the speed at which birds are processed, this may lead to a great number of newly-contaminated carcasses. Importantly, Campylobacter have been detected both on the outside and the inside of the poultry meat.^{74, 75,76} Therefore, measures to reduce the burden of *Campylobacter* on poultry must not only consider environmental contamination during processing, but prevention of infection while poultry are still living.

Quantitative surveys of *Campylobacter* on chicken from grocery stores have shown the occurrence of the bacteria on retail chicken meat is high. A 2001 study in the Washington, D.C. metro area showed that 71% of chicken samples (and 90% of stores) tested had detectable levels of *Campylobacter*.⁷⁷ *Campylobacter* was also detected on turkey, beef and pork products although the occurrence was much lower. The National Antibiotics Resistance Monitoring System (NARMS), in collaboration with the Center for Veterinary Medicine at the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, has been conducting microbiological surveys of retail meat samples from a number of counties and states over the past few years. The data from 2004 (most recent available) shows that the occurrence of *Campylobacter* bacteria on chicken breasts was 60%, compared to <2% each for turkey, ground beef and pork, the other meat types surveyed.⁷⁸

Milk

Unpasteurized milk has been shown to harbor a number of pathogenic bacteria, including *Campylobacter*. The importance of unpasteurized milk as a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection was recognized in the late 1970s -- 1980s when a number of outbreaks of gastroenteritis were linked to unpasteurized milk contaminated with *Campylobacter*.⁷⁹⁻⁸² Cattle are reservoirs for a number of *Campylobacter* species. *Campylobacter* are commensal bacteria in cattle intestinal tracts but can also result in infection of the udder. Cattle excrete *Campylobacter* in their feces.²⁸ Contamination of milk can occur via contact with these feces,⁸² and also through shedding of the organism directly into the milk if a cow has mastitis caused by *Campylobacter*.^{83, 84} Some strains of *Campylobacter* have been shown to persist in raw milk for at least two weeks.⁸⁵

Because pasteurization is effective at killing *Campylobacter* in milk,⁷⁹ the epidemiologic importance of milk as a vehicle has lessened over time with the decreases in the commercial sale of unpasteurized milk. However, there are individuals that prefer raw milk for various reasons, including taste and a belief that it is more beneficial nutritionally.⁸⁶ Additionally, dairy farm workers may also be more likely to drink unpasteurized milk.⁸⁷ These individuals continue to be at increased risk of infection, although the development of clinical illness will likely depend on their immunity to *Campylobacter*.

Drinking Water

Contaminated drinking water has been associated with a number of large outbreaks of *Campylobacter* infections in various communities. Depending on the source of the drinking water, contamination can occur through two main mechanisms. Surface water may become contaminated with feces from animals and birds that harbor *Campylobacter* through run-off and the use of water sources by waterfowl such as geese and ducks. Studies have detected *Campylobacter* in surface water sources such as streams, ponds and lakes.^{48, 55, 57, 88} The mechanism by which treated drinking water becomes contaminated with *Campylobacter* is somewhat unclear, however disruptions in water treatment and leakage of sewage into the water supply have been documented to occur prior to *Campylobacter* outbreaks.⁸⁹⁻⁹¹ Additionally, the use of surface water for drinking water has been implicated as a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infections. *Campylobacter* in water is highly susceptible to photooxidative damage as a result of UV exposure via sunlight.^{67, 92} As noted previously, the development of the VNC form

and biofilms, as well as localization within amoeba and other protozoa in water sources, greatly increases the viability of *Campylobacter*, though the impact of these characteristics on the risk of human illness remains unclear.⁵⁸ *Campylobacter* doenot readily multiply in water, although Tatchou-Nyamsi-Konig et al. (2007) showed that they could grow in natural mineral water when it contained organic material.⁹³

Cross-contamination of Food

Cutting boards have been shown to harbor *Campylobacter* for more than two hours⁷³ and may serve to transfer *Campylobacter* to other food products that come into contact with the contaminated surface. DeBoer et al. (1990) showed that cutting boards previously used for raw chicken and then used to cut other products, such as vegetables and *Campylobacter*-free chicken, could transfer the bacteria to these other types of food.⁹⁴ Luber et al. (2006) found that knives, plates, and food preparer hands that touch naturally contaminated chicken pieces have also become contaminated after contact as well, with transfers of bacteria from raw chicken pieces to other items (plates, other foods) ranging from 0.3% to 28%, on average.⁹⁵

Clinical Features

Transmission of thermophilic *Campylobacter* species (*C. jejuni* and *C. coli*), those which are most often linked to human illness, to humans is predominantly through the foodborne route.⁹⁶ The effects of infection with *Campylobacter* can range from simple asymptomatic carriage to paralysis. Infections in adults often appear similar to those of other foodborne infections such as salmonellosis, thus making empiric diagnosis of a *Campylobacter* infection difficult. Studies of the infectious dose of

Campylobacter are limited by ethical and immunological issues as well as by the lack of an appropriate animal model. The most widely cited figure is that from Black et al. (1988) who conducted a human-challenge trial and found that doses as low as 500 *Campylobacter* organisms were able to cause illness.⁹⁷ Based on this study, the median infectious dose (the number of organisms required to cause illness or infection in 50% of exposed hosts), was estimated to be approximately 800 bacteria.⁹⁸ A more recent study using mathematical models and outbreak data suggest that even fewer organisms could cause illness, although it is important to consider individual host immunity to *Campylobacter*.⁹⁹ Once enough bacteria have been consumed to cause illness, a fever prodrome develops approximately 3 days (range 18 hours to 8 days) after ingestion.^{100,} ¹⁰¹ The types of symptoms that develop depends on a number of factors, including the strain of *Campylobacter*, immune response to infection, and other patient characteristics. In most persons, the infection is acute and self-limited. Fever, cramps, malaise, and diarrhea, which in some cases (reported in $15\%^{100}$ to $45\%^{1}$) can be bloody, are often present.^{11, 101} Vomiting occurs in approximately 15% of cases.¹⁰⁰ In the majority of cases, the period of illness is about a week in length.¹⁰⁰ Relapses do occur in approximately 15-25% of cases.^{11, 100}

Extraintestinal infections can arise. Although the abdominal pain that patients experience during *Campylobacter* infections has often been mistaken for appendicitis ("pseudo-appendicitis"), *Campylobacter* has also been isolated from removed appendixes in approximately 2% of cases.¹⁰⁰ Other infected individuals have developed bacteremia, hepatitis, pancreatitis, rashes, urinary tract infections and myocarditis as a result of infection, although these conditions occur rarely.¹⁰⁰ The majority of patients (~

90%) are not hospitalized,¹⁰² and mortality associated with infection is low and tends to be limited to those who are elderly or have comorbidities. *Campylobacter* infection in children and neonates is somewhat different from those in adults. Diarrhea tends to be more bloody, and infections can be mistaken for intussusception.¹⁰⁰

Long-term sequelae of *Campylobacter* infection, notably reactive arthritis, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), as well as Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS) and other related neuropathies, also exist. Reactive arthritis (ReA), a swelling of the joints of the ankles, knees, and elbows,¹⁰⁰ has been estimated to occur in 1-5% of individuals stricken with *Campylobacter*,¹⁰³ although this proportion increases to over 10% in populations with a greater predominance of the Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) type B27.¹⁰⁰ ReA usually develops a month after the initial *Campylobacter* infection.¹⁰³ The incidence of *Campylobacter*-associated reactive arthritis has been estimated to be 4.3 per 100,000.¹⁰³ *C. jejuni, C. coli, C. lari* have all been associated with ReA.¹⁰³

GBS is an acute malfunctioning of peripheral nerves due to an autoimmune reaction to a previous acute bacterial infection that causes demyelization of peripheral nerves. The disease is self-limiting, but an afflicted individual is ill for at least 3-4 weeks.¹⁰⁴ Miller-Fisher syndrome (MFS) is related to GBS and involves malfunctions of ocular nerves, uncoordinated movements, and deterioration of typical reflexive movements. Other neurological conditions, such as Bickerstaff brainstem encephalitis (BBE), and acute oropharyngeal palsy are related to GBS and MFS and also thought to be linked to previous infection with *Campylobacter jejuni*.¹⁰⁵ GBS is the most common form of acute flaccid paralysis in the world, with *Campylobacter* considered the leading bacterial cause.^{104, 106} Campylobacteriosis precedes GBS by approximately 1-3 weeks.¹⁰¹ In the U.S., there are approximately 1-2 cases of GBS per 100,000 persons annually.¹⁰⁷ GBS is thought to occur as a result of previous *C. jejuni* infection, and is less strongly linked to earlier infection with other species of *Campylobacter*.¹⁰⁸ Antibodies to the lipooligosaccharide protein in the *C. jejuni* cell wall cross-react with human nerve ganglioside proteins because of the similarity in their molecular structures.^{109, 110} Depending on the population studied and antibody detection method used, an estimated 25--80% of cases of GBS are attributable to previous infection with *C. jejuni*.^{111, 112}

Antibiotic Resistance

Though most infections with *Campylobacter* are self-limited, antibiotic treatment may be helpful in some circumstances. Antibiotic treatment in the U.S. includes fluoroquinolones and macrolides (used mainly in children).^{68, 113, 114} Antibiotic resistance among *Campylobacter* isolates has been observed in a number of countries, including the U.S.^{68, 115} Given that campylobacteriosis is a zoonotic disease, the use of antimicrobial agents in food animals (particularly poultry) has important consequences for human infections.^{113, 116} Not only do antimicrobial-resistant infections pose a risk because of treatment failures, but duration and severity of illness have been shown to increase in those with resistant infections.^{117, 118}

In the U.S., the National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System (NARMS) was established in 1997 to monitor antimicrobial resistance, including fluoroquinolone resistance, among *Campylobacter*. Fluoroquinolones were approved for use in human medicine in the mid-1980s. A study of human *Campylobacter* infections in Minnesota in 1992 showed little fluoroquinolone-resistance (1.2% of isolates tested) among humans

C. jejuni isolates.^{114, 119} Approval for fluoroquinolone use in animal medicine was granted in the mid-1990s, after which a rapid increase in fluoroquinolone-resistant human *Campylobacter* infections was observed.¹¹⁴ As a result of this increase in resistant infections in humans and studies that show the harmful health effects of these infections, the Food and Drug Administration proposed a rule banning the use of fluoroquinolones in poultry in 2000. This rule was finalized and approved in 2005.⁷⁸ NARMS data are not yet available to determine whether there has been a corresponding decrease in fluoroquinolone-resistant infections in humans after the ban was instituted.

Immunity

Whether or not an individual develops symptomatic illness as a result of infection with *Campylobacter* is partially mediated by his/her immune response, although this process has not yet been fully elucidated. It is currently understood that both the humoral and the cellular compoentns of the immune system are important, although the humoral immune response has been studied more fully than the cellular. Initially, within approximately ten days of infection, serum immunoglobulin (Ig) A and IgM antibodies rise rapidly, and then subsequently decrease over the following weeks.^{120, 121} IgA antibodies remain detectable for approximately one to three weeks.^{121, 122} The IgM response may be influenced by the age of the individual, as younger individuals have been to show to have a significantly greater IgM response than older individuals, possibly due to an increased immunologic memory response in older individuals.¹²⁰ IgG antibodies also rise early in infection (generally within 20 days of infection¹²³) and remain at high levels for weeks to months, and even years.^{120, 121, 123}

This wide range in IgG persistence is likely a combination of the true variation in IgG responses between individuals and an artifact of varying study lengths.^{120,122-124} In some persons, IgG antibodies have been found to increase, rather than decrease, over time, perhaps due to subsequent exposure to *Campylobacter*.¹²⁴ In others, antibody titers did not increase appreciably after infection, though this could be due to the use of inappropriate methods to detect the antibody response for a particular individual.^{120,123}

The specificity of immunity to a given strain or serotype of *Campylobacter* may also be important. Miller et al. (2005) examined infection rates of the specific serotypes of *Campylobacter* strains by age group, and compared the ratio of "uncommon" to "common" serotypes.¹²⁵ The common serotypes were the three serotypes which accounted for over 50% of the cases in the study. Older age groups, they found, were more likely to be infected with "uncommon" serotypes as opposed to younger age groups. The authors suggested that immunity may be the reason for this change in serotype distribution, as well as for the lower incidence in older ages.

Epidemiology of Campylobacter Infections

In many industrialized countries, including the U.S., the epidemiology of *Campylobacter* infections shows a bimodal age distribution, with increased in incidence in children under one year of age and in individuals between 15-44 years of age.^{4, 126-128} The incidence of *Campylobacter* infections tend to be slightly higher in males, although the reasons for this gender distribution are unclear.^{47, 129} Additionally, a seasonal periodicity in infections is notable, with an increased incidence generally observed in summer.^{2, 3, 7} Geographical patterns, such as a higher incidence in rural areas have also

been observed.⁴ In less industrialized countries, *Campylobacter* infections are more endemic, leading to a different pattern of incidence. Individuals in these countries are generally infected in childhood and although re-infected later in life, these later infections tend to be asymptomatic.¹³⁰

United States

Although *Campylobacter* receives perhaps less attention than other foodborne bacteria such as Salmonella and E. coli O157, in the U.S. the annual number of cases of *Campylobacter* has often been greater than those of *Salmonella or E. coli* O157.¹³¹ The earliest reported incidence of *Campylobacter* infections in the U.S., obtained in 1983, was approximately 5 cases per 100,000 persons.⁴⁷ As campylobacteriosis is not a nationally notifiable disease in the U.S., and reporting requirements vary widely from state to state, information on the incidence of this disease is obtained from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet). Since the beginning of FoodNet, regional variation in *Campylobacter* incidence has been consistently observed. The average annual incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections from 1996-2006 ranged from 7/100,000 in both Maryland and Tennessee to 34/100,000 in California.¹³ The incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections in the FoodNet sites in 2006 was 12.3 per 100,000,¹³¹ and has declined by approximately 30% since 1996-1998.¹³¹ Furthermore, for every age group, the incidence of *Campylobacter* infections in males is higher than in females, and seasonal variation in incidence, with higher incidence during the summer, is often observed.¹³²

Europe

The epidemiology of campylobacteriosis in European countries is similar to that of the U.S. with regard to the peak incidence rates in the very young and moderately aged, as well as the seasonal periodicity in incidence.^{10, 133} The majority of the European Union countries who participated in a survey during 2001 reported having a surveillance system established for human *Campylobacter* infections.¹³⁴ A number of studies have been conducted in Europe on "attribution," linking specific reservoirs of *Campylobacter* infections to human infections by using genetic sequencing techniques.^{27, 135, 136} Keller and colleagues (2007) compared genetic profiles creating using AFLP of Campylobacter isolates from a number of environmental, animal, and human sources in Switzerland.²⁷ They found that the human isolates clustered together and 43% matched other human isolates, 27% matched poultry isolates, 21% matched pet isolates (dog and cat), and 9% matched bovine isolates. A number of human isolates did not match any other patterns in the database, however, and the authors attributed these to travel-associated disease. In the Netherlands, *Campylobacter* risk assessment and attribution studies has occurred under the auspices of the on-going CARMA (Campylobacter Risk Management and Assessment) project. Numerous projects that use mathematical models to better examine the risks from various exposures and determine appropriate areas for intervention are being conducted (see CARMA website: http://www.rivm.nl/carma/).¹³⁷

Developing Countries

The epidemiology of *Campylobacter* infections in developing countries is somewhat different from that in industrialized countries. While the age distribution in
industrialized countries is bimodal, in developing countries the second peak in adults is often not seen. Many studies in developing countries have shown that as age increases, there is a decrease in the illness-to-infection ratio associated with *Campylobacter*, suggesting that even though an individual becomes infected with the bacteria, s/he is less likely to become symptomatic.¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸ Blaser et al. (1985) found that Bangladeshi children in every age group from less than one year of age to 15 years of age had higher levels of IgA, IgM, and IgG than a sample of children from the U.S. Additionally, these Bangladeshi children were less likely to have symptomatic illness.¹³⁸ Other evidence seems to indicate that the severity of illness may be inversely related to the level of humoral immunity.¹³⁹ Interestingly, *Campylobacter* serotype and subtype distributions have also been shown to differ between developing and industrialized countries.¹³⁹

Risk and Protective Factors for Campylobacter Infection

Case-control studies have been conducted in various countries and populations to better understand the etiology of *Campylobacter* infections in humans. A number of risk factors have been consistently identified in these studies, as well as some protective factors.

Risk Factors

Risk factors for campylobacteriosis can be thought of as foodborne or environmental. Foodborne risk factors for campylobacteriosis include, but are not limited to, consumption of raw or undercooked chicken, unpasteurized milk, and untreated water.^{1, 3-6} Environmental risk factors for campylobacteriosis include exposure to dogs, cats or poultry, working or living on a farm or in a rural area, and foreign travel.^{1,4,6}

Given that the reservoirs of *Campylobacter* include poultry and cattle, it is not surprising that consumption of the meat or products of these animals are risk factors for infection with Campylobacter. Consumption of unpasteurized milk has been identified as a risk factor for infection with *Campylobacter* in a number of studies ^{1,43,140-142} The proportion of cases in the population attributable to unpasteurized milk consumption is generally low, due to the low frequency of exposure, and was estimated to be 2% in the in the FoodNet population.¹ The effect of milk consumption might be modified by geographic residence and age, however. A study in Scotland in the mid-1980s showed a different age distribution of cases of Campylobacter among urban and rural inhabitants. While both showed a peak in incidence in children, a second peak in older ages was only seen in the urban inhabitants. The authors suggested that acquired immunity due to greater consumption of raw milk in rural areas was thought to be the cause of this difference.¹⁴³ Indeed, individuals who worked on dairy farms were shown to have an increased IgG and complement-fixing antibodies compared to those who did not, and the farm workers were also more likely to have asymptomatic infections.^{140, 144} Furthermore, although the number of sporadic cases in the population attributed to raw milk consumption is somewhat low, large outbreaks have been associated with contamination of unpasteurized milk.¹⁴⁵

Consumption of contaminated poultry products is also a large risk factor and accounts for anywhere from $5\%^{44}$ - $25\%^{1}$ of cases, depending on the method of preparation and population studied. Eating undercooked chicken has been identified as a

risk factor for infection with *Campylobacter* in a number of studies.^{1, 43, 141, 142, 146-150} A few studies have not found consumption per se to be a risk factor, but rather the handling of the raw poultry meat (that may lead to cross-contamination of other food products).^{151, 152} Differences in risks associated with various preparations of chicken have also been found, notably an increased risk with chicken cooked over a grill or barbecued.^{46, 153} In some studies, consumption of chicken at home is more likely to lead to infection and in others, consumption of chicken at a restaurant poses a greater risk.¹⁵⁴ A study published in 2009 from England suggests that the risks from chicken consumption are greater among individuals who do not "habitually" eat chicken as compared to those who are habitual chicken-eaters. Additionally, eating chicken outside of the home was found to be a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection, but the risk was greater for non-habitual chicken eaters as compared to habitual chicken eaters.¹⁵⁵ Furthermore, some difference in risk appears to depend on whether the chicken was previously frozen or not, with fresh, unfrozen chicken associated with a higher risk of illness.^{43, 147, 156} Freezing practices can contribute to differences in pathogen load on chicken because freezing results in a 2-log reduction in *Campylobacter*.¹⁵⁷ In one study in Denmark, eating fresh chicken was consistently found to increase the risk of *Campylobacter* infection whereas eating frozen chicken was only borderline significant.¹⁵⁶ Consumption of poultry was also identified as a risk factor for fluoroquinilone-resistant Campylobacter infections in the U.S.¹⁵⁸

Drinking untreated water or well water has been associated with *Campylobacter* infections as well.^{1,46,141,142,150,159,160} Environmental samples have identified *C. jejuni* in surface waters,¹⁶¹ although *Campylobacter* tends to be confined to areas close to

farms with animals that had *Campylobacter*. Nevertheless, given the high prevalence of infection in many farm animals, the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in the environment could be substantial. The risk of *Campylobacter* infection due to the consumption of drinking water may be modified by other factors, however. One study found a significant interaction between private versus public drinking water and county, suggesting that perhaps different water treatment practices or distance from the water treatment plant could play a role.⁴ Additionally, although a number of waterborne outbreaks of *Campylobacter* infection have occurred, drinking water is less often associated with sporadic cases of *Campylobacter* infection.

Contact with animals, including domestic cats and dogs and farm animals, have been identified as risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection.^{1, 43, 46, 141, 142, 146, 149, 150, 159, 160, ^{162, 163} Exposure to cats and dogs (especially ill ones) has been frequently associated with *Campylobacter* infections, although the population attributable fraction for this exposure has been calculated to be somewhat low, with an estimate of about 5% in the FoodNet population.¹ Farm animal contact is also an important exposure. In one particular study, contact with poultry was seen to increase risk by over eleven-fold,⁴³ and a study in rural Michigan found that the risk among poultry workers was six-times that of individuals who worked in other occupations.¹⁶³ In addition, poultry, cows and sheep are also known to harbor *Campylobacter*.⁴⁸ Studies have shown that similar Penner serotypes of *Campylobacter* can be found in humans and bovine sources.⁴⁸ Foreign travel has been linked to infection with *Campylobacter*,^{142, 159} and most case-control studies exclude travel-associated cases from further analysis.}

Several other exposures were found to be significantly associated with *Campylobacter* infection or increased incidence in only a few studies. These included: consumption of salad vegetables;¹⁴⁹ consumption of bottled water;¹⁴⁹ ingestion of H2, H2 antagonists, and omeprazole;^{164, 165} swimming in a natural water source;¹⁶⁶ increased amount of rainfall;¹⁶⁷ increased density of ruminants;¹⁶⁸ living in an areas with low population density;⁴ and distance from the water treatment plant.¹⁶⁸ Although some risk factors are consistent across age groups, a recent FoodNet case-control study limited to infants (≤ 2 years of age) identified some novel risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection in this age group. These included drinking concentrated formula, eating fruits and vegetables prepared at home, and riding in a shopping cart next to meat or poultry.¹⁵⁹

Protective Factors for Campylobacter Infection

Females and breastfed infants have repeatedly been shown to have a decreased risk of *Campylobacter* infection. Studies of surveillance data from a number of countries have shown the incidence of *Campylobacter* infections to be greater among males than females.^{169, 170} Case-control studies have also shown females to be at lower risk of *Campylobacter* infection.¹ The reasons for this finding are still somewhat unclear. One study found young adult males are more likely to practice improper cooking practices, and thus they might be at a higher risk for infection with *Campylobacter* than females.¹⁷¹ This difference in behaviors still would not explain the greater incidence in males at every age, however.¹³² A recent study used a mouse model of *Campylobacter* infection to compare differences in illness between sexes, and found male mice to be more likely to be infected and shed greater amounts of *Campylobacter* than female mice.¹⁷² Another

possibility is that there are immunological differences between sexes that modify the development of symptomatic versus asymptomatic infection after exposure to *Campylobacter*.¹⁷³ Lending credence to the importance of immunity in protection against infection against *Campylobacter* is the finding from a number of studies that breast-feeding is a protective factor for *Campylobacter* infection in infants.^{159, 174, 175}

Some exposures found to be risk factors in various studies were found to have protective effects in others. For example, in one British study, farm animal contact was found to be a protective factor for *Campylobacter* infections.¹⁶⁰ The authors argued that this finding might suggest an increased immunity among those with greater frequency of farm animal contact. In the same study, handling of raw chicken was also found to be a protective factor for *Campylobacter* infections.¹⁶⁰ Again, the authors suggested that this finding might be due to an increased immunity among those who often handle raw chicken.

Outbreaks

Although many of the causes of *Campylobacter* outbreaks have also been identified as risk factors for sporadic infection in case-control studies (that generally exclude outbreak-associated cases), the population attributable fractions tend to be relatively low (<10%). When they have been identified, community outbreaks of campylobacteriosis have been linked to contaminated or untreated water,^{90, 176-181} contaminated unpasteurized milk,^{182, 183} and undercooked poultry.¹⁸⁴⁻¹⁸⁶ Large waterborne outbreaks of *Campylobacter* associated with mass contamination of municipal water supplies have occurred,⁹¹ and many of these outbreaks included infections with other pathogens such as *E. coli* and norovirus.^{89, 90} Environmental investigations suggested that in these instances there was contamination of municipal drinking water with sewage,⁸⁹ or with bird feces.⁹¹

Surveillance in the United States

Surveillance for *Campylobacter* infections began in the U.S. in 1982 with the implementation of a surveillance system through the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Electronic reporting of *Campylobacter* cases to CDC began in 1988 with the implementation of the Public Health Laboratory Information System, or PHLIS.¹⁸⁷ However, these reporting systems are passive, and reporting requirements vary widely from state to state and the disease is not nationally notifiable, so many states do not report cases. In 1973, CDC also developed a surveillance system to track foodborne disease outbreaks (two or more cases with similar symptoms due to consumption of a common food vehicle) whatever the cause.¹⁸⁸ While this system is nation-wide, the number of reports varies by state and a number of factors, including the etiologic agent, number of people affected, severity of illness, and how geographically dispersed the cases are. All of these factors affect whether an outbreak is identified or reported.

Since 1996, with the advent of the Foodborne Diseases Surveillance System (FoodNet), surveillance for culture-confirmed cases of *Campylobacter* improved through the use of active surveillance in select states and counties in the U.S. The surveillance area for FoodNet has increased steadily from its inception in 1996, which

included all or select counties in 5 states^{*} (14,273,094 people, 5 % of the U.S. population), to 2006 when it included all or select counties in 10 states[†] (45.5 million people, 15 % of the U.S. population) (Figure 2.1). Through the use of active, laboratory-based, population surveillance for culture-confirmed infections, FoodNet is able to monitor the trends and burden of illness caused by *Campylobacter*.

The ascertainment of a case of laboratory-confirmed *Campylobacter* in FoodNet surveillance data depends on a number of factors. Initially an individual must become infected with *Campylobacter*, a process that depends on both the exposure pathway and dose of *Campylobacter* to which an individual exposed, in addition to whether the individual has some level of immunity to infection. Once a person has developed symptomatic illness, there are factors that modify whether this illness will eventually be captured as a culture-confirmed case in FoodNet surveillance data. These include whether the individual is sufficiently ill and has the means to seek medical care, whether the physician s/he sees requests a stool culture. whether the patient complies with the request and returns with a stool sample, and how well clinical laboratory tests the stool specimen for *Campylobacter*.

Clinical Laboratory Diagnostic Methods

The isolation and detection of *Campylobacter* in a clinical specimen is a complex process. A number of laboratory procedures need to be used to limit competing

^{*} select counties in California, Connecticut, and Georgia and the states of Minnesota and Oregon

[†] select counties in California, Colorado, Maryland, and New York and the states of Connecticut, Georgia,

Minnesota, New Mexico, Oregon and Tennessee

microflora and to create an environment conducive to the growth of *Campylobacter*. Additionally, while most methods are better at isolating the thermophilic *Campylobacter* species that cause most diagnosed human disease (*C. jejuni* and *C. coli*), different methods may be required to detect the other more unusual species (i.e., *C. upsaliensis*). The general process involves transport of the specimen from the physician or hospital to the clinical laboratory, followed by identification using either culture- or other detection methods.

Transport Media

Once a stool specimen or rectal swab has been obtained from a patient, it often requires transport to a clinical laboratory. If the transport time of the specimen from the patient to the clinical laboratory is greater than 2 hours, the use of transport media is recommended.¹⁸⁹ A number of types of transport media are available, including Cary-Blair, Amies, Stuarts, Culturette, buffered glycol, and Campy-thio. They are all not equally effective at preserving *Campylobacter* organisms during transportation.^{190, 191} The length of time in which *C. jejuni* survives in transport media was evaluated and shown to be less than 7 days for Culturette or buffered glycerol, but greater than 7 days for Cary-Blair.¹⁹⁰ Even though transport media is meant to preserve bacteria, storage in transport media for too long can result in the bacteria entering a viable but non-culturable state (VNC), or simply dying. If this occurs, there is decreased sensitivity of the culture-based techniques used subsequently to detect *Campylobacter*.⁶⁹ Storage of *Campylobacter* in the transport media is preferable if the specimen is not processed immediately. A few limited studies showed that *Campylobacter* will not persist for a

long time in storage media held at room temperature, but holding the sample in transport media at 4° Celsius will enable the bacteria to survive.^{189, 192}

Non-culture Methods

Once received by the clinical diagnostic laboratory, stool specimens can be tested for the presence of *Campylobacter* through culture or non-culture methods. Non-culture methods detect *Campylobacter* DNA or surface proteins on *Campylobacter* and include techniques such as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and enzyme immunoassay (EIAs). They can be more sensitive than culture-methods for detecting *Campylobacter* in specimens with fewer numbers of organisms or for identifying bacteria that has already entered the VNC state or died.^{69, 193} However, some species of *Campylobacter* (such as *C. upsaliensis*) may not be detected using non-culture methods.¹⁹⁴ Still, a number of studies have reported non-culture methods to be at least as good as culture-based techniques.¹⁹⁴⁻¹⁹⁶ However, these methods do not permit subtyping or antimicrobial resistance determination.

Culture Methods

Culture-based methods rely on detecting living bacteria in a stool or other clinical sample. Thus, proper transportation of the stool samples must occur in order for the bacteria to still be viable at the time the culture is conducted. Stool samples may undergo an enrichment procedure or be directly plated onto a culture plate. Enrichment is recommended if: 1) the *Campylobacter* in the specimen are thought to have been environmentally stressed, 2) the samples were delayed in transport to the clinical laboratory, or 3) when the number of organisms in the sample is likely to be low (such as food or environmental samples, and samples from convalescent patients).^{197, 198} Studies have shown the use of enrichment prior to culture may increase detection rates by approximately 25% -50%.¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰¹

Whether enrichment broth is used or not, the next step in bacterial culture is to plate the specimen on culture media. The media can be either "selective" or "non-selective" for *Campylobacter* organisms. *Campylobacter* selective media contain combinations of chemicals or antibiotics that prohibit the growth of other bacteria and fungi that could obfuscate the presence of *Campylobacter*.⁸⁴ If non-selective media are used, an additional method, such as filtration, is often used to remove the competing microorganisms from the stool specimen.

Types of selective media include charcoal-cefoperazone-deoxycholate agar (CCDA), charcoal-based selective medium (CSM), Skirrow medium, Campy CVA medium (containing cefoperazone, vancomycin, and amphotericin B), Campy BAP (blood agar plates that contain Blaser agar or Campy agar with 5 antimicrobial agents), or Blood-free Campy selective agar (CAT). In laboratory studies, charcoal-containing media (i.e., CCDA, CSM, CAT) were found to be of superior quality to blood-containing media (i.e., Skirrow media) or other types, mainly because they provided better inhibition of competing microflora.^{189, 202-206} Among charcoal-based media, CAT was found to isolate more unusual species of *Campylobacter*, such as *C. upsaliensis*, than media such as CCDA.^{207, 208} Certain antimicrobial agents included in formations of selective media have been found to be deleterious to specific *Campylobacter* species, a finding which some have suggested explains the observed predominance of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* in humans specimens.²⁰⁹

32

If selective media are not used, a filtration technique is employed to remove contaminants before plating the specimen on non-selective agar. *Campylobacter* bacteria are smaller in cross section than many other bacteria, allow them to be able to pass through filters of various sizes (0.45 µm, 0.65 µm pore sizes) while larger organisms are retained.¹⁹⁷ Results of studies comparing the isolation efficacy of membrane filtration to selective media are mixed. While some found 10-60% increases in isolation of *Campylobacter* with the use of filtration compared to selective media alone,^{210, 211} others showed no difference,²¹² or a worse performance. In general, however, filtration is recommended in order to detect the non-*C. jejuni* and non-*C. coli* species of *Campylobacter* that are not favored when selective media are used.

After a procedure to remove competing microorganisms has been completed, the culture plate is incubated in an atmosphere and temperature appropriate to encourage the growth of *Campylobacter jejuni/coli*. It is necessary to create a microaerobic environment of 5% oxygen, 10% carbon dioxide, and 85% nitrogen.^{213, 214} Various methods are available to create this atmospheric environment, including candle jars or commercial kits, that have varying degrees of effectiveness. As the atmosphere created by a candle jar (a jar in which a lit candle is used to modify the atmosphere), is 17% oxygen and 3% carbon dioxide,¹⁹⁰ these are sub-optimal for creating the appropriate microaerobic environment to grow *Campylobacter*. Some studies found that adding hydrogen gas to the usual microaerobic environment increases the likelihood of finding species such as *C. upsaliensis*, *C. lari*, and *C. concisus*.¹⁹¹

Most *Campylobacter* organisms grow at temperatures ranging from 37 to 42 ° Celsius. Many laboratory studies have found that incubating culture plates at 42 °C is effective to isolate thermophilic *Campylobacter* species.^{210, 215-217} Richardson et al. (1982), however, found that bacterial colonies were larger at 42 °C, but not more numerous.²¹⁸ Scates et al. (2003) also showed that there was no difference between the number of *C. jejuni* isolates obtained when plates were incubated at 37 and 42 °C, but the strains of *C. jejuni* that grew differed by temperature. The authors suggest that plates should be incubated at both 37 and 42 degrees to isolate the maximum number of genotypes of *C. jejuni*.²¹⁹ There does appear to be a modification of the effect of temperature by the manner in which atmospheric conditions are created. Wang et al. (1982) showed that a temperature of 42 °C was satisfactory to isolate *Campylobacter* from candle jars whereas 37 °C was not effective;¹⁹⁰ this finding was replicated in another study as well.²²⁰

The length of time during which plates are held in appropriate temperature and atmospheric conditions is also important. Culture plates are generally left in these conditions for up to 48 hours and occasionally exceeding 72 hours. Allowing plates to incubate for longer periods of time may increase the likelihood of detecting *Campylobacter* bacteria when they are present. Endtz and colleagues showed that increasing the incubation time from 48 to 72 hours led to increased isolation of *Campylobacter* for all of the media examined.²⁰⁵

American Society for Microbiology Guidelines

While conflicting results have been found about the relative importance of some of these methods, guidelines for clinical laboratory practices for *Campylobacter* detection have been established. The American Society for Microbiology (ASM)

recommends the following procedures for the isolation and identification of typical thermotolerant *Campylobacter* species (e.g., *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*) from a stool specimen (depicted in Figure 2.2): use of transport media (such as Cary-Blair) if the specimen transport time ≥ 2 hours; storage of samples at 4 °C (in transport media) once the specimen has arrived at the clinical lab if it will not be processed immediately; incubation of culture plates at 5% O₂, 10% CO₂, 85% N₂ using a method other than a candle jar to create these conditions; growth on selective media such as Campy-CVA or CCDA, and incubation at 42° Celsius for at least 48 hours.¹⁸⁹

Prevention of Campylobacter Infections

A number of countries with particularly high incidence of *Campylobacter* infections have instituted strict control measures on the most likely and significant vehicles of *Campylobacter* infection -- poultry. In 2001, for example, the Danish poultry broiler industry began participation in a voluntary control program that tests every chicken flock for the presence of *Campylobacter*. Beginning in 2003, flocks that were found to be *Campylobacter*-free were slaughtered and could be sold as fresh chicken meat. Flocks that had detectable levels of *Campylobacter* wee slaughtered either in different plants from the *Campylobacter*-free flocks or at different times in the same slaughtering plants, and the meat from these flocks was sold as frozen meat to the Danish public.²²¹ Consumers often prefer to purchase "fresh" chicken as opposed to frozen, and often the price for fresh chicken is higher than for frozen. The association of these control measures with decreased incidence of *Campylobacter* in Denmark has been dramatic. Since the program began in 2001, a 20% decrease in *Campylobacter* incidence

was observed by 2003.¹⁵⁶ Whether or not this program will effectively control the *Campylobacter* problem in this country is debatable, however, given the recent increases in the importation of poultry meat.²²²

Other countries have implemented control measures at various stages from farm to dinner table for *Salmonella* and *E. coli* O157. In the U.S., efforts by the poultry industry and regulators to control bacterial contamination of meat products may have contributed to the overall decrease of 30% in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infections observed in the FoodNet sites from 1996-1998 to 2006.¹³¹ In 1996, the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Food Safety Inspection Service (FSIS) began implementation of the *Pathogen Reduction: Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point System* (HACCP).

This program required that meat and poultry plants increase efforts to sanitize plants, conduct microbiological testing for *Salmonella* and *E. coli* O157, implement quality controls, and create standards to help meet the performance standards for the amount of *Salmonella* allowed on meat products.^{223, 224} Although these measures are aimed at *Salmonella* and *E. coli* O157, they may also result in a decrease of *Campylobacter* contamination.

As case-control studies have identified risk factors for infection with *Campylobacter*, these can then be used to target prevention efforts. In order to prevent infection with *Campylobacter*, the CDC recommends ensuring that poultry is cooked properly and that proper kitchen hygiene practices are implemented in order to reduce the cross-contamination of other foods with raw chicken meat or juices. Additional recommendations include avoiding consumption of unpasteurized milk or untreated

surface water and being sure to wash hands after contact with a young cat or dog, particularly one with diarrhea.²²⁵

Public Health Implications

The public health impact of *Campylobacter* infections is great. While most infections are self-limited, the symptoms of campylobacteriosiscan include diarrhea, fever, and muscle pain,¹¹ and long term sequelae can develop. The economic cost of campylobacteriosis related to days of work lost, medical visits, and death has been estimated at an annual \$0.6 - \$1.0 billion in the U.S.¹² The annual cost of Campylobacter-associated Guillain-Barré Syndrome has been estimated at \$0.2 - \$1.8 billion.¹⁰⁶ In the U.S., data from FoodNet was used to establish national goals for a 50% reduction in the 1996 incidence of *Campylobacter* infections by 2010, a "Healthy People" 2010 objective of 12.3 cases per 100,000 persons.²²⁶ In 2006, FoodNet reported an average annual incidence of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infections of 12.7 per 100,000 persons, a 30% decline from the 1996-1998 baseline comparison, but still slightly above the Healthy People 2010 objective.¹³¹ Furthermore, there is a need to better explain and understand the geographic variation observed in incidence in the FoodNet sites as well as the seasonal periodicity in incidence. The international geographic variation observed may indicate surveillance artifacts or true differences in risk. If it is the former, the interpretation of surveillance data can be adjusted to account for these artifacts. If it is the latter, then these risk differences indicate that risk is not fixed, but may be modified by policy or procedural changes in higher risk areas.

Possible Explanations for Geographic Variation in Campylobacter Incidence

Despite a decline in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infections in the U.S.,¹³¹ there continue to be unexplained and consistent regional differences in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection in the FoodNet sites. For example, in 2006, the incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infection in select counties in California was 27 per 100,000, a rate close to five times that of the incidence in Maryland (6.3 per 100,000).¹³¹ A sustained pattern of increased incidence in California and much lower incidence rates in sites such as Maryland, Tennessee and Georgia has been observed since the beginning of FoodNet surveillance for *Campylobacter*.²²⁷

Reasons for the observed site-to-site differences are unclear. One possible explanation is "surveillance artifacts", that is site-to-site variation in the likelihood with which a case will be diagnosed and reported (medical care-seeking behavior, stool sample submission frequency, or clinical laboratory practices). The active surveillance process of FoodNet with periodic laboratory audits means that all microbiologically diagnosed cases are captured, whether or not they reporting is required. To assess the degree to which cases go unreported because of surveillance artifacts, FoodNet conducts cross-sectional telephone surveys of residents of the FoodNet catchment area to assess health-seeking behaviors (FoodNet Population Survey) and surveys clinical laboratories serving the FoodNet catchment area to document laboratory practices.

Alternately, these differences in incidence could be due to true geographical differences in risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection or in the likelihood of exposure to these factors. FoodNet conducts case-control studies of infections under surveillance,

and a case-control study of *Campylobacter* infection was conducted in FoodNet sites during 1998-1999. A useful conceptual framework for assessing the mechanism by which a case of campylobacteriosis in the community may be detected by public health surveillance is the burden of illness pyramid (Figure 2.3). Disparities at any level of the pyramid, whether they are from differential surveillance for infections (surveillance artifacts) or from true differences in risk, could be responsible for an observed variation in incidence of laboratory-confirmed infections.

Surveillance Artifacts

Surveillance artifacts are factors that impact whether a case of *Campylobacter* infection is captured by public health surveillance. Examples of surveillance artifacts include increased awareness of a specific disease on the part of physicians, changes in diagnostic procedures, and improvements in disease screening. For *Campylobacter* infections, relevant surveillance artifacts could be whether an individual seeks medical care for his/her illness, whether the physician decides to obtain a stool culture to test for the presence of *Campylobacter*, and whether the clinical laboratory conducts the appropriate diagnostic tests. Various studies conducted as part of the FoodNet surveillance program allow for some estimation of the magnitude of these effects and the number of cases of campylobacteriosis that are essentially lost at each step in the pyramid. Using studies such as the FoodNet Population Survey and previous surveys of clinical laboratories, Samuel et al. (2004) were able to estimate that there were 34 cases in the community for every one case of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* that was captured in FoodNet surveillance.¹

Variation in Health Care Utilization

A number of studies in a variety of disciplines have identified factors that influence health care access and utilization. Individual characteristics that have been shown to impact health care utilization include race, residence in a rural as opposed to an urban environment,²²⁸ extremes of age,²²⁹ and health insurance coverage.^{230, 231} Previous studies within the FoodNet population have found that, in general, approximately 20% of individuals who experience an acute diarrheal illness (defined as >3 loose stools in a 24 hours period) seek healthcare.²³² These studies also identified certain characteristics among individuals with diarrhea that are associated with seeking medical care: the presence of bloody diarrhea, duration of diarrhea for more than three days, being less than 5 or over 65 years of age, having medical insurance, and having a household income of less than \$25,000.²²⁹

Variation in Stool Sample Submissions

The importance of obtaining stool cultures to determine the etiology of diarrhea was stressed in the 1999 Infectious Diseases Society of America guidelines for infectious diarrhea.²³³ The authors emphasized that having knowledge of the causative agent of diarrhea is beneficial for a number of reasons. While some individuals will benefit from the use of correct antibiotics, such as those with an infection resistant to some antimicrobials, other infections may benefit from a lack of antimicrobial use. Studies of E. *coli* O157 infected patients suggest that those who receive antibiotic treatment could be at an increased risk of developing severe complications such as Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome (HUS).²³⁴ Additionally, evidence of an etiologic agent is also important for public health surveillance and outbreak detection; having an etiologic

agent identified increases the chance of linking cases to each other and to the potential source of infection or outbreak.²³³

Among individuals within the FoodNet population, surveyed from 2000-2003, who sought care for an acute diarrheal illness, the proportion that reported submitting a stool specimen was 21%.²³² A survey of physicians serving the FoodNet population was conducted in 1996. The proportion of physicians who reported asking for a stool specimen from patients with acute diarrhea was 44%.²³⁵ The large difference between the estimates from the patients and the physicians was thought to be due to recall bias, wherein the physicians were more likely to remember the patients from whom they requested a stool specimen. In surveying physicians, the factors associated with the request of stool specimen from a patient were found to be presence of HIV infection, occurrence of blood in stool, duration of diarrhea for longer than 3 days, and international travel.²³⁵

Variation in Clinical Laboratory Practices

All clinical laboratories in the FoodNet surveillance area reported that they routinely culture stools samples for *Campylobacter*.²³⁶ However, as discussed previously, multiple steps are involved in the detection and identification of *Campylobacter* organisms from a clinical specimen. Variation at any of these steps could change the likelihood of finding *Campylobacter* or favor the growth of one species of *Campylobacter* over another. Although all of the clinical diagnostic laboratories in the FoodNet catchment area have been shown to routinely culture stool specimens for *Campylobacter* bacteria,²³⁶ the methods used by these laboratories may vary.

An ongoing study in the FoodNet sites is designed to better describe the types of methods routinely used in clinical laboratories to detect *Campylobacter* from a stool specimen. Few studies of this nature have been conducted; however, preliminary data suggest that differences do exist.²³⁷ A study conducted in 2003 in Los Angeles County found the methods used by the laboratories in this county were varied.²³⁸ Studies of clinical laboratory practices in other countries, however, have shown little variation. The European Centers for Disease Control (ECDC) conducted a survey of the clinical laboratories serving the ECDC countries. They found the methods used by the laboratories were similar among the countries, but the proportion of samples that tested positive varied. The main factor associated with an increased proportion of positive tests was that the laboratory routinely tested all stool specimens for *Campylobacter*.¹³⁴ A survey of clinical laboratories in New Zealand was conducted in 1992-1993 to determine if there were regional differences in laboratory techniques and whether changes in detection methods could account for the recent increase in *Campylobacter* incidence in New Zealand. No meaningful differences in laboratory isolation techniques were identified, and the few changes that had occurred within the last 5 years could not account for the recent increase in incidence.²³⁹

Confirmed Case Reported to Public Health Authorities

Once an individual has been identified to be infected with *Campylobacter*, this information should be relayed to public health authorities and appropriate action taken. However, since *Campylobacter* is not a nationally notifiable disease, differences in the relay of this information among states certainly could exist. Nevertheless, within the FoodNet catchment area, any resident who has a culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infection should be included in the active surveillance data.²⁴⁰ Personnel in FoodNet sites perform annual audits of clinical laboratories that serve their surveillance area to ensure that all cases are captured in the surveillance. Reviews of these audits have shown that FoodNet surveillance captures at least 95% of all culture-confirmed cases in all sites.²⁴⁰

True Differences in Incidence Rates

While surveillance artifacts might be one reason for the differences in *Campylobacter* incidence observed in the FoodNet sites, another is that there may be true differences in the risk of infection between the sites. This variation in risk could be the result of a number of factors. Differing occurrence or concentration of *Campylobacter* in foods or water known, different behaviors by individuals in the populations of each site that put them at higher or lower risk of exposure or infection, or differences in immunity which modify the effect of the risk on the development of clinical disease may all be important.

Variation in Exposure to Campylobacter

The likelihood of an individual coming into contact with *Campylobacter* may not be the same across all FoodNet sites. The amount of *Campylobacter* on various food items has been shown to vary. For example, the amount of *Campylobacter* on poultry products may be higher in California than other FoodNet sites, and this variation could have a substantial impact on *Campylobacter* incidence given that poultry is considered a major source of *Campylobacter* infection in the U.S.^{1, 2, 159} A survey of retail meat samples in the FoodNet sites in 2003 showed that all sites had *C. jejuni* detected on over 90% of chicken samples surveyed.²⁴¹ Ongoing studies in the FoodNet sites are aimed at identifying whether the concentration of *Campylobacter* on retail chicken meat varies significantly by FoodNet site.

Variation in freezing practices of poultry meat may also be important, as consumption of fresh (unfrozen) chicken has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection than consumption of frozen meat,⁴³ and levels of *Campylobacter* on poultry decrease when meat is frozen.²⁴² Notably, in 1993, California instituted a unique state–specific regulation that states "No person who processes, butchers, slaughters, packs, repacks, or sells poultry or poultry meat shall advertise, hold out, distribute, or sell as 'fresh' any poultry or poultry meat whose internal temperature has been below 26 degrees Fahrenheit."²⁴³ As other states do not have similar regulations, it is possible that poultry sold as "fresh" in those states has been at least transiently frozen. Furthermore, countries that have seen an increase in the consumption of "fresh", previously unfrozen, chicken have noticed a rise in *Campylobacter* incidence as well.^{156, 244} Using molecular subtyping methods, Karenlampi et al. (2007) were able to show an increase in the amount of MLST subtypes associated with poultry during the same time that there was an increase in the consumption of fresh chicken in Finland.²⁴⁵

Another exposure that may vary geographically is the consumption of unpasteurized, or "raw", milk, also an important risk factor for *Campylobacter* infections. Interstate commerce of unpasteurized milk is illegal under a U.S. FDA code (Section §1240.61) entitled "Mandatory pasteurization for all milk and milk products in final package form intended for direct human consumption."²⁴⁶ However, individual states are allowed to regulate the sale of unpasteurized milk within their own states. State regulations for the sale of unpasteurized milk are varied. Two states in FoodNet (Maryland and Tennessee) have banned the sale of unpasteurized milk, others allow it only under specific conditions (Colorado, Georgia, Minnesota, and Oregon) and a few states allow the sale of raw milk (California, Connecticut, New Mexico, and New York). There appears to be an ecological association between milk regulations and disease risk. A study by Headrick et al. (1998) found that milk-borne outbreaks of disease, including campylobacteriosis (that accounted for the majority of outbreak cases), were more likely to occur in states where the sale of raw milk was legal.²⁴⁷ Thompson et al. (1986) also found a much higher incidence of *Campylobacter* infection among rural residents of certain Canadian provinces than among their urban counterparts. The authors contributed this higher incidence to the fact that the rural residents reported recent consumption of unpasteurized milk.¹⁶⁹

Proximity to farm animals and livestock or living on a farm have been shown to be a strong risk factors for *Campylobacter* infections. In a number of countries, the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection has been shown to be higher among individuals who live in a rural area compared to those who live in an urban area.^{169, 248} There are likely to be differences in the proportion of the population living in rural as opposed to urban areas within the FoodNet sites as well.²⁸

Not all case-control studies examined whether identified risk factors for *Campylobacter* show effect modification by geographic area. One Danish study, by Neimenn et al. (2003), did look at geographic modification of risk factors and found that they were modified by county of residence. Specifically, the risks due to consumption of

unpasteurized milk, and routine contact with cows, were much higher for one particular rural county compared to others being studied.⁴⁴

Other exposures that are known risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection, such as drinking untreated water from lakes, streams or ponds and having well water as a main source of drinking water, may vary geographically as well.

Variation in Immunity

Once an individual has been exposed to *Campylobacter*, whether s/he develops infection and then clinical illness depends upon his/her immune status. Previous exposure to *Campylobacter* could result in immunity such that clinical illness does not develop upon repeated exposure. It remains unclear whether immunity prevents colonization of the human gut by *Campylobacter* or whether it allows colonization but prevents symptoms from occurring (asymptomatic shedding). Furthermore, the specificity of the immunity is to a given strain or serotype may also be important.

In the U.S., the importance of immunological protection against clinical illness due to *Campylobacter* infection is somewhat unclear. A recent study by FoodNet showed that breastfeeding protected against illness from *Campylobacter* in infants less than six months of age, perhaps due to transfer of maternal antibodies.¹⁵⁹ The seroprevalence of antibodies to *Campylobacter* in the general U.S. population is mainly undetermined, although some data exist on small samples or specific subpopulations. A study by Belongia et al. (2003) showed that by 15-18 years of age, close to 90% of children residing on farms in Wisconsin tested positive for antibodies to *Campylobacter*, compared to 60% in children not living on farms.²⁴⁹ In a convenience sample of healthy controls in a study of GBS, the authors reported seroprevalences of 36% for anti-

Campylobacter IgA, 53% for IgG, and 55% for IgM.²⁵⁰ While no population-based figures exist for the seroprevalence in the U.S. population, a Danish study found that the seroprevalence of antibodies to *C. jejuni* ranged from 20%-32%, depending on age.²⁵¹ How seroprevalence might vary geographically in the U.S. is unknown.

Seasonal Variation in Campylobacter Incidence

The incidence of *Campylobacter* infections in the U.S. shows seasonal fluctuations, with higher incidence observed in summer months.^{2, 252} This seasonal pattern has remained consistent, despite a decrease in the overall incidence of *Campylobacter* infections since FoodNet surveillance began in 1996.²²⁷ Campylobacteriosis is not alone in its seasonal periodicity; many other food- and waterborne (i.e., salmonellosis and cholera), and respiratory infectious diseases (i.e., legionellosis, measles) exhibit seasonal patterns of incidence.²⁵³ Mechanisms leading to the observed seasonal periodicity of infectious disease are often multifaceted and poorly understood. Changes in environmental conditions that favor the survival, growth and spread of microbial pathogens, such as changing temperature or precipitation, have been postulated as causes of seasonality, as have changes in human behavior (for example, congregation of school children during the beginning of the school year, or increased outdoor recreational activities during warmer summer temperatures).^{253, 254}

Seasonal Variation in Exposure to Campylobacter

For *Campylobacter*, the reasons for seasonal periodicity in incidence are likely to be multifaceted. Some identified risk factors for campylobacteriosis, such as eating chicken from a backyard barbecue, and swimming in natural water, are likely to occur much more frequently in the summer. Additionally, it may be that more individuals are prone to travel internationally during the summer, another known risk factor for infection. Also, the occurrence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in food and the environment can also change throughout the year. For example, the proportion of poultry flocks that test positive for *Campylobacter*, and the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in natural surface water varies seasonally.^{3, 255}

A recent case-control study in Finland was the first to identify swimming in natural sources of water as a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection.¹⁶⁶ This risk factor may have only been identified because the case-control study was limited to the summer season (July 1st -- September 30th) when Finland experiences their highest incidence of campylobacteriosis and swimming is most common. Another case-control study conducted in Sweden found the proportion of individuals that reported various exposures, particularly eating meat that had been grilled or consuming water from a stream or a lake, was greater during the summer months.⁴⁶ Although the risks due to these exposures were found to be the same for each season, the population attributable fractions due to these exposures may vary due to an increase exposure during the summer.

The occurrence and strains of *Campylobacter* in food and environmental sources also has been shown to change seasonally. For example, the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in estuaries in coastal Georgia was shown to be higher in the summer months.⁵⁶ This increase in summer was positively associated with increased rainfall as well.Seasonal fluctuations in the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in poultry and lambs destined for slaughter have been observed.²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁸ A few studies that examined the genetic profiles of *Campylobacter* isolates found that some strains predominated during the summer peak in incidence as during the rest of the year. A 1999 study in New Zealand, where incidence also shows marked seasonality, found differences in the strains that were detected during winter months compared to summer months.²⁵⁹ A study in Scandinavia found similar results, with certain strains 16 times as likely to occur during summer months as compared to other strains of *Campylobacter*.¹³⁶ Whether these findings are the result of changes in human behavior, or other events, is still undetermined.

Because of these seasonal changes in the prevalence and strains of *Campylobacter* in food and environmental sources for *Campylobacter* infection, it is possible that the actual risks for infection and illness from exposures to these sources change seasonally as well. Effect modification by season of specific *Campylobacter* risk factors has been observed in a handful of case-control studies. A study conducted in Denmark by Neimann et al. (2003) found that certain risk factors, principally consumption of barbecued chicken, unpasteurized milk, and apples or pears, showed effect modification by season.⁴⁴ While barbecuing "in season" (June-October) was a strong significant risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection, barbecuing "off-season" (November-May) was found to be protective (although not statistically significant). Drinking unpasteurized milk "in-season" was protective, although not statistically significant risk factor for infection.

Temperature-Dependence of Campylobacter Incidence

The seasonal trend of campylobacteriosis in the U.S. appears to follow that of temperature in general, with higher incidence during June and July. A closer examination of the relationship between changes in temperature and *Campylobacter* incidence is needed. While studies have been conducted in a number of countries to better understand the temperature-dependence of *Campylobacter* incidence, no systematic studies have yet been conducted in the U.S.^{10, 260} With the continuing debate about the impact and potential causes of global warming, the importance of understanding climate and temperature effects on infectious disease incidence has increased. The relationship between temperature and campylobacteriosis is of interest, as it might shed light on the underlying ecological pathway from *Campylobacter* in the environment to human exposure and illness.

Weather conditions, such as temperature and precipitation, obviously change throughout the year. In particular, the temperature pattern in the U.S. is generally similar to that of the seasonal pattern of campylobacteriosis, with increases in both during the summer. The relationship between temperature and campylobacteriosis is likely to be complex, as there is little indication that ambient temperature directly impacts the ability of *Campylobacter* to survive and multiply in the environment (since most evidence indicates *Campylobacter* requires a human or animal host). Some investigators have suggested that, because many *Campylobacter* infections come from contaminated chicken, and there is seasonal variation in the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in broiler chicken,^{8, 255-257, 261} that the seasonality in human cases simply mirrors that observed in poultry. While a number of studies have observed seasonality in the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in broiler chicken flocks, one has found the seasonal peak in poultry to precede that in human cases.²⁵⁶ Two have found the peak in prevalence in animal sources to follow that of human cases.^{8, 255} These findings suggest that some "ecological driver" common to both poultry (and other livestock) and human infection may be the cause of this trend, rather than an increase in poultry contamination leading to an increase in human cases.²⁵⁵

One "ecological driver" put forth in a recent hypothesis by Nichols (2005).²⁶² as well as others, ²⁶³⁻²⁶⁵ is that flies are a large contributor to *Campylobacter* seasonality. Housefly (Musca domestica) development from larvae to adult is largely dependent on temperature, as well as moisture content.²⁶⁶ At warmer temperatures, housefly development can take days, while at lower temperatures can take weeks. Flies have been shown to become active above a threshold of 20 °C (68 ° F),²⁶⁷ and are most active in the northern hemisphere from May-October.²⁶⁴ Nichols showed that there was an association between an excess number of Campylobacter cases (> 170 per week) and shortened development time (< 3 weeks) of the housefly. A study in Iceland that looked at risk factors for *Campylobacter* contamination of boiler chickens similarly found a link between fly activity and poultry infection mediated by temperature.²⁶⁸ Furthermore, flies were shown to be an important contributor to *Campylobacter* colonization of broiler chickens in a study by Hald et al. (2007) that found that the addition of fly screens to open vent areas in broiler houses significantly reduced the colonization of broiler chickens by Campylobacter.²⁶⁹

A number of studies in other countries have specifically examined the relation between temperature, precipitation, or humidity on *Campylobacter* incidence. Some of these have controlled for the general seasonal trend in incidence,²⁶⁰ while others have tried to examine the more broad impact of temperature on the seasonal pattern.¹⁰ A Canadian study found a 2.2% increase in the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection for every 1° C increase in mean weekly temperature, with a lag of one week, once a threshold of -10° C (14° F) was reached.²⁷⁰ In the U.K., Tam et al. (2005) found a 5% increase in the average number of weekly reports of *Campylobacter* cases with every 1° C increase in mean temperature, given a lag of 6 weeks, up to a threshold of 14 °C (52° F).²⁶⁰ Given the length of the lag period and the importance of the threshold, the authors suggested that the effect of temperature on *Campylobacter* incidence is indirect and complex. Tam and coauthors choose to control for the effects of season by including Fourier terms (up to the 8th harmonic), as well as a variable indicating weeks that included public holidays, and splines to model both temperature and humidity. Kovats et al. (2005) compared the temperature trends of *Campylobacter* infection in a number of countries.¹⁰ They found that *Campylobacter* incidence peaks in the spring in most countries and that there was a weak association between temperature and the peak week of Campylobacter incidence.

Only one study thus far has examined the relationship between temperature and *Campylobacter* in the U.S. Naumova and colleagues (2006) conducted an analysis of six reportable enteric infections in Massachusetts using surveillance and temperature data from 1992-2001. They found that the maximum temperature during a given year and the maximum number of *Campylobacter* cases peaked at the same time.²⁷¹

Summary

In summary, reasons for the geographic and seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis in the United States remain unclear. The goal of this dissertation is to examine key factors that may explain the observed regional and seasonal variations in *Campylobacter* rates in the FoodNet sites, given the constraints of data collected for public health surveillance purposes.

References

1. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

2. Tauxe RV, Hargrett-Bean N, Patton CM, Wachsmuth IK. Campylobacter isolates in the United States, 1982-1986. MMWR CDC Surveill Summ 1988;37(2):1-13.

3. Eyles R, Niyogi D, Townsend C, Benwell G, Weinstein P. Spatial and temporal patterns of Campylobacter contamination underlying public health risk in the Taieri River, New Zealand. J Environ Qual 2003;32(5):1820-8.

4. Ethelberg S, Simonsen J, Gerner-Smidt P, Olsen KE, Molbak K. Spatial distribution and registry-based case-control analysis of Campylobacter infections in Denmark, 1991-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162(10):1008-15.

5. Kist M, Bereswill S. Campylobacter jejuni. Contrib Microbiol 2001;8:150-65.

6. Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. Br Med J 1977;2(6078):9-11.

7. Skirrow MB. Epidemiology of Campylobacter enteritis. Int J Food Microbiol 1991;12(1):9-16.

8. Patrick ME, Christiansen LE, Waino M, Ethelberg S, Madsen H, Wegener HC. Effects of climate on incidence of Campylobacter spp. in humans and prevalence in broiler flocks in Denmark. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70(12):7474-80.

9. Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, O'Brien SJ. The study of infectious intestinal disease in England: what risk factors for presentation to general practice tell us about potential for selection bias in case-control studies of reported cases of diarrhoea. Int J Epidemiol 2003;32(1):99-105.

10. Kovats RS, Edwards SJ, Charron D, Cowden J, D'Souza RM, Ebi KL, et al. Climate variability and campylobacter infection: an international study. Int J Biometeorol 2005;49(4):207-14.

11. U.S. FDA Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition (CFSAN). Bad Bug Book: Foodborne Pathogenic Microorganisms and Natural Toxins Handbook; 1992 May 21 2001.

12. Buzby JC, Roberts T. ERS updates US foodborne disease costs for seven pathogens: US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service; 1996.

13. Price LB, Roess A, Graham JP, Baqar S, Vailes R, Sheikh KA, et al. Neurologic Symptoms and Neuropathologic Antibodies in Poultry Workers Exposed to Campylobacter jejuni. J Occup Environ Med 2007;49(7):748-55.

14. King EO. Human infections with Vibrio fetus and a closely related vibrio. J Infect Dis 1957;101(2):119-28.

15. Butzler JP, Dekeyser P, Detrain M, Dehaen F. Related vibrio in stools. J Pediatr 1973;82(3):493-5.

16. Engberg J. Contributions to the epidemiology of Campylobacter infections. A review of clinical and microbiological studies. Dan Med Bull 2006;53(4):361-89.

17. Humphrey T, O'Brien S, Madsen M. Campylobacters as zoonotic pathogens: a food production perspective. [Review] [138 refs]. International Journal of Food Microbiology 2007;117(3):237-57.

18. Macuch PJ, Tanner AC. Campylobacter species in health, gingivitis, and periodontitis. J Dent Res 2000;79(2):785-92.

19. Woo PC, Leung KW, Tsoi HW, Wong SS, Teng JL, Yuen KY. Thermo-tolerant Campylobacter fetus bacteraemia identified by 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequencing: an emerging pathogen in immunocompromised patients. J Med Microbiol 2002;51(9):740-6.

20. Snelling WJ, Matsuda M, Moore JE, Dooley JS. Campylobacter jejuni. Lett Appl Microbiol 2005;41(4):297-302.

21. Lawson AJ, Logan JM, O'Neill G L, Desai M, Stanley J. Large-scale survey of Campylobacter species in human gastroenteritis by PCR and PCR-enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J Clin Microbiol 1999;37(12):3860-4.

22. Lawson AJ, On SL, Logan JM, Stanley J. Campylobacter hominis sp. nov., from the human gastrointestinal tract. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2001;51(Pt 2):651-60.

23. Logan JM, Burnens A, Linton D, Lawson AJ, Stanley J. Campylobacter lanienae sp. nov., a new species isolated from workers in an abattoir. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2000;50 Pt 2:865-72.

24. Wassenaar TM, Newell DG. Genotyping of Campylobacter spp. [Review] [98 refs]. Applied & Environmental Microbiology 2000;66(1):1-9.

25. Wieland B, Wittwer M, Regula G, Wassenaar TM, Burnens AP, Keller J, et al. Phenon cluster analysis as a method to investigate epidemiological relatedness between sources of Campylobacter jejuni. J Appl Microbiol 2006;100(2):316-24.

26. On SL, Podivinsky E, Thom K. A New, Portable and Cost-effective AFLP Genotyping System for the *Campylobacteraceae*\. In: 14th International Workshop on Campylobacter, Helicobater and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterdam, The Netherlands; 2007.

27. Keller J, Wieland B, Wittwer M, Stephan R, Perreten V. Distribution and genetic variability among Campylobacter spp. isolates from different animal species and humans in Switzerland. Zoonoses Public Health 2007;54(1):2-7.

28. Devane ML, Nicol C, Ball A, Klena JD, Scholes P, Hudson JA, et al. The occurrence of Campylobacter subtypes in environmental reservoirs and potential transmission routes. J Appl Microbiol 2005;98(4):980-90.

29. Rautelin H, Hanninen ML. Campylobacters: the most common bacterial enteropathogens in the Nordic countries. Ann Med 2000;32(7):440-5.

30. Rollins DM, Colwell RR. Viable but nonculturable stage of Campylobacter jejuni and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 1986;52(3):531-8.

31. Xu HS, Roberts N, Singleton FL, Atwell RW, Grimes DJ, Colwell RR. Survival and viability of nonculturable Escherichia coli and Vibrio cholerae in the estuarine and marine environment. Microb Ecol 1982;8:313-23.

32. Roszak DB, Grimes DJ, Colwell RR. Viable but non-recoverable stage of Salmonella enteritidis in aquatic systems. Can J Microbiol 1984;30:334-8.

33. Colwell RR, Brayton PR, Grimes DJ, Roszak DB, Huq SA, Palmer LM. Viable but Non-Culturable Vibrio cholerae and Related Pathogens in the Environment: Implications for Release of Genetically Engineered Microorganisms. Nat Biotech 1985;3(9):817-20.

34. Baffone W, Casaroli A, Citterio B, Pierfelici L, Campana R, Vittoria E, et al. Campylobacter jejuni loss of culturability in aqueous microcosms and ability to resuscitate in a mouse model. Int J Food Microbiol 2006;107(1):83-91.

35. Medema GJ, Schets FM, van de Giessen AW, Havelaar AH. Lack of colonization of 1 day old chicks by viable, non-culturable Campylobacter jejuni. J Appl Bacteriol 1992;72(6):512-6.

36. Beumer RR, de Vries J, Rombouts FM. Campylobacter jejuni non-culturable coccoid cells. Int J Food Microbiol 1992;15(1-2):153-63.

37. Verhoeff-Bakkenes L, Hazeleger WC, Zwietering MH, De Jonge R. Lack of response of INT-407 cells to the presence of non-culturable Campylobacter jejuni. Epidemiol Infect 2007:1-6.

38. Moore J, Caldwell P, Millar B. Molecular detection of Campylobacter spp. in drinking, recreational and environmental water supplies. Int J Hyg Environ Health 2001;204(2-3):185-9.

39. Reeser RJ, Medler RT, Billington SJ, Jost BH, Joens LA. Characterization of Campylobacter jejuni biofilms under defined growth conditions. Applied & Environmental Microbiology 2007;73(6):1908-13.

40. Joshua GW, Guthrie-Irons C, Karlyshev AV, Wren BW. Biofilm formation in Campylobacter jejuni. Microbiology 2006;152(Pt 2):387-96.

41. Sanders SQ, Boothe DH, Frank JF, Arnold JW. Culture and detection of Campylobacter jejuni within mixed microbial populations of biofilms on stainless steel. Journal of Food Protection 2007;70(6):1379-85.

42. Stern NJ. Reservoirs for *Campylobacter jejuni* and approaches for intervention in poultry. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser, M.J. and Thompkins, L.S., ed. *Campylobacter jejuni*: Current status and future trends. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 1992.

43. Studahl A, Andersson Y. Risk factors for indigenous campylobacter infection: a Swedish case-control study. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125(2):269-75.

44. Neimann J, Engberg J, Molbak K, Wegener HC. A case-control study of risk factors for sporadic campylobacter infections in Denmark. Epidemiol Infect 2003;130(3):353-66.

45. Blaser MJ, Cravens J, Powers BW, Laforce FM, Wang WL. Campylobacter enteritis associated with unpasteurized milk. Am J Med 1979;67(4):715-8.

46. Carrique-Mas J, Andersson Y, Hjertqvist M, Svensson A, Torner A, Giesecke J. Risk factors for domestic sporadic campylobacteriosis among young children in Sweden. Scand J Infect Dis 2005;37(2):101-10.

47. Deming MS, Tauxe RV, Blake PA, Dixon SE, Fowler BS, Jones TS, et al. Campylobacter enteritis at a university: transmission from eating chicken and from cats. Am J Epidemiol 1987;126(3):526-34.

48. Savill M, Hudson A, Devane M, Garrett N, Gilpin B, Ball A. Elucidation of potential transmission routes of Campylobacter in New Zealand. Water Sci Technol 2003;47(3):33-8.

49. Workman SN, Mathison GE, Lavoie MC. Pet dogs and chicken meat as reservoirs of Campylobacter spp. in Barbados. J Clin Microbiol 2005;43(6):2642-50.

50. Hutchison ML, Walters LD, Avery SM, Synge BA, Moore A. Levels of zoonotic agents in British livestock manures. Lett Appl Microbiol 2004;39(2):207-14.

51. The Merck Veterinary Manual. 9th ed. Whitehouse Station, NJ: Merck & Co., Inc. ; 2006.
52. Stanley K, Jones K. Cattle and sheep farms as reservoirs of Campylobacter. J Appl Microbiol 2003;94 Suppl:104S-13S.

53. Merck. Digestive System : Campylobacteriosis In: The Merck Veterinary Manual Whitehouse Station NJ, : Merck & co.; 2006.

54. Broman T, Waldenstrom J, Dahlgren D, Carlsson I, Eliasson I, Olsen B. Diversities and similarities in PFGE profiles of Campylobacter jejuni isolated from migrating birds and humans. J Appl Microbiol 2004;96(4):834-43.

55. Horman A, Rimhanen-Finne R, Maunula L, von Bonsdorff CH, Torvela N, Heikinheimo A, et al. Campylobacter spp., Giardia spp., Cryptosporidium spp., noroviruses, and indicator organisms in surface water in southwestern Finland, 2000-2001. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70(1):87-95.

56. Vereen E, Jr., Lowrance RR, Cole DJ, Lipp EK. Distribution and ecology of campylobacters in coastal plain streams (Georgia, United States of America). Appl Environ Microbiol 2007;73(5):1395-403.

57. Rosef O, Rettedal G, Lageide L. Thermophilic campylobacters in surface water: a potential risk of campylobacteriosis. Int J Environ Health Res 2001;11(4):321-7.

58. Lehtola MJ, Pitkanen T, Miebach L, Miettinen IT. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni in potable water biofilms: a comparative study with different detection methods. Water Sci Technol 2006;54(3):57-61.

59. Cools I, Uyttendaele M, Caro C, D'Haese E, Nelis HJ, Debevere J. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni strains of different origin in drinking water. J Appl Microbiol 2003;94(5):886-92.

60. Snelling WJ, McKenna JP, Lecky DM, Dooley JS. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni in waterborne protozoa. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71(9):5560-71.

61. Axelsson-Olsson D, Waldenstrom J, Broman T, Olsen B, Holmberg M. Protozoan Acanthamoeba polyphaga as a potential reservoir for Campylobacter jejuni. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71(2):987-92.

62. Axelsson Olsson D, Ellstrom P, Waldenstrom J, Olsen B. Acanthamoeba-Campylobacter co-culture as a Novel Method for Enrichment of Campylobacter Species.In: 14th International Workshop on Campylobacter, Helicobater and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterdam, The Netherlands; 2007.

63. Roels TH, Wickus B, Bostrom HH, Kazmierczak JJ, Nicholson MA, Kurzynski TA, et al. A foodborne outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni (O:33) infection associated with tuna salad: a rare strain in an unusual vehicle. Epidemiol Infect 1998;121(2):281-7.

64. Bolton FJ, Surman SB, Martin K, Wareing DR, Humphrey TJ. Presence of Campylobacter and Salmonella in sand from bathing beaches. Epidemiol Infect 1999;122(1):7-13.

65. Park SF. The physiology of Campylobacter species and its relevance to their role as foodborne pathogens. Int J Food Microbiol 2002;74(3):177-88.

66. Fernandez H, Vergara M, Tapia F. Dessication resistance in thermotolerant Campylobacter species. Infection 1985;13(4):197.

67. Obiri-Danso K, Paul N, Jones K. The effects of UVB and temperature on the survival of natural populations and pure cultures of Campylobacter jejuni, Camp. coli, Camp. lari and urease-positive thermophilic campylobacters (UPTC) in surface waters. J Appl Microbiol 2001;90(2):256-67.

68. Allos BM. Campylobacter jejuni Infections: update on emerging issues and trends. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32(8):1201-6.

69. Callicott KA, Friethriksdottir V, Reiersen J, Lowman R, Bisaillon JR, Gunnarsson E, et al. Lack of evidence for vertical transmission of Campylobacter spp. in chickens. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006;72(9):5794-8.

70. Cox NA, N.J. Stern, M. T. Musgrove, J. S. Bailey, S. E. Craven, P. F. Cray, R. J. Buhr, and K. L. Hiett. Prevalence and Level of *Campylobacter* in Commercial Broiler Breeders (Parents) and Broilers. J Appl Poult Res 2002 11:187–90.

71. Newell DG, Shreeve JE, Toszeghy M, Domingue G, Bull S, Humphrey T, et al. Changes in the carriage of Campylobacter strains by poultry carcasses during processing in abattoirs. Appl Environ Microbiol 2001 Jun;67(6):2636-40 2001.

72. Son I, Englen MD, Berrang ME, Fedorka-Cray PJ, Harrison MA. Prevalence of Arcobacter and Campylobacter on broiler carcasses during processing. Int J Food Microbiol 2007;113(1):16-22.

73. Cools I, Uyttendaele M, Cerpentier J, D'Haese E, Nelis HJ, Debevere J. Persistence of Campylobacter jejuni on surfaces in a processing environment and on cutting boards. Lett Appl Microbiol 2005;40(6):418-23 2005.

74. Luber P, Bartelt E. Enumeration of Campylobacter spp. on the surface and within chicken breast fillets. J Appl Microbiol 2007;102(2):313-8.

75. Burgess F, Little CL, Allen G, Williamson K, Mitchelli RT. Prevalence of Campylobacter, Salmonella, and Escherichia coli on the external packaging of raw meat. J Food Prot 2005;68(3):469-75.

76. Luber P, Brynestad S, Topsch D, Scherer K, Bartelt E. Quantification of campylobacter species cross-contamination during handling of contaminated fresh chicken parts in kitchens. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006;72(1):66-70.

77. Zhao C, Ge B, De Villena J, Sudler R, Yeh E, Zhao S, et al. Prevalence of Campylobacter spp., Escherichia coli, and Salmonella serovars in retail chicken, turkey, pork, and beef from the Greater Washington, D.C., area. Appl Environ Microbiol 2001;67(12):5431-6.

78. US Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Final decision of the commissioner: withdrawal of approval of the new animal drug application for enrofloxacin in poultry. In: Rockville, MD: US FDA; 2005.

79. Robinson DA, Jones DM. Milk-borne campylobacter infection. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1981;282(6273):1374-6.

80. Wright EP, Tillett HE, Hague JT, Clegg FG, Darnell R, Culshaw JA, et al. Milkborne campylobacter enteritis in a rural area. J Hyg (Lond) 1983;91(2):227-33.

81. McNaughton RD, Leyland R, Mueller L. Outbreak of Campylobacter enteritis due to consumption of raw milk. Can Med Assoc J 1982;126(6):657-8.

82. Robinson DA, Edgar WJ, Gibson GL, Matchett AA, Robertson L. Campylobacter enteritis associated with consumption of unpasteurised milk. Br Med J 1979;1(6172):1171-3.

83. Hutchinson DN, Bolton FJ, Hinchliffe PM, Dawkins HC, Horsley SD, Jessop EG, et al. Evidence of udder excretion of Campylobacter jejuni as the cause of milk-borne campylobacter outbreak. J Hyg (Lond) 1985;94(2):205-15.

84. Corry JE, Post DE, Colin P, Laisney MJ. Culture media for the isolation of campylobacters. Int J Food Microbiol 1995;26(1):43-76.

85. Doyle MP, Roman DJ. Prevalence and survival of Campylobacter jejuni in unpasteurized milk. Appl Environ Microbiol 1982;44(5):1154-8.

86. Why a campaign for real milk? (Accessed at http://www.realmilk.com.)

87. Oliver SP, Jayarao BM, Almeida RA. Foodborne pathogens in milk and the dairy farm environment: food safety and public health implications. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2005;2(2):115-29.

88. Taylor DN, McDermott KT, Little JR, Wells JG, Blaser MJ. Campylobacter enteritis from untreated water in the Rocky Mountains. Ann Intern Med 1983;99(1):38-40.

89. O'Reilly CE, Bowen AB, Perez NE, Sarisky JP, Shepherd CA, Miller MD, et al. A waterborne outbreak of gastroenteritis with multiple etiologies among resort island visitors and residents: Ohio, 2004. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2007;44(4):506-12.

90. Jones IG, Roworth M. An outbreak of Escherichia coli O157 and campylobacteriosis associated with contamination of a drinking water supply. Public Health 1996;110(5):277-82.

91. Sacks JJ, Lieb S, Baldy LM, Berta S, Patton CM, White MC, et al. Epidemic campylobacteriosis associated with a community water supply. Am J Public Health 1986;76(4):424-8.

92. Sinton L, Hall C, Braithwaite R. Sunlight inactivation of Campylobacter jejuni and Salmonella enterica, compared with Escherichia coli, in seawater and river water. J Water Health 2007;5(3):357-65.

93. Tatchou-Nyamsi-Konig JA, Moreau A, Federighi M, Block JC. Behaviour of Campylobacter jejuni in experimentally contaminated bottled natural mineral water. J Appl Microbiol 2007;103(2):280-8.

94. Deboer E, Hahne M. Cross-Contamination with Campylobacter-Jejuni and Salmonella-Spp from Raw Chicken Products During Food Preparation. Journal of Food Protection 1990;53(12):1067-8.

95. Luber P., Brynestad S., Topsch D., Scherer K., E. B. Quantification of Campylobacter species cross-contamination during handling of contaminated fresh chicken parts in kitchens. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006;72(1):66-70.

96. Mead PS, Slutsker L, Griffin PM, Tauxe RV. Food-related illness and death in the united states reply to dr. hedberg. Emerg Infect Dis 1999;5(6):841-2.

97. Black RE, Levine MM, Clements ML, Hughes TP, Blaser MJ. Experimental Campylobacter jejuni infection in humans. J Infect Dis 1988;157(3):472-9.

98. Teunis PF, Nagelkerke NJ, Haas CN. Dose response models for infectious gastroenteritis. Risk Anal 1999;19(6):1251-60.

99. Teunis P, Van den Brandhof W, Nauta M, Wagenaar J, Van den Kerkhof H, Van Pelt W. A reconsideration of the Campylobacter dose-response relation. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133(4):583-92.

100. Skirrow MB, Blaser, M.J. Clinical Aspects of *Campylobacter* Infection. In: Nachamkin IaB, M.J., ed. Campylobacter. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 2000:69-88.

101. Butzler JP. Campylobacter, from obscurity to celebrity. Clin Microbiol Infect 2004;10(10):868-76.

102. Ailes E, Vugia D, Segler S, Hurd S, Megginson MB, Stenzel SA, et al. Rates of Hospitalization for Specific Foodborne Pathogens, FoodNet 1996-2001. In: International Conference on Emerging Infectious Diseases (ICEID). Atlanta, GA; 2004.

103. Pope JE, Krizova A, Garg AX, Thiessen-Philbrook H, Ouimet JM. Campylobacter Reactive Arthritis: A Systematic Review. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2007.

104. Nachamkin I, Allos BM, Ho T. Campylobacter species and Guillain-Barre syndrome. Clin Microbiol Rev 1998;11(3):555-67.

105. Kimoto K, Koga M, Odaka M, Hirata K, Takahashi M, Li J, et al. Relationship of bacterial strains to clinical syndromes of Campylobacter-associated neuropathies. Neurology 2006;67(10):1837-43.

106. Buzby JC, Allos BM, Roberts T. The economic burden of Campylobacterassociated Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Infect Dis 1997;176 Suppl 2:S192-7.

107. Kennedy RH, Danielson MA, Mulder DW, Kurland LT. Guillain-Barre syndrome: a 42-year epidemiologic and clinical study. Mayo Clin Proc 1978;53(2):93-9.

108. Funakoshi K, Koga M, Takahashi M, Hirata K, Yuki N. Campylobacter coli enteritis and Guillain-Barre syndrome: no evidence of molecular mimicry and serological relationship. J Neurol Sci 2006;246(1-2):163-8.

109. Prendergast MM, Moran AP. Lipopolysaccharides in the development of the Guillain-Barre syndrome and Miller Fisher syndrome forms of acute inflammatory peripheral neuropathies. J Endotoxin Res 2000;6(5):341-59.

110. Moran AP, Prendergast MM. Molecular mimicry in Campylobacter jejuni and Helicobacter pylori lipopolysaccharides: contribution of gastrointestinal infections to autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 2001;16(3):241-56.

111. Rees JH, Soudain SE, Gregson NA, Hughes RA. Campylobacter jejuni infection and Guillain-Barre syndrome. N Engl J Med 1995;333(21):1374-9.

112. Schmidt-Ott R, Schmidt H, Feldmann S, Brass F, Krone B, Gross U. Improved serological diagnosis stresses the major role of Campylobacter jejuni in triggering Guillain-Barre syndrome. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2006;13(7):779-83.

113. Moore JE, Barton MD, Blair IS, Corcoran D, Dooley JSG, Fanning SKI, et al. The epidemiology of antibiotic resistance in Campylobacter. Microbes Infect 2006;8(7):1955-66.

114. Gupta A, Nelson JM, Barrett TJ, Tauxe RV, Rossiter SP, Friedman CR, et al. Antimicrobial resistance among Campylobacter strains, United States, 1997-2001. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10(6):1102-9.

115. van Hees BC, Veldman-Ariesen MJ, de Jongh BM, Tersmette M, van Pelt W. Regional and seasonal differences in incidence and antibiotic resistance of Campylobacter from a nationwide surveillance study in The Netherlands: an overview of 2000-2004. Clin Microbiol Infect 2007;13(3):305-10.

116. Gallay A, Prouzet-Mauleon V, Kempf I, Lehours P, Labadi L, Camou C, et al. Campylobacter antimicrobial drug resistance among humans, broiler chickens, and pigs, France. Emerg Infect Dis 2007;13(2):259-66.

117. Helms M, Simonsen J, Olsen KEP. Adverse health events associated with antimicrobial drug resistance in Campylobacter species: A registry-based cohort study. J Infect Dis 2005;191(7):1050-5.

118. Nelson JM, Smith KE, Vugia DJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Segler SD, Kassenborg HD, et al. Prolonged diarrhea due to ciprofloxacin-resistant campylobacter infection. J Infect Dis 2004;190(6):1150-7.

119. Smith KE, Besser JM, Hedberg CW, Leano FT, Bender JB, Wicklund JH, et al. Quinolone-resistant Campylobacter jejuni infections in Minnesota, 1992-1998. Investigation Team. N Engl J Med 1999;340(20):1525-32.

120. Strid MA, Engberg J, Larsen LB, Begtrup K, Molbak K, Krogfelt KA. Antibody responses to Campylobacter infections determined by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay: 2-year follow-up study of 210 patients. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 2001;8(2):314-9.

121. Kaldor J, Pritchard H, Serpell A, Metcalf W. Serum antibodies in Campylobacter enteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1983;18(1):1-4.

122. Schmidt-Ott R, Brass F, Scholz C, Werner C, Gross U. Improved serodiagnosis of Campylobacter jejuni infections using recombinant antigens. J Med Microbiol 2005;54(Pt 8):761-7.

123. Taylor BV, Williamson J, Luck J, Coleman D, Jones D, McGregor A. Sensitivity and specificity of serology in determining recent acute Campylobacter infection. Intern Med J 2004;34(5):250-8.

124. Cawthraw SA, Feldman RA, Sayers AR, Newell DG. Long-term antibody responses following human infection with Campylobacter jejuni. Clin Exp Immunol 2002;130(1):101-6.

125. Miller G, Dunn GM, Reid TM, Ogden ID, Strachan NJ. Does age acquired immunity confer selective protection to common serotypes of Campylobacter jejuni? BMC Infect Dis 2005;5:66.

126. Figueroa G, Galeno H, Troncoso M, Toledo S, Soto V. Prospective study of Campylobacter jejuni infection in Chilean infants evaluated by culture and serology. J Clin Microbiol 1989;27(5):1040-4.

127. Martin PM, Mathiot J, Ipero J, Kirimat M, Georges AJ, Georges-Courbot MC. Immune response to Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli in a cohort of children from birth to 2 years of age. Infect Immun 1989;57(8):2542-6.

128. Taylor DN, Echeverria P, Pitarangsi C, Seriwatana J, Bodhidatta L, Blaser MJ. Influence of strain characteristics and immunity on the epidemiology of Campylobacter infections in Thailand. J Clin Microbiol 1988;26(5):863-8.

129. Skirrow MB. A demographic survey of campylobacter, salmonella and shigella infections in England. A Public Health Laboratory Service Survey. Epidemiol Infect 1987;99(3):647-57.

130. Coker AO, Isokpehi RD, Thomas BN, Amisu KO, Obi CL. Human campylobacteriosis in developing countries. Emerg Infect Dis 2002;8(3):237-44.

131. Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--10 states, 2006. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2007;56(14):336-9.

132. Ailes E, Demma LJ, Hurd S, Hatch J, Jones TJ, Vugia D, et al. Continued Decline in the Incidence of Campylobacter Infections, FoodNet 1996-2006. Foodborne Pathog Disease 2009;5(3):329-37.

133. Nylen G, Dunstan F, Palmer SR, Andersson Y, Bager F, Cowden J, et al. The seasonal distribution of campylobacter infection in nine European countries and New Zealand. Epidemiol Infect 2002;128(3):383-90.

134. Takkinen J, Ammon A, Robstad O, Breuer T. European survey on Campylobacter surveillance and diagnosis 2001. Euro Surveill 2003;8(11):207-13.

135. French N, Barrigas M, Brown P, Ribiero P, Williams N, Leatherbarrow H, et al. Spatial epidemiology and natural population structure of Campylobacter jejuni colonizing a farmland ecosystem. Environ Microbiol 2005;7(8):1116-26.

136. Hook H, Ekegren MB, Ericsson H, Vagsholm I, Danielsson-Tham ML. Genetic and epidemiological relationships among Campylobacter isolates from humans. Scand J Infect Dis 2004;36(6-7):435-42.

137. CARMA: Campylobacter Risk Management and Assessment. http://www.rivm.nl/carma/. In; 2007. 138. Blaser MJ, Black RE, Duncan DJ, Amer J. Campylobacter jejuni-specific serum antibodies are elevated in healthy Bangladeshi children. J Clin Microbiol 1985;21(2):164-7.

139. Oberhelman RA, Taylor DN. Campylobacter Infections in Developing Countries. In: Nachamkin I, Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 2000:139-53.

140. Blaser MJ, Sazie E, Williams LP, Jr. The influence of immunity on raw milk-associated Campylobacter infection. Jama 1987;257(1):43-6.

141. Hopkins RS, Olmsted R, Istre GR. Endemic Campylobacter jejuni infection in Colorado: identified risk factors. Am J Public Health 1984;74(3):249-50.

142. Eberhart-Phillips J, Walker N, Garrett N, Bell D, Sinclair D, Rainger W, et al. Campylobacteriosis in New Zealand: results of a case-control study. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health 1997;51(6):686-91.

143. Sibbald CJ, Sharp JC. Campylobacter infection in urban and rural populations in Scotland. J Hyg (Lond) 1985;95(1):87-93.

144. Blaser MJ, Duncan DJ, Osterholm MT, Istre GR, Wang WL. Serologic study of two clusters of infection due to Campylobacter jejuni. J Infect Dis 1983;147(5):820-3.

145. Taylor DN, Porter BW, Williams CA, Miller HG, Bopp CA, Blake PA. Campylobacter enteritis: a large outbreak traced to commercial raw milk. West J Med 1982;137(5):365-9.

146. Kapperud G, Skjerve E, Bean NH, Ostroff SM, Lassen J. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infections: results of a case-control study in southeastern Norway. J Clin Microbiol 1992;30(12):3117-21.

147. Ikram R, Chambers S, Mitchell P, Brieseman MA, Ikam OH. A case control study to determine risk factors for campylobacter infection in Christchurch in the summer of 1992-3. New Zealand Medical Journal 1994;107(988):430-2.

148. Harris NV, Weiss NS, Nolan CM. The role of poultry and meats in the etiology of Campylobacter jejuni/coli enteritis. Am J Public Health 1986;76(4):407-11.

149. Evans MR, Ribeiro CD, Salmon RL. Hazards of healthy living: bottled water and salad vegetables as risk factors for Campylobacter infection. Emerg Infect Dis 2003;9(10):1219-25.

150. Kapperud G, Espeland G, Wahl E, Walde A, Herikstad H, Gustavsen S, et al. Factors associated with increased and decreased risk of Campylobacter infection: a prospective case-control study in Norway. Am J Epidemiol 2003;158(3):234-42.

151. Hopkins RS, Scott AS. Handling raw chicken as a source for sporadic Campylobacter jejuni infections. J Infect Dis 1983;148(4):770.

152. Brown P, Kidd D, Riordan T, Barrell RA. An outbreak of food-borne Campylobacter jejuni infection and the possible role of cross-contamination. J Infect 1988;17(2):171-6.

153. Istre GR, Blaser MJ, Shillam P, Hopkins RS. Campylobacter enteritis associated with undercooked barbecued chicken. Am J Public Health 1984;74(11):1265-7.

154. Rodrigues LC, Cowden JM, Wheeler JG, Sethi D, Wall PG, Cumberland P, et al. The study of infectious intestinal disease in England: risk factors for cases of infectious intestinal disease with Campylobacter jejuni infection. Epidemiol Infect 2001;127(2):185-93.

155. Tam CC, Higgins CD, Neal KR, Rodrigues LC, Millership SE, O'Brien SJ. Chicken consumption and use of acid-suppressing medications as risk factors for Campylobacter enteritis, England. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;15(9):1402-8.

156. Wingstrand A, Neimann J, Engberg J, Nielsen EM, Gerner-Smidt P, Wegener HC, et al. Fresh chicken as main risk factor for campylobacteriosis, Denmark. Emerg Infect Dis 2006;12(2):280-5.

157. Sandberg M, Hofshagen M, Ostensvik O, Skjerve E, Innocent G. Survival of Campylobacter on Frozen Broiler Carcasses as a Function of Time. Journal of Food Protection 2005;8:1600-5.

158. Kassenborg HD, Smith KE, Vugia DJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Bates MR, Carter MA, et al. Fluoroquinolone-resistant Campylobacter infections: eating poultry outside of the home and foreign travel are risk factors. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S279-84.

159. Fullerton KE, Ingram LA, Jones TF, Anderson BJ, McCarthy PV, Hurd S, et al. Sporadic campylobacter infection in infants: a population-based surveillance case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26(1):19-24.

160. Adak GK, Cowden JM, Nicholas S, Evans HS. The Public Health Laboratory Service national case-control study of primary indigenous sporadic cases of campylobacter infection. Epidemiology & Infection 1995;115(1):15-22.

161. Brown PE, Christensen OF, Clough HE, Diggle PJ, Hart CA, Hazel S, et al. Frequency and spatial distribution of environmental Campylobacter spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70(11):6501-11.

162. Tenkate TD, Stafford RJ. Risk factors for campylobacter infection in infants and young children: a matched case-control study. Epidemiology & Infection 2001;127(3):399-404.

163. Potter RC, Kaneene JB, Hall WN. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter jejuni infections in rural michigan: a prospective case-control study. Am J Public Health 2003;93(12):2118-23.

164. Neal KR, Slack RC. Diabetes mellitus, anti-secretory drugs and other risk factors for campylobacter gastro-enteritis in adults: a case-control study. Epidemiology & Infection 1997;119(3):307-11.

165. Neal KR, Scott HM, Slack RC, Logan RF. Omeprazole as a risk factor for campylobacter gastroenteritis: case-control study. Bmj 1996;312(7028):414-5.

166. Schonberg-Norio D, Takkinen J, Hanninen ML, Katila ML, Kaukoranta SS, Mattila L, et al. Swimming and Campylobacter infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10(8):1474-7.

167. Sandberg M, Nygard K, Meldal H, Valle PS, Kruse H, Skjerve E. Incidence trend and risk factors for campylobacter infections in humans in Norway. BMC Public Health 2006;6:179.

168. Nygard K, Andersson Y, Rottingen JA, Svensson A, Lindback J, Kistemann T, et al. Association between environmental risk factors and campylobacter infections in Sweden. Epidemiol Infect 2004;132(2):317-25.

169. Thompson JS, Cahoon FE, Hodge DS. Rate of Campylobacter spp. isolation in three regions of Ontario, Canada, from 1978 to 1985. J Clin Microbiol 1986;24(5):876-8.

170. Tosin I, Machado RA. [Occurrence of Campylobacter spp among food handlers in hospital kitchens in urban areas of the southern region of Brazil]. Rev Saude Publica 1995;29(6):472-7.

171. Christensen BB, Rosenquist H, Sommer HM, Nielsen NL, Fagt S, Andersen NL, et al. A model of hygiene practices and consumption patterns in the consumer phase. Risk Anal 2005;25(1):49-60.

172. Strachan NJ, Watson RO, Novik V, Hofreuter D, Ogden ID, Galan JE. Sexual dimorphism in campylobacteriosis. Epidemiol Infect 2007:1-4.

173. Green MS. The male predominance in the incidence of infectious diseases in children: a postulated explanation for disparities in the literature. Int J Epidemiol 1992;21(2):381-6.

174. Bellido-Blasco JB, Gonzalez-Cano JM, Galiano-Arlandis JV, Herrero-Carot C, Tirado-Balaguer MD, Arnedo-Pena A, et al. [Risk factors for the occurrence of sporadic Campylobacter, Salmonella and rotavirus diarrhea in preschool children]. An Pediatr (Barc) 2007;66(4):367-74.

175. Golding J, Emmett PM, Rogers IS. Gastroenteritis, diarrhoea and breast feeding. Early Hum Dev 1997;29(49):S83-103.

176. Merritt A, Miles R, Bates J. An outbreak of Campylobacter enteritis on an island resort, north Queensland. Commun Dis Intell 1999;23(8):215-9; discussion 20.

177. Maurer AM, Sturchler D. A waterborne outbreak of small round structured virus, campylobacter and shigella co-infections in La Neuveville, Switzerland, 1998. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125(2):325-32.

178. Kuusi M, Aavitsland P, Gondrosen B, Kapperud G. Incidence of gastroenteritis in Norway--a population-based survey. Epidemiol Infect 2003;131(1):591-7.

179. Godoy P, Artigues A, Nuin C, Aramburu J, Perez M, Dominguez A, et al. [Outbreak of gastroenteritis caused by Campylobacter jejuni transmitted through drinking water]. Med Clin (Barc) 2002;119(18):695-8.

180. Duke LA, Breathnach AS, Jenkins DR, Harkis BA, Codd AW. A mixed outbreak of cryptosporidium and campylobacter infection associated with a private water supply. Epidemiol Infect 1996;116(3):303-8.

181. Marshall JK, Thabane M, Garg AX, Clark WF, Salvadori M, Collins SM. Incidence and epidemiology of irritable bowel syndrome after a large waterborne outbreak of bacterial dysentery. Gastroenterology 2006;131(2):445-50; quiz 660.

182. Evans MR, Roberts RJ, Ribeiro CD, Gardner D, Kembrey D. A milk-borne campylobacter outbreak following an educational farm visit. Epidemiol Infect 1996;117(3):457-62.

183. Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--selected sites, United States, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2004;53(16):338-43.

184. Mazick A, Ethelberg S, Nielsen EM, Molbak K, Lisby M. An outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni associated with consumption of chicken, Copenhagen, 2005. Euro Surveill 2006;11(5):137-9.

185. Black AP, Kirk MD, Millard G. Campylobacter outbreak due to chicken consumption at an Australian Capital Territory restaurant. Commun Dis Intell 2006;30(3):373-7.

186. Allerberger F, Al-Jazrawi N, Kreidl P, Dierich MP, Feierl G, Hein I, et al. Barbecued chicken causing a multi-state outbreak of Campylobacter jejuni enteritis. Infection 2003;31(1):19-23.

187. Scientific Data Documentation: Public Health Laboratory Information System. (Accessed at <u>http://wonder.cdc.gov/wonder/sci_data/misc/type_txt/phlis.asp.</u>)

188. Lynch M, Painter J, Woodruff R, Braden C. Surveillance for foodborne-disease outbreaks--United States, 1998-2002. MMWR Surveill Summ 2006;55(10):1-42.

189. Nachamkin I, Engberg, J., and Aarestrup, A.A. Diagnosis and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* species. In: Nachamkin IaB, M.J., ed. Campylobacter. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 2000:45-66.

190. Wang WL, Luechtefeld NW, Blaser MJ, Reller LB. Comparison of CampyPak II with standard 5% oxygen and candle jars for growth of Campylobacter jejuni from human feces. J Clin Microbiol 1982;16(2):291-4.

191. Lastovica AJ, Le Roux E. Prevalence and optimal detection of C. upsaliensis in stool specimens. Clin Infect Dis 2003;36(12):1624-5; author reply 5.

192. Mundy LS, Shanholtzer CJ, Willard KE, Peterson LR. An evaluation of three commercial fecal transport systems for the recovery of enteric pathogens. Am J Clin Pathol 1991;96(3):364-7.

193. Fisman DN, Lim S, Wellenius GA, Johnson C, Britz P, Gaskins M, et al. It's not the heat, it's the humidity: wet weather increases legionellosis risk in the greater Philadelphia metropolitan area. J Infect Dis 2005;192(12):2066-73.

194. Dediste A, Vandenberg O, Vlaes L, Ebraert A, Douat N, Bahwere P, et al. Evaluation of the ProSpecT Microplate Assay for detection of Campylobacter: a routine laboratory perspective. Clin Microbiol Infect 2003;9(11):1085-90.

195. Kulkarni SP, Lever S, Logan JM, Lawson AJ, Stanley J, Shafi MS. Detection of campylobacter species: a comparison of culture and polymerase chain reaction based methods. J Clin Pathol 2002;55(10):749-53.

196. Duffy L, Dykes GA. Growth temperature of four Campylobacter jejuni strains influences their subsequent survival in food and water. Lett Appl Microbiol 2006 Dec;43(6):596-601 2006.

197. Barros-Velazquez J, Jimenez A, Villa TG. Isolation and typing methods for the epidemiologic investigation of thermotolerant campylobacters. Int Microbiol 1999;2(4):217-26.

198. Chan R, Hannan B, Munro R. Use of a selective enrichment broth for isolation of Campylobacter species from human feces. Pathology 1985;17(4):640-1.

199. Martin WT, Patton CM, Morris GK, Potter ME, Puhr ND. Selective enrichment broth medium for isolation of Campylobacter jejuni. J Clin Microbiol 1983;17(5):853-5.

200. Rogol M, Shpak B, Rothman D, Sechter I. Enrichment medium for isolation of Campylobacter jejuni-Campylobacter coli. Appl Environ Microbiol 1985;50(1):125-6.

201. Sicinschi LA. Enrichment medium for isolation of Campylobacter jejuni-Campylobacter coli. Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi 1995;99(1-2):139-43.

202. Gun-Munro J, Rennie RP, Thornley JH, Richardson HL, Hodge D, Lynch J. Laboratory and clinical evaluation of isolation media for Campylobacter jejuni. J Clin Microbiol 1987;25(12):2274-7.

203. Karmali MA, Simor AE, Roscoe M, Fleming PC, Smith SS, Lane J. Evaluation of a blood-free, charcoal-based, selective medium for the isolation of Campylobacter organisms from feces. J Clin Microbiol 1986;23(3):456-9.

204. Bhadra RK, Bag PK, Pal SC, Nair GB. Comparison of selective medium supplemented with blood & a charcoal-based blood-free medium for primary isolation of campylobacters from human faeces. Indian J Med Res 1991;93:22-5.

205. Endtz HP, Ruijs GJ, Zwinderman AH, van der Reijden T, Biever M, Mouton RP. Comparison of six media, including a semisolid agar, for the isolation of various Campylobacter species from stool specimens. J Clin Microbiol 1991;29(5):1007-10.

206. Arzate Barbosa P, Garcia Gonzalez R, Ponce Nava E, Nachamkin I. Comparison of two selective media for the isolation of Campylobacter species from a pediatric population in Mexico. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1999;34(4):329-32.

207. Aspinall ST, Wareing DR, Hayward PG, Hutchinson DN. Selective medium for thermophilic campylobacters including Campylobacter upsaliensis. J Clin Pathol 1993;46(9):829-31.

208. Allen VM, Bull SA, Corry JE, Domingue G, Jorgensen F, Frost JA, et al. Campylobacter spp. contamination of chicken carcasses during processing in relation to flock colonisation. Int J Food Microbiol 2007 Jan 1;113(1):54-61 Epub 2006 Sep 27.

209. Tauxe RV, Deming MS, Blake PA. Campylobacter jejuni infections on college campuses: a national survey. Am J Public Health 1985;75(6):659-60.

210. McClurg KR, McClurg RB, Moore JE, Dooley JS. Efficient isolation of campylobacters from stools: what are we missing?[see comment]. Journal of Clinical Pathology 2002;55(3):239-40.

211. Piersimoni C, Bornigia S, Curzi L, De Sio G. Comparison of two selective media and a membrane filter technique for isolation of Campylobacter species from diarrhoeal stools. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 1995;14(6):539-42.

212. Steele TW, McDermott SN. The use of membrane filters applied directly to the surface of agar plates for the isolation of Campylobacter jejuni from feces. Pathology 1984;16(3):263-5.

213. Crushell E, Harty S, Sharif F, Bourke B. Enteric campylobacter: purging its secrets? Pediatr Res 2004;55(1):3-12.

214. Kosunen TU. Evaluation of the Cult-a-Box gas generator system for isolation of Campylobacter spp. from stool specimens. J Clin Microbiol 1983;18(4):972-3.

215. Janssen D, Helstad AG. Isolation of Campylobacter fetus subsp. jejuni from human fecal specimens by incubation at 35 and 42 degrees C. J Clin Microbiol 1982;16(2):398-9.

216. Gee B, Nye KJ, Fallon D, Messer S, Howe S, Warren RE, et al. Effect of incubation temperature on the isolation of thermophilic species of Campylobacter from faeces. Commun Dis Public Health 2002;5(4):282-4.

217. Bolton FJ, Hutchinson DN, Coates D. Blood-free selective medium for isolation of Campylobacter jejuni from feces. J Clin Microbiol 1984;19(2):169-71.

218. Tam CC, Higgins CD, Rodrigues LC, Owen RJ, Richardson JF, Curnow J, et al. Risk Factors for Reported Campylobacter enteritis in England: A Case-control Study. In: 14th International Workshop on Campylobacter, Helicobater and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterdam, The Netherlands; 2007.

219. Scates P, Moran L, Madden RH. Effect of incubation temperature on isolation of Campylobacter jejuni genotypes from foodstuffs enriched in Preston broth. Applied & Environmental Microbiology 2003;69(8):4658-61.

220. Luechtefeld NW, Reller LB, Blaser MJ, Wang WL. Comparison of atmospheres of incubation for primary isolation of Campylobacter fetus subsp. jejuni from animal specimens: 5% oxygen versus candle jar. J Clin Microbiol 1982;15(1):53-7.

221. Danish Ministry of Food Agriculture and Fisheries. Annual report on zoonoses in Denmark 2003.

222. Bork B, Galliano C, Nordentoft S, Ethelberg S, Boysen L, Helwigh B, et al. Effects of the Danish Intervention Strategies Aimed at Reducting *Campylobacter* in Broiler Meat. In: 14th International Workshop on *Campylobacter*, *Helicobacter* and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterman, The Netherlands; 2007.

223. Pathogen reduction; hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) systems; final rule. Federal Register 61:38806-38989, 1996. (Accessed at

224. Rose BE, Hill WE, Umholtz R, Ransom GM, James WO. Testing for Salmonella in raw meat and poultry products collected at federally inspected establishments in the United States, 1998 through 2000. J Food Prot 2002;65(6):937-47.

225. CDC. Campylobacter.

226. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Food Safety. In: Healthy People 2010: Objectives for Improving Health. Washington, DC: : US Public Health Service; 2000.

227. Ailes E, al. e. Continued Decline in the Incidence of Campylobacter Infections, FoodNet 1996-2006 [in preparation]. 2007.

228. Larson SL, Fleishman JA. Rural-urban differences in usual source of care and ambulatory service use: analyses of national data using Urban Influence Codes. Med Care 2003;41(7 Suppl):III65-III74.

229. Scallan E, Jones TF, Cronquist A, Thomas S, Frenzen P, Hoefer D, et al. Factors associated with seeking medical care and submitting a stool sample in estimating the burden of foodborne illness. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2006;3(4):432-8.

230. Zuckerman S, Shen YC. Characteristics of occasional and frequent emergency department users: do insurance coverage and access to care matter? Medical Care 2004;42(2):176-82.

231. Hargraves JL, Hadley J. The contribution of insurance coverage and community resources to reducing racial/ethnic disparities in access to care. Health Services Research 2003;38(3):809-29.

232. Scallan E, Majowicz SE, Hall G, Banerjee A, Bowman CL, Daly L, et al. Prevalence of diarrhoea in the community in Australia, Canada, Ireland, and the United States. International Journal of Epidemiology 2005;34(2):454-60.

233. Guerrant RL, Van Gilder T, Steiner TS, Thielman NM, Slutsker L, Tauxe RV, et al. Practice guidelines for the management of infectious diarrhea. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2001;32(3):331-51.

234. Wong CS, Jelacic S, Habeeb RL, Watkins SL, Tarr PI. The risk of the hemolyticuremic syndrome after antibiotic treatment of Escherichia coli O157:H7 infections.[see comment]. New England Journal of Medicine 2000;342(26):1930-6.

235. Hennessy TW, Marcus R, Deneen V, Reddy S, Vugia D, Townes J, et al. Survey of physician diagnostic practices for patients with acute diarrhea: clinical and public health implications. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S203-11.

236. Voetsch AC, Angulo FJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Shallow S, Cassidy M, Thomas SM, et al. Laboratory practices for stool-specimen culture for bacterial pathogens, including Escherichia coli O157:H7, in the FoodNet sites, 1995-2000. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S190-7.

237. Demma LJ, Hurd S, Tong X, Hatch J, Hanna S, Shin S, et al. Clinical Laboratory Practices for the Isolation and Identification of Campylobacter in FoodNet Sites. In: 14th

International Workshop on *Campylobacter*, *Helicobacter* and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterman, The Netherlands; 2007.

238. Labarca JA, Sturgeon J, Borenstein L, Salem N, Harvey SM, Lehnkering E, et al. Campylobacter upsaliensis: Another pathogen for consideration in the United States. Clin Infect Dis 2002;34(11):E59-60.

239. McNicholas AM, Bates M, Kiddle E, Wright J. Is New Zealand's recent increase in campylobacteriosis due to changes in laboratory procedures? A survey of 69 medical laboratories. N Z Med J 1995;108(1011):459-61.

240. Scallan E. Activities, achievements, and lessons learned during the first 10 years of the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network: 1996-2005. Clin Infect Dis 2007;44(5):718-25.

241. U.S. FDA Center for Veterinary Medicine (CVM). National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System for Enteric Bacteria (NARMS): NARMS Retail Meat Annual Report, 2003. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, FDA; 2005.

242. Stern NJ, Hiett KL, Alfredsson GA, Kristinsson KG, Reiersen J, Hardardottir H, et al. Campylobacter spp. in Icelandic poultry operations and human disease. Epidemiol Infect 2003 Feb;130(1):23-32 2003.

243. Section 26661 of the California Food and Agricultural Code. In: California Food and Agricultural Code; 1993.

244. Lowman R, Hardardottir H, Kritinsson KG, Sigmundsdottir G, Frioriksdottir V, Reiersen J, et al. Iceland: a review of reduction in human incidence of domestically acquired campylobacteriosis from 2000-2008, concurrent with Iceland's freezing policy. In: 15th International Workship on Campylobacter, Helicobacter, and Related Organisms; 2009; Niigata, Japan; 2009.

245. Karenlampi R, Rautelin H, Schonberg-Norio D, Paulin L, Hanninen ML. Longitudinal study of Finnish Campylobacter jejuni and C-coli isolates from humans, using multilocus sequence typing, including comparison with epidemiological data and isolates from poultry and cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007;73(1):148-55.

246. FDA Ban on Interstate commerce of raw milk. In: 21 CFR Part 124061; 1987.

247. Headrick ML, Korangy S, Bean NH, Angulo FJ, Altekruse SF, Potter ME, et al. The epidemiology of raw milk-associated foodborne disease outbreaks reported in the United States, 1973 through 1992. American Journal of Public Health 1998;88(8):1219-21.

248. Louis VR, Gillespie IA, O'Brien SJ, Russek-Cohen E, Pearson AD, Colwell RR. Temperature-driven Campylobacter seasonality in England and Wales. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71(1):85-92.

249. Belongia EA, Chyou PH, Greenlee RT, Perez-Perez G, Bibb WF, DeVries EO. Diarrhea incidence and farm-related risk factors for Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Campylobacter jejuni antibodies among rural children. J Infect Dis 2003;187(9):1460-8.

250. Mishu B, Ilyas AA, Koski CL, Vriesendorp F, Cook SD, Mithen FA, et al. Serologic evidence of previous Campylobacter jejuni infection in patients with the Guillain-Barre syndrome. Ann Intern Med 1993;118(12):947-53.

251. Linneberg A, Ostergaard C, Tvede M, Andersen LP, Nielsen NH, Madsen F, et al. IgG antibodies against microorganisms and atopic disease in Danish adults: the Copenhagen Allergy Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;111(4):847-53.

252. Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, Marcus R, Segler S, McGivern T, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S165-74.

253. Altizer S, Dobson A, Hosseini P, Hudson P, Pascual M, Rohani P. Seasonality and the dynamics of infectious diseases. Ecol Lett 2006;9(4):467-84.

254. Grassly NC, Fraser C. Seasonal infectious disease epidemiology. Proc Biol Sci 2006;273(1600):2541-50.

255. Meldrum RJ, Griffiths JK, Smith RM, Evans MR. The seasonality of human campylobacter infection and Campylobacter isolates from fresh, retail chicken in Wales. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133(1):49-52.

256. Wallace JS, Stanley KN, Currie JE, Diggle PJ, Jones K. Seasonality of thermophilic Campylobacter populations in chickens. J Appl Microbiol 1997;82(2):219-24.

257. Meldrum RJ, Smith RM, Wilson IG. Three-year surveillance program examining the prevalence of Campylobacter and Salmonella in whole retail raw chicken. J Food Prot 2006;69(4):928-31.

258. Stanley KN, Wallace JS, Currie JE, Diggle PJ, Jones K. Seasonal variation of thermophilic campylobacters in lambs at slaughter. J Appl Microbiol 1998;84(6):1111-6.

259. Hudson JA, Nicol C, Wright J, Whyte R, Hasell SK. Seasonal variation of Campylobacter types from human cases, veterinary cases, raw chicken, milk and water. J Appl Microbiol 1999;87(1):115-24.

260. Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, O'Brien SJ, Hajat S. Temperature dependence of reported Campylobacter infection in England, 1989-1999. Epidemiol Infect 2006;134(1):119-25.

261. Wedderkopp A, Gradel KO, Jorgensen JC, Madsen M. Pre-harvest surveillance of Campylobacter and Salmonella in Danish broiler flocks: a 2-year study. International Journal of Food Microbiology 2001;68(1-2):53-9.

262. Nichols GL. Fly transmission of Campylobacter. Emerg Infect Dis 2005;11(3):361-4.

263. Ekdahl K, Normann B, Andersson Y. Could flies explain the elusive epidemiology of campylobacteriosis? BMC Infect Dis 2005;5(1):11.

264. Hald B, Skovgard H, Bang DD, Pedersen K, Dybdahl J, Jespersen JB, et al. Flies and Campylobacter infection of broiler flocks. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10(8):1490-2.

265. Ruble R. Flies and Campylobacter. Am J Public Health 1986;76(12):1457.

266. Lefebvre F, Pasquerault T. Temperature-dependent development of Ophyra aenescens (Wiedemann, 1830) and Ophyra capensis (Wiedemann, 1818) (Diptera, Muscidae). Forensic SciInt 2004;139(1):75-9.

267. Cepeda-Palacios R, Scholl PJ. Factors affecting the larvipositional activity of Oestrus ovis gravid females (Diptera : Oestridae). Veterinary Parasitology 2000;91(1-2):93-105.

268. Guerin MT, Martin SW, Reisersen J, Berke O, McEwen SA, Bisaillon JR, et al. A Multi-Level Analysis of Risk Factors for *Campylobacter* spp. in Broiler Chickens in Iceland. In: 14th International Workshop on *Campylobacter*, *Helicobacter* and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterman, The Netherlands; 2007.

269. Hald B, Skovgard H, Sommer HM. Screen Out Insect Vectors to Significantly Reduce *Campylobacter* Prevalence in Broilers. In: 14th International Workshop on *Campylobacter*, *Helicobacter* and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterman, The Netherlands; 2007.

270. Fleury M, Charron DF, Holt JD, Allen OB, Maarouf AR. A time series analysis of the relationship of ambient temperature and common bacterial enteric infections in two Canadian provinces. Int J Biometeorol 2006;50(6):385-91.

271. Naumova EN, Jagai JS, Matyas B, DeMaria A, Jr., MacNeill IB, Griffiths JK. Seasonality in six enterically transmitted diseases and ambient temperature. Epidemiol Infect 2007;135(2):281-92.

Tables and Figures

Figure 2.1 Map of FoodNet sites as of 2006*



* Connecticut, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesota, Oregon, Tennessee, and selected counties in California, Colorado, New York

Figure 2.2 The American Society for Microbiology (ASM) recommendations for the isolation and identification of typical thermotolerant *Campylobacter* species (e.g., *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*) from a stool specimen¹⁸⁹



Figure 2.3 Burden of Illness Pyramid



CHAPTER 3. DISSERTATION OBJECTIVES

1. Do differences in risk factors or health care use explain the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites?

2. Is there geographic variation in clinical laboratory practices for the detection of *Campylobacter* in the FoodNet sites?

3. What is the association between rainfall and temperature and *Campylobacter* infections in the FoodNet sites from 1996-2006?

4. Do differences in risk factors explain the seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis?

Abstract

In the United States, geographic variation in the rates of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections has been consistently observed. Using population-based survey data from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet), we examined whether there were geographic differences in health care use and stool culture submission practices that could explain the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. We also used a case-control study conducted in the FoodNet surveillance area to examine whether the risk from various previously-identified risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection, and the prevalence of these exposures (proportion of individuals reporting exposure), varied geographically. No significant geographic differences were found in health care use or stool culture submission practices. There was no evidence of geographic effect modification of risk factors for campylobacteriosis (consumption of chicken at commercial eating establishments, raw milk, and untreated water, and exposures to farm animals and animal stool). The prevalence of some risk factors varied geographically, although they do not appear to fully explain the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. The reasons for the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis in the United States remain unclear.

Introduction

Campylobacteriosis is one of the most common causes of bacterial gastroenteritis worldwide and in the United States (U.S.), where it accounts for approximately 2 million illnesses annually¹. In the U.S., cases of campylobacteriosis are not nationally notifiable. Rather, information on this important disease is collected through the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) that conducts active, population-based surveillance for culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections in select states and counties. Geographic variation has been consistently observed in the rates of cultureconfirmed campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites. A five-fold difference in average rates of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis exists between the California FoodNet site (reporting an average of 34 cases/100,000 persons) and the lower-incidence sites of Maryland (6.8 cases/100,000 persons), Georgia (8.6 cases/100,000 persons) and Tennessee (7.3 cases/100,000 persons).² This variation has not been explained.

The numbers of culture-confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis captured in FoodNet surveillance only represents a fraction of those that occur. Samuel et al. (2004) estimated that there are 34 cases in the community for every one culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis captured in FoodNet surveillance. Differences in surveillance artifacts (health care utilization, stool sample submission, clinical laboratory testing procedures, or reporting of cases to public health authorities) or regional differences in exposure¹ to *Campylobacter* may result in overall differences in the reported rates of campylobacteriosis.³ As FoodNet conducts active surveillance to capture every instance of a culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis in the surveillance area, reporting differences are not likely to exist. In a recent study by Ailes et al. (Chapter 5), differences in clinical laboratory practices did not account for the geographic differences in the clinical laboratory *Campylobacter* isolation rates. However, differences in health care utilization and stool sample submission practices or differences in risk factors for campylobacteriosis, as a result of variation in population exposure to *Campylobacter*, have yet to be fully examined.

Identified risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection in the FoodNet sites in the U.S. and other countries include consumption of raw or undercooked chicken, unpasteurized milk, and untreated water.⁴⁻⁸ and exposure to dogs, farm animals, and foreign travel.^{4, 6, 8} Geographic differences in risk factors for campylobacteriosis may exist because of differences in the occurrence or concentration of *Campylobacter*, variation in human behaviors that put individuals at higher or lower risk for infection, or

80

differences in immunity to campylobacteriosis. Geographic variation in factors related to health care use and stool sample submission practices could also potentially confer differences in rates of campylobacteriosis across the FoodNet sites. Previous studies have found that, in general, approximately 20% of individuals who experience an acute diarrheal illness seek healthcare⁹ and, among these, 19% reported submitting a stool specimen for testing.¹⁰ Factors associated with seeking medical care and submitting a stool sample included bloody diarrhea, duration of diarrhea, age, medical insurance, household income, Human Immunodeficiency Virus infection, and recent international travel.^{10, 11}

The aims of this study were to determine whether there were differences across the FoodNet sites in the risks for campylobacteriosis from various exposures or in the prevalence of these exposure and, among individuals with acute diarrheal illness, whether there was geographic differences in health care use and stool specimen submission practices.

Methods

FoodNet

The Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) is a collaboration between the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Food Safety and Inspection Service, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, and participating state health departments. It is conducted part of CDC's Emerging Infectious Diseases Program. FoodNet surveillance officers in the FoodNet sites routinely contact clinical laboratories serving the FoodNet surveillance

area to ensure that all incident cases of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis among residents of the FoodNet catchment area are ascertained.

FoodNet began active laboratory-based surveillance for culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections in 1996. Initially the surveillance area was comprised of five sites: select counties in California, Connecticut, and Georgia and the entire states of Minnesota and Oregon (14.2 million persons, five percent of the U.S. population). Between 1996 and 2003, the FoodNet surveillance area expanded from a population of 14.2 million persons in five sites to 44.9 million persons in 10 sites.

Case-Control Study of Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis

In 1998-1999, data were collected for a case-control study of sporadic *Campylobacter* infections in the FoodNet sites that has been described previously.⁴ In 1998, the FoodNet surveillance area comprised seven percent of the U.S. population (21 million persons) and included the states of Connecticut, Minnesota, and Oregon and selected counties in California, Georgia, Maryland and New York. Each FoodNet site attempted to enroll \geq 200 cases selected randomly from the culture-confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis that occurred during the study period. Cases were residents of the FoodNet catchment area with a sporadic culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis (as opposed to one linked to an outbreak). Controls were selected using progressive sequential digit dialing beginning with the telephone number of the case. Controls were matched to a case based upon county of residence and the following age strata: 2 to <6 years of age; 6 to <12 years of age; 12 to <18 years of age; 18 to <40 years of age; 40 to <60 years of age; 60 or older years of age.

Informed consent was obtained for all participants prior to interview. Information on cases less than 12 years of age was collected from a parent or guardian and all other cases were interviewed directly. Case-patient interviews were conducted within 21 days of the specimen collection date, and controls were interviewed within seven days of their matched case's interview. Cases and controls were asked about exposures during the seven days prior to the case's onset of illness, including symptoms experienced by the case, demographic characteristics, and recent food consumption patterns and animal exposures.

Differences in Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis

Exposures of interest for this new analysis of the case-control study data were chosen because they were previously found to be associated with *Campylobacter* infection in the original analysis⁴ and because the prevalence of exposure or risk from the exposure was posited to vary by FoodNet site. Conditional logistic regression models, accounting for the matching between cases and controls based on age group and county-of-residence, were used. Case-control pairs with the same age group and county of residence were pooled into the same strata.¹² In univariate analyses, each exposure was considered alone, in a model restricted to each FoodNet site (state), and again in a model including the entire dataset along with an interaction term between the exposure of interest and the FoodNet site. Children ≤ 2 years of age and persons reporting international travel within seven days of illness onset were excluded because risk factors for infants and travelers are different from other groups.¹³

To determine if there were differences in the risk due to a specific exposure, after accounting for other known risk factors for infection, multivariate models including other known risk and protective factors for infection (identified in the initial analysis of these data⁴) were also created. These factors included male sex, having a pet puppy, and consumption of the following: any chicken cooked at home, any pink chicken, fried chicken, any turkey meat at home, any turkey at commercial eating establishment, any meat at home, any meat at commercial eating establishment, any raw seafood, and any berries bought in a store. Using data from all FoodNet sites combined, multivariate models were developed that included an interaction term between the exposure of interest and the FoodNet site. The likelihood ratio test was used to determine if there was significant interaction between FoodNet site and the exposure of interest. The interaction analysis was complicated by the fact that cases were matched to controls on FoodNet site. While some might argue that including an interaction term between a matching factor and another factor of interest is not technically correct because the regression model is not strictly hierarchically well-formulated (i.e., it does not include the effects of FoodNet site as a separate variable in the model), the FoodNet site effects are incorporated into the model as components of the matching factors.¹²

The controls, if selected appropriately, should represent the exposure distribution among the general population. Therefore, the frequency of various exposures among the controls in each FoodNet site was calculated and a chi-square test was used to determine if exposures varied significantly by FoodNet site. When the number of exposed controls was < 5, a Monte Carlo simulation procedure (the MC option in the PROC FREQ procedure in SAS v. 9.2) of Fisher's exact test p-values was used to estimate exact pvalues for these comparisons because Fisher's exact test was too computationally intensive. Comparisons across the FoodNet sites were conducted with a SAS macro that used a Tukey-type multiple comparison procedure, once an overall chi-square indicated there was a significant difference in the prevalence of exposure among controls across the FoodNet sites.^{14, 15}

Population Surveys of Diarrheal Disease and Healthcare Use

Four cross-sectional surveys of the general FoodNet population were administered between 1996 and 2003. The purpose of these surveys was to estimate the overall burden of diarrheal illness and to determine the frequency of health care use and stool sample submission. Individuals were eligible for selection into the survey if they resided in the FoodNet catchment area during the survey cycles (cycle 1: July 1996-June 1997; cycle 2: July 1998-June 1999; cycle 3: March 2000-February 2001; cycle 4: March 2002-February 2003). The methodology used to select individuals for the survey was similar to that employed by the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS).^{16, 17} Briefly, after removing business and non-working telephone numbers, households were contacted using a single-stage, random-digit dialing technique.¹⁷ A computer algorithm was used to select one household member, based upon the total number of males and females in the household. All age groups were eligible for inclusion; if a child aged < 12 years of age was selected, a parent was interviewed to ascertain information about the child's exposures. Approximately the same number of interviews (ten interviews per site per month) was conducted each month in all sites. The survey collected demographic information and asked survey respondents about episodes

of diarrhea or vomiting in the past month. Those reporting symptoms of diarrhea and vomiting were asked about other gastrointestinal symptoms, if they had sought medical care for their illness, and if they had submitted a stool sample for laboratory testing. For the 2002-2003 survey, interviews were conducted in both English and Spanish.

Differences in Health Care Utilization and Stool Sample Submission

The results of the four cycles of the population surveys conducted between 1996 and 2003 were combined, as has been done previously.¹⁸ Individuals who reported having a chronic illness that has diarrhea or vomiting as a major symptom (e.g., Crohn's disease, Irritable Bowel Syndrome) were excluded from the analysis. To better inform the acute gastrointestinal illness case definition used in subsequent analyses (i.e., in order to select individuals that had an illness similar to campylobacteriosis), the proportion of cases from the case-control study that experienced various symptoms of infection (diarrhea, abdominal cramps, fever, bloody stool, and vomiting) and consequences of infection (any days missed from work or inability to perform usual activities) were calculated for each FoodNet site. A chi-square test was used to determine if the frequency of each of these symptoms and consequences of infection varied by FoodNet site. In the event that there were <5 observations at any site, a Fisher's exact test was used. The median and interguartile range (IQR) for the duration of diarrhea, number of days missed from work, and number of days a case was unable to perform his or her usual activities were calculated; the Kruskall-Wallis test was used to determine if there were significant differences in the median across sites.

For the analysis of healthcare use, the dataset was restricted to individuals with an acute diarrheal illness (ADI) (defined as \geq 3 loose stools in a 24-hour period with a duration of \geq 3 days) within the month prior to interview. The duration of illness restriction was used in order to make the cases more similar to those with campylobacteriosis. For the analysis of stool specimen submission for testing, the dataset was restricted to those individuals with an ADI in the month prior to interview who sought health care for their illness.

The proportion of survey respondents who reported seeking health care use and submitting a stool sample for testing was calculated for each FoodNet site and survey cycle. Proportions were weighted to account for selection probabilities (related to the number of telephone lines and people within a household) and to generate population estimates (by adjusting for the age- and sex-distribution based on the Census data for the FoodNet surveillance area for each survey cycle).¹⁹ In order to determine if there were differences in health care use by FoodNet site, a logistic regression model accounting for sample weights (PROC SURVEYLOGISTIC in SAS v9.2), was used. The association between FoodNet site and seeking care was determined alone, as well as after adjusting for survey cycle. In order to determine if there were differences in stool sample weights (PROC SURVEYLOGISTIC in SAS v9.2), was used. The association between FoodNet site, a logistic regression model accounting for survey cycle. In order to determine if there were differences in stool sample submissions by FoodNet site, a logistic regression model accounting for sample weights (PROC SURVEYLOGISTIC in SAS v9.2), was used. The association between FoodNet site, a logistic regression model accounting for sample weights (PROC SURVEYLOGISTIC in SAS v9.2), was used. The association between FoodNet site, a logistic regression model accounting for sample weights (PROC SURVEYLOGISTIC in SAS v9.2), was used. The association between FoodNet site and stool sample submission was determined alone and also after adjusting for survey cycle.

SAS v. 9.1 (Cary, NC) was used for statistical analysis; all hypothesis testing and p-values were two sided using a significance level of 0.05.

87

Results

Differences in Risk Factors for Campylobacteriosis

A total of 2,093 cases were contacted about enrollment in the case-control study. However, 780 either met one of the exclusion criteria or refused to participate, 178 reported traveling internationally in seven days prior to illness onset, 75 were \leq 2 years of age, and 18 had missing county information. There was a total of 1,042 age group and county-of-residence-matched case-control pairs: California (140), Connecticut (237), Georgia (141), Maryland (98), Minnesota (180), New York (81), and Tennessee (165).

There was no evidence of effect modification of risk factors for campylobacteriosis by FoodNet site, either when exposures were considered alone (Table 4.1) or in multivariate models adjusted for other known risk factors for infection (data not shown). There were, however, differences in the frequency of exposure among controls by FoodNet site (Table 4.1 and Figure 4.1). The proportion of controls that reported eating chicken at a commercial eating establishment varied from 18.2% in the Oregon site to 46.1% in the Georgia site (p-value: <0.001). The proportion of controls that reported contact with any animal stool varied from 8.9% in Minnesota to 30.9% in New York (p-value: <0.001). The proportion of controls that drank water from a lake, river or stream varied from 0% in the California and Georgia sites to 5.1% in the Maryland site (p-value: 0.0011). The proportion of controls that reported having contact with a farm animal (chicken, turkey, cow, goat, horse or pig) varied from 2.1% in Georgia to 12.7% in Oregon (p-value: <0.001). There were no significant differences in the proportion of controls who reported drinking unpasteurized milk.

Differences in Health Care Utilization and Stool Sample Submission

The only difference in symptoms of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infection across FoodNet sites was in the proportion of cases in the case-control study that experienced three or more loose stools in a 24 hour period; no other marker was significant (Table 4.2). This varied from 84% of cases in the Oregon site to 99% of cases in the Maryland site (p-value: 0.004). No differences were observed in the median number of days missed from work or days during which cases were prevented from performing usual activities. Over 95% of cases reporting a duration of diarrhea of at least 3 days, and there were no differences in duration by FoodNet site.

The four population surveys included 50,757 respondents without a chronic illness that included vomiting or diarrhea. Of these, 1,023 reported having an acute diarrheal episode similar to campylobacteriosis (defined as \geq 3 loose stools in a 24-hour period for \geq 3 days, during the previous month or four weeks). Among all four population surveys combined, there were no differences in the likelihood of seeking health care for an acute diarrheal illness between FoodNet sites nor in submitting a stool sample for analysis (Table 4.3). Adjusting for survey cycle did not meaningfully changes these associations.

Discussion

Despite an overall decline in the rates of culture-confirmed infection, geographic variation in the rates of campylobacteriosis between the FoodNet sites has been consistently observed since FoodNet began surveillance in 1996.^{1, 2} Reasons for this

geographic variation have remained unclear. This study found no evidence of effect modification of risk factors for campylobacteriosis or geographic differences in health care utilization or stool sample submission practices that explain the observed geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. In this study, no statistically significant geographic differences in the risks for culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infection from eating chicken at a commercial eating establishment, contact with any animal stool, drinking water from a lake, river or stream, contact with a farm animal or drinking unpasteurized milk were found. Additionally, while the proportion of controls exposed to these risk factors did vary by FoodNet site, the pattern of variation did not clearly explain the overall geographic variation in culture-confirmed rates of campylobacteriosis.

Geographic differences in the virulence of *Campylobacter* strains is an unlikely explanation, as the clinical picture was largely consistent across sites. The only significant difference between sites in culture-confirmed case characteristics was in the proportion of cases reporting more than 3 loose stools per 24-hour period (and, even so, this was reported by over eighty percent of cases in all FoodNet sites). Other studies have not found any virulence differences in *Campylobacter* strains that could lead to differences in illness presentation.²⁰

Geographic differences in health care utilization and stool submission practices were not found to statistically vary across the FoodNet sites. There was some suggestion that stool submission practices may be higher in some sites as compared to others. It is possible that a state's public health capacity has an impact on physicians' practices regarding ordering stool samples for testing, although we were unable to assess it in this study. Anecdotal evidence from some high-profile foodborne disease outbreaks during the early 1990s suggested that states with strong public health departments were more likely to have physicians that were aware of and were testing for specific pathogens of interest.²¹ Despite an increase in awareness regarding foodborne diseases, a 2005 survey of emergency department physicians found that approximately half were unaware of which bacterial illnesses were reportable in their respective states.²² Additionally, only 40% and 56% were aware of the importance of stool testing for patients working in daycare or restaurant settings, respectively. A recent assessment of epidemiology capacity in the U.S. conducted by the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists suggested that the epidemiological capacity of state health departments has decreased; the impact of such changes in capacity on the reporting of diseases such as campylobacteriosis is not known.²³ It thus appears that neither health seeking behavior, nor risk factors exhibit geographic differences that explain the observed variation in incidence. Similarly, we found that geographic differences in laboratory practices do not explain the variation in incidence (Chapter 5).

Extremely high rates of campylobacteriosis have been observed in other countries, particularly Iceland and New Zealand. Studies conducted in these countries may help elucidate potential reasons for the geographic variation observed in the U.S. In Iceland, rates of campylobacteriosis reached 157/100,000 in 1999, and the majority of infections were thought to be a result of consumption of *Campylobacter*-contaminated poultry.²⁴ In order to curb such high rates, the government in Iceland instituted *Campylobacter* surveillance on poultry farms and required that any chicken from *Campylobacter*-positive poultry flocks had to be frozen before being sold to consumers.

(Studies have shown that freezing chicken meat can lead to a two-log reduction in the amount of *Campylobacter*.^{25, 26}) Poultry from *Campylobacter*-free flocks could be labeled and sold as "fresh" chicken. After the implementation of these control measures, the incidence of campylobacteriosis in Iceland decreased dramaticically.²⁷

During the 1990s, the incidence of campylobacteriosis in New Zealand increased steadily as well. According to Baker et al. (2007), this increase was not due to increased surveillance or testing, as a comparison between hospitalized and all cases showed a similar temporal pattern.²⁸ Reasons postulated as causes of the increase included changes in human behavior (increased consumption of poultry, increased consumption of meals outside of the home) and increased ambient temperature. As in Iceland, a large proportion of cases are attributed to consumption of contaminated poultry products,²⁹ and therefore recent efforts have focused on reducing the microbial load of *Campylobacter* on poultry in New Zealand.³⁰

Given the focus on curbing *Campylobacter* contamination of poultry in other countries that have high rates of campylobacteriosis, perhaps differences in the occurrence or quantity of *Campylobacter* on poultry contribute to the substantially higher rates of campylobacteriosis in the California FoodNet site. Although no quantification of the amount of *Campylobacter* on poultry samples was conducted, at least one study has looked at the prevalence of *Campylobacter* in retail meat samples (including chicken) across the FoodNet sites and found little difference.³¹. Variation in freezing practices of poultry meat may also be important, as consumption of fresh (unfrozen) chicken has been shown to be a stronger risk factor for *Campylobacter* on poultry

decrease when meat is frozen.²⁶ Notably, in 1993, California instituted a unique state– specific regulation that banned the labeling of previously-frozen chicken as "fresh."³³ Future studies that better quantify the relative amount of *Campylobacter* on poultry across the FoodNet sites would be useful.

Additional studies might also focus on geographic differences in immunity to *Campylobacter*, as a recent review by Havelaar et al. (2009) suggested that ignoring immunity to *Campylobacter* in epidemiological studies may lead to biased study results.²⁰ For instance, a recent case-control study of campylobacteriosis in the U.K. found that individuals who were habitual consumers of chicken had a lower risk of infection with *Campylobacter* than those who consumed chicken less often, suggesting that this risk for illness might be modified by protective immunity.³⁴ In the same study, recent dog owners had an increased risk of campylobacteriosis, whereas those who had owned dogs for a longer period of time did not have the same risk. Immunity to *Campylobacter* does not appear to prevent infection with the bacteria, but, rather, to reduce or eliminate illness symptoms. Previous studies have shown that habitual unpasteurized milk drinkers and long-term poultry abattoir workers are less likely to develop symptoms of *Campylobacter* infection and that they mount a strong antibody response to *Campylobacter* infection.^{35, 36} The specificity of an individual's immunity to a specific *Campylobacter* strain may also be important. Miller et al. (2005) compared the age of infection with the infecting *Campylobacter* serotype from a collection of over two thousand stool samples.³⁷ Individuals 40 years of age and older were more likely than individuals less than 40 years of age to be infected with "uncommon" (found in at less than 10% of cases, compared to common serotypes found in at least 10% of cases)
serotypes. The authors suggested that immunity may be the reason for this change in the serotype distribution, as well as for the lower incidence of campylobacteriosis in individuals of older ages. The seroprevalence of antibodies to *Campylobacter* in the general U.S. population is mainly undetermined, although a study by Belongia et al. (2003) showed that by 15-18 years of age, close to 90% of children residing on farms in Wisconsin tested positive for antibodies to *Campylobacter*, compared to 60% in children not living on farms.³⁸ A recent study conducted in the Netherlands found that by 20 years of age, close to 100% of individuals surveyed had a measureable serological response to *Campylobacter*. The effect of this could be assessed with a targeted serosurvey. If geographic differences in population immunity play a role, we would predict that Maryland would have higher immunity levels, and California would have the lowest. If they did not play a role, we would expect the higher incidence in California to have produced the higher population immunity.

This study has several limitations. The analysis of geographic differences in risk factors for campylobacteriosis is limited to the identification of factors associated with culture-confirmed infection with *Campylobacter*. Cases may have been more likely to recall potentially risky food exposures that they attribute as the cause of their illness. Additionally, the cases likely represented the sickest individuals infected with *Campylobacter* because they visited a health care professional, had a stool sample taken, and the sample yielded *Campylobacter*. The requirements used for control selection, primarily that individuals who reported diarrheal illness within 28 days prior to interview were excluded, may have biased the control group in that they may have represented generally healthier individuals. Despite combining multiple cycles of the

population survey, the number of individuals who sought care for an acute diarrheal illness was small, particularly when stratified by FoodNet site. While there appeared to be some differences in the frequency of stool sample submission by site, these were not statistically significant. As the number of individuals included in the general population survey has increased over time¹⁸ and surveys continue to be conducted, future analyses may be better able to examine whether differences in stool sample submission practices exist. However, if differences in healthcare seeking behavior or stool sample submission practices of campylobacteriosis, one would expect to see a similar pattern with other enteric infections.

Future studies should examine differences in the quantification of *Campylobacter* on poultry between the FoodNet sites. Additionally, while this study did not find evidence that differences in risk factors or surveillance artifacts explain the geographic variation in culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* rates among the FoodNet sites, future studies that take into account the immunological response to *Campylobacter* should be considered.

References

1. Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, Marcus R, Segler S, McGivern T, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S165-74.

2. Ailes E, Demma L, Hurd S, Hatch J, Jones TF, Vugia D, et al. Continued decline in the incidence of Campylobacter infections, FoodNet 1996-2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2008;5(3):329-37.

3. Vally H, Hall G, Scallan E, Kirk MD, Angulo FJ. Higher rate of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infections in Australia than in the USA: is this due to differences in healthcare-seeking behaviour or stool culture frequency? Epidemiol Infect 2009:1-8.

4. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

5. Eyles R, Niyogi D, Townsend C, Benwell G, Weinstein P. Spatial and temporal patterns of Campylobacter contamination underlying public health risk in the Taieri River, New Zealand. J Environ Qual 2003;32(5):1820-8.

6. Ethelberg S, Simonsen J, Gerner-Smidt P, Olsen KE, Molbak K. Spatial distribution and registry-based case-control analysis of Campylobacter infections in Denmark, 1991-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162(10):1008-15.

7. Kist M, Bereswill S. Campylobacter jejuni. Contrib Microbiol 2001;8:150-65.

8. Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. Br Med J 1977;2(6078):9-11.

9. Scallan E, Majowicz SE, Hall G, Banerjee A, Bowman CL, Daly L, et al. Prevalence of diarrhoea in the community in Australia, Canada, Ireland, and the United States. International Journal of Epidemiology 2005;34(2):454-60.

10. Scallan E, Jones TF, Cronquist A, Thomas S, Frenzen P, Hoefer D, et al. Factors associated with seeking medical care and submitting a stool sample in estimating the burden of foodborne illness. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2006;3(4):432-8.

11. Hennessy TW, Marcus R, Deneen V, Reddy S, Vugia D, Townes J, et al. Survey of physician diagnostic practices for patients with acute diarrhea: clinical and public health implications. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S203-11.

12. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Analysis of Matched Data Using Logistic Regression. In: Logistic Regression: A Self-learning Text. 2nd. ed. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2002:pp. 227-65.

13. Fullerton KE, Ingram LA, Jones TF, Anderson BJ, McCarthy PV, Hurd S, et al. Sporadic campylobacter infection in infants: a population-based surveillance case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26(1):19-24.

14. Elliott AC, Reisch JS. Paper 204-31: Implementing a Multiple Comparison Test for Proportions in a 2xc Crosstabulation in SAS. In: Proceedings of the Thirty-first Annual SAS® Users Group International Conference; 2006; San Francisco, California SAS Institute Inc; 2006.

15. Zar JH. Trends Among Proportions. In: Biostatistical Analysis. Fourth Edition ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1999:565 and Appendix B, Table B.5.

16. Gentry EM, Kalsbeek WD, Hogelin GC, Jones JT, Gaines KL, Forman MR, et al. The behavioral risk factor surveys: II. Design, methods, and estimates from combined state data. Am J Prev Med 1985;1(6):9-14.

17. Remington PL, Smith MY, Williamson DF, Anda RF, Gentry EM, Hogelin GC. Design, characteristics, and usefulness of state-based behavioral risk factor surveillance: 1981-87. Public Health Rep 1988;103(4):366-75.

18. Jones TF, McMillian MB, Scallan E, Frenzen PD, Cronquist AB, Thomas S, et al. A population-based estimate of the substantial burden of diarrhoeal disease in the United States; FoodNet, 1996-2003. Epidemiol Infect 2007;135(2):293-301.

19. Imhoff B, Morse D, Shiferaw B, Hawkins M, Vugia D, Lance-Parker S, et al. Burden of self-reported acute diarrheal illness in FoodNet surveillance areas, 1998-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S219-26.

20. Havelaar AH, van Pelt W, Ang CW, Wagenaar JA, van Putten JP, Gross U, et al. Immunity to Campylobacter: its role in risk assessment and epidemiology. Crit Rev Microbiol 2009;35(1):1-22.

21. Berkelman RL, Bryan RT, Osterholm MT, LeDuc JW, Hughes JM. Infectious disease surveillance: a crumbling foundation. Science 1994;264(5157):368-70.

22. James L, Roberts R, Jones RC, Watson JT, Hota BN, Kampe LM, et al. Emergency care physicians' knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to surveillance for foodborne disease in the United States. Clin Infect Dis 2008;46(8):1264-70.

23. Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists. 2009 Epidemiology Capacity Assessment: Findings and Recommendations. Available at: <u>http://www.cste.org/dnn/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=%2bS%2fEifgcbmM%3d&tabid=36</u> <u>&mid=1496</u>.

24. Reiersen J, Briem H, Hardardottir H, Gunnarsson E, Georgsson F, Gudmundsdottir E, et al. Human Campylobacteriosis Epidemic in Iceland 1998-2000 and Effect of

Interventions Aimed at Poultry and Humans. In: FAO/WHO Global Forum of Food Safety Regulators; 2002; Marrakech, Morocco; 2002.

25. Sandberg M, Hofshagen M, Ostensvik O, Skjerve E, Innocent G. Survival of Campylobacter on Frozen Broiler Carcasses as a Function of Time. Journal of Food Protection 2005;8:1600-5.

26. Georgsson F, Thornorkelsson AE, Geirsdottir M, Reiersen J, Stern NJ. The influence of freezing and duration of storage on Campylobacter and indicator bacteria in broiler carcasses. Food Microbiol 2006;23(7):677-83.

27. Lowman R, Hardardottir H, Kritinsson KG, Sigmundsdottir G, Frioriksdottir V, Reiersen J, et al. Iceland: a review of reduction in human incidence of domestically acquired campylobacteriosis from 2000-2008, concurrent with Iceland's freezing policy. In: 15th International Workshop on Campylobacter, Helicobacter, and Related Organisms; 2009; Niigata, Japan; 2009.

28. Baker MG, Sneyd E, Wilson NA. Is the major increase in notified campylobacteriosis in New Zealand real? Epidemiol Infect 2007;135(1):163-70.

29. Mullner P, Jones G, Noble A, Spencer SEF, Hathaway S, French NP. Source Attribution of Food-Borne Zoonoses in New Zealand: A Modified Hald Model. Risk Analysis 2009;Published Online Ahead of Print (March 30th, 2009).

30. Food Focus May 2008: Poultry processing industry must meet targets. 2008. (Accessed May 29, 2009, at <u>http://www.nzfsa.govt.nz/publications/food-focus/2008-may/page-03.htm.</u>)

31. U.S. Food and Drug Administration and Center for Veterinary Medicine. National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System for Enteric Bacteria (NARMS): NARMS Retail Meat Annual Report, 2004. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, FDA.; 2006.

32. Studahl A, Andersson Y. Risk factors for indigenous campylobacter infection: a Swedish case-control study. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125(2):269-75.

33. Pearson AD, Greenwood M, Healing TD, Rollins D, Shahamat M, Donaldson J, et al. Colonization of broiler chickens by waterborne Campylobacter jejuni. Appl Environ Microbiol 1993;59(4):987-96.

34. Tam CC, Higgins CD, Neal KR, Rodrigues LC, Millership SE, O'Brien SJ. Chicken consumption and use of acid-suppressing medications as risk factors for Campylobacter enteritis, England. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;[Epub ahead of print].

35. Blaser MJ, Sazie E, Williams LP, Jr. The influence of immunity on raw milk--associated Campylobacter infection. Jama 1987;257(1):43-6.

36. Cawthraw SA, Lind L, Kaijser B, Newell DG. Antibodies, directed towards Campylobacter jejuni antigens, in sera from poultry abattoir workers. Clin Exp Immunol 2000;122(1):55-60.

37. Miller G, Dunn GM, Reid TM, Ogden ID, Strachan NJ. Does age acquired immunity confer selective protection to common serotypes of Campylobacter jejuni? BMC Infect Dis 2005;5:66.

38. Belongia EA, Chyou PH, Greenlee RT, Perez-Perez G, Bibb WF, DeVries EO. Diarrhea incidence and farm-related risk factors for Escherichia coli O157:H7 and Campylobacter jejuni antibodies among rural children. J Infect Dis 2003;187(9):1460-8.

Tables and Figures

Table 4.1. Association of exposures with campylobacteriosis, stratified by FoodNet site. Conditional logistic regression models (adjusting for FoodNet site, county and age group) were used. Where indicated, exact models were used if case or control counts were less than 5. FoodNet sites have been listed in order of highest average incidence (1996-2006) to lowest according to Ailes et al. (2008).²

		Exposed	Exposed		
	FoodNet	Cases	Controls	Odds Ratio (95%	
Exposure	Site	N (%)	N (%)	Confidence Interval)	Р
Any chicken at	California	63 (45.0%)	50 (35.7%)	1.44 (0.90, 2.32)	
commercial	Minnesota	72 (40.0%)	43 (23.9%)	2.36 (1.45, 3.82)*	
eating	Oregon	54 (32.7%)	30 (18.2%)	2.12 (1.26, 3.55)*	
establishment	Connecticut	103 (43.5%)	50 (21.1%)	2.95 (1.96, 4.45)*	0.2273
(excluding deli	New York	29 (35.8%)	17 (21.0%)	2.79 (1.27, 6.16)*	
meat, pot pie,	Georgia	101 (71.6%)	65 (46.1%)	3.68 (2.13, 6.34)*	
salad)	Maryland	39 (39.8%)	18 (18.4%)	2.64 (1.36, 5.13)*	
Contact with	California	22 (15.7%)	20 (14.3%)	1.13 (0.58, 2.20)	
any animal stool	I Minnesota	39 (21.7%)	16 (8.9%)	3.35 (1.69, 6.65)*	
	Oregon	63 (38.2%)	42 (25.5%)	1.78 (1.12, 2.82)*	
	Connecticut	39 (16.5%)	34 (14.4%)	1.17 (0.71, 1.93)	0.0979
	New York	25 (30.9%)	25 (30.9%)	0.83 (0.41, 1.67)	
	Georgia	30 (21.3%)	19 (13.5%)	1.68 (0.90, 3.15)	
	Maryland	17 (17.4%)	10 (10.2%)	1.99 (0.85, 4.70)	

Drank any	California	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.7%)	1.00 (0.01, 78.50)^
unpasteurized	Minnesota	8 (4.5%)	1 (0.6%)	9.09 (1.17, 414.00)*^
(raw) milk	Oregon	3 (1.9%)	0 (0.0%)	3.85 (0.41, ∞) [∧]
	Connecticut	3 (1.3%)	1 (0.4%)	3.02 (0.24, 158.59) [^] 0.8239
	New York	3 (3.8%)	1 (1.3%)	2.84 (0.23, 149.61) [^]
	Georgia	1 (0.7%)	1 (0.7%)	1.07 (0.01, 90.50) [^]
	Maryland			
Drank	California	2 (1.5%)	0 (0.0%)	2.85 (0.20, ∞)^
untreated water	Minnesota	8 (4.6%)	2 (1.1%)	3.39 (0.66, 33.26) [^]
from lake, river	Oregon	19 (11.9%)	7 (4.3%)	3.29 (1.31, 8.24)*
or stream	Connecticut	3 (1.3%)	1 (0.4%)	3.03 (0.24, 158.85) [^] 0.5605
	New York	2 (2.6%)	1 (1.2%)	1.87 (0.09, 116.18) [^]
	Georgia	4 (2.8%)	0 (0.0%)	6.20 (0.75, ∞) [^]
	Maryland	1 (1.0%)	5 (5.1%)	0.24 (0.00, 2.49) [^]
Had contact	California	3 (2.2%)	5 (3.6%)	0.56 (0.08, 3.09) [^]
with a farm	Minnesota	32 (18.0%)	13 (7.3%)	3.43 (1.50, 7.82)*
animal (chicken,	Oregon	33 (20.5%)	21 (12.7%)	2.12 (1.10, 4.08)*
turkey, cow,	Connecticut	10 (4.2%)	7 (3.0%)	1.39 (0.52, 3.77) 0.3990
goat, horse or	New York	11 (13.6%)	7 (8.6%)	1.34 (0.33, 5.45)
pig)	Georgia	9 (6.4%)	3 (2.1%)	3.36 (0.61, 34.26) [^]
	Maryland	10 (10.4%)	4 (4.3%)	3.31 (0.81, 19.35) [^]

* P<0.05 ^ Exact odds ratio

Table 4.2. Frequency of case characteristics and consequences of infection, by FoodNet site, 1998 FoodNet case-control study of risk factors for campylobacteriosis. FoodNet sites have been listed in order of highest average incidence (1996-2006) to lowest according to Ailes et al. (2008).²

	(CA	I	ИN	(OR	(СТ]	NY		GA	I	MD	
	(N:	=140)	(N=	=180)	(N=	=165)	(N:	=237)	(N	(=81)	(N	=141)	(N	=98)	Р
	N	(%)	N	(%)	N	(%)	N	(%)	Ν	(%)	N	(%)	N	(%)	
Diarrhea	140	(100)	180	(100)	165	(100)	237	(100)	81	(100)	141	(100)	97	(99)	0.171
Abdominal	120	(86)*	155	(87)*	144	(01)*	201	(85)*	72	(89)	132	(94)	79	(85)*	0.004
cramps	120	(00)	155	(07)	177	()1)	201	(05)	12	(0))	152	())	1)	(05)	0.004
\geq 3 stools in 24	120	(86)	159	(89)*	130	(84)	204	(86)	70	(88)*	122	(87)	95	(00)*	0.214
hour period	120	(00)	157	(0)	157	(0+)	204	(00)	70	(00)	122	(07)))	()))	0.214
Fever	109	(79)*	146	(85)*	130	(81)*	191	(85)*	66	(88)*	123	(90)*	86	(90)*	0.104
Blood in stool	58	(45)*	84	(50)*	73	(47)*	86	(39)*	37	(49)*	65	(50)*	45	(51)*	0.315
Vomiting	45	(32)	46	(26)*	54	(33)*	61	(26)*	23	(28)	49	(35)	34	(36)*	0.284
Duration of															
diarrhea <u>></u> 3	121	(94)*	163	(99)*	143	(97)*	205	(95)*	77	(97)*	125	(95)*	88	(97)*	0.119
days															
No. days															
(Median	5	(4-7)	6	(5-8)	6	(5-8)	6	(4-8)	7	(5-8)	6	(4-10)	6	(4-8)	0.308
(IQR))															
Miss any work	74	(93)*	85	(88)*	81	(88)*	133	(90)*	45	(90)*	92	(93)*	46	(87)*	0.804
No. days															
(Median	3	(2-4)	3	(2-5)	3	(2-4)	3	(2-5)	3.5	(2-5)	3	(2-5)	3	(2-5)	0.619
(IQR))															
Prevented															
from usual	120	(86)	157	(88)*	148	(90)	211	(89)	67	(83)	128	(91)	87	(89)	0.589
activities															
No. days															
(Median	5	(4-7)	5	(4-7)	5	(4-7)	5	(3-7)	5.5	(4-7)	5	(3-7)	5	(4-7)	0.888
(IQR))															

Table 4.3. Association between FoodNet site and seeking care or being asked to submit a stool sample for testing, among those who reported an acute diarrheal episode with duration of three or more days during the previous one month or four weeks.

Outcome variable	FoodNet Site	Percent (weighted)	Std. error	OI	R (95% CI)	Р
Seeking Care	California	27.09	4.74	1.12	(0.45, 2.79)	0.1768
(Among those	Colorado	24.89	7.42]	Referent	
with an acute	Minnesota	27.81	4.55	1.16	(0.47, 2.86)	
diarrheal illness	Oregon	26.13	4.66	1.07	(0.43, 2.66)	
last \geq 3 days)	Connecticut	38.54	5.08	1.89	(0.78, 4.60)	
(N=1,023 survey	New York	38.32	6.24	1.88	(0.73, 4.79)	
respondents)	Georgia	25.41	4.33	1.03	(0.42, 2.53)	
	Tennessee	30.95	6.49	1.35	(0.51, 3.62)	
	Maryland	43.50	7.08	2.32	(0.89, 6.10)	
Asked to submit	California	31.62	8.43	2.02	(0.29, 14.29)	0.7542
a stool specimen	Colorado	18.64	13.74]	Referent	
(Among those	Minnesota	40.99	9.53	3.03	(0.43, 21.53)	
who sought care)	Oregon	23.80	10.60	1.36	(0.16, 11.58)	
(N=326 survey	Connecticut	23.83	7.16	1.37	(0.19, 9.70)	
respondents)	New York	37.65	11.01	2.64	(0.35, 19.96)	
	Georgia	23.00	7.79	1.30	(0.18, 9.62)	
	Tennessee	20.14	8.49	1.10	(0.14, 8.82)	
	Maryland	24.12	11.19	1.39	(0.16, 12.13)	

*OR=odds ratio; P=likelihood ratio p-value





CHAPTER 5. IS THERE GEOGRAPHIC VARIATION IN CLINICAL LABORATORY PRACTICES FOR THE DETECTION OF *CAMPYLOBACTER* IN THE FOODNET SITES?

Abstract

Campylobacter is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States; however, rates of culture-confirmed infections vary geographically. Variation due to differences in risk exposures could help direct public health interventions; however, differences may be due to surveillance artifacts. We examined the role of regional differences in clinical laboratory detection methods. In 2005, the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) conducted a survey of clinical laboratories in nine FoodNet surveillance sites to determine the procedures used to detect *Campylobacter* in clinical specimens. Multivariate Poisson regression was used to determine which laboratory procedures and characteristics were associated with the Campylobacter detection frequency (number of isolates/number of stools tested) and whether variation in these practices could account for the observed geographic variation in *Campylobacter* rates. The overall *Campylobacter* detection frequency among FoodNet clinical laboratories in 2004 was 1.5%. In multivariate analyses, FoodNet site (geographic location of the clinical laboratory), method and type of specimen transport, and the number of stools tested for *Campylobacter* in 2004 were the only significant predictors of the *Campylobacter* detection frequency. Variation in clinical laboratory methods do not fully explain the geographic variation in *Campylobacter* rates. Future studies should focus on surveillance artifacts, such as differences in medical care seeking, or variation in risk exposures, to determine reasons for the geographic variation in Campylobacter incidence in the U.S.

Introduction

Campylobacter is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States (U.S.), resulting in an estimated 2 million illnesses annually.¹ Surveillance data on the incidence of culture-confirmed infections are available from selected sites participating in the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet).² Since FoodNet began in 1996, striking geographic variation in *Campylobacter* rates has been consistently observed, with the average annual incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections from 1996-2006 ranging from 7/100,000 in both Maryland and Tennessee to 34/100,000 in California.³ Reasons for this geographic variation are

unclear. It is possible that regional differences are real, that is, due to regional variation in the risk factors for infection. However, differences may be due to regional variation in the surveillance steps necessary for a culture-confirmed case to be ascertained in surveillance, such as in medical care seeking, stool sample submission, or laboratory testing practices.^{4, 5}

While >95% of clinical laboratories in the FoodNet sites routinely culture stool specimens for *Campylobacter*,⁶ the detection and identification of *Campylobacter* from a clinical specimen is a complex process involving multiple steps. In 2003, the American Society for Microbiology (ASM) recommended a set of procedures for the detection and identification of typical thermotolerant *Campylobacter* species (e.g., *C. jejuni* and *C. coli*) from a stool specimen as follows (see Figure 5.1): use transport media (such as Cary-Blair) if the specimen transport time is > 2 hours; process the sample immediately upon receipt in the laboratory or store the sample at 4° Celsius (in transport media) upon receipt in the laboratory; incubate culture plates at 5% O₂, 10% CO₂, 85% N₂ using a method other than a candle jar to create these conditions; utilize selective media such as Campy CVA or CCDA on culture plates; and incubate plates at 42° Celsius for at least 48 hours.⁷ Given the complexity of *Campylobacter* detection and identification methods and the fact that *Campylobacter* bacteria are particularly sensitive to changes in temperature, humidity and oxygen concentration, differences in *Campylobacter* methods between clinical laboratories in FoodNet sites may explain the geographic variation in rates of culture-confirmed cases.

A survey of the clinical laboratories in nine FoodNet sites was conducted in 2005 to determine the methods used to detect *Campylobacter* in stool, The goal of this analysis was to examine whether site-to-site variation in clinical laboratory practices could account for the geographic variation observed in rates of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites.

Methods

FoodNet

The Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) is a collaborative program between the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Agriculture's Food Safety and Inspection Service, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, and participating state health departments conducted under the aegis of CDC's Emerging Infectious Diseases Program. In 2004, the FoodNet catchment area comprised 15% of the U.S. population (44.5 million people) and included the entire states of Connecticut, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesota, New Mexico, Oregon and Tennessee and selected counties in California, Colorado and New York. FoodNet surveillance officers in the FoodNet sites routinely contact clinical laboratories serving the FoodNet surveillance area to ensure that all incident cases of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis among residents of the FoodNet catchment area are ascertained.²

Survey Data

In 2005, surveys were mailed to the lead microbiologist at 589 clinical laboratories in nine of the ten FoodNet sites (all except New Mexico). FoodNet staff in each FoodNet site subsequently contacted survey non-responders to encourage them to complete the survey. The survey included general questions about laboratory characteristics (e.g., type of laboratory, patient population) and specific questions about the laboratory's 2004 practices for the detection of *Campylobacter*. The lead microbiologists were asked about policies defining which stools should or should not be tested, (e.g., exclusion criteria, such as inpatients hospitalized for > 3 days), specimen transport time and use of transportation media (i.e., Cary-Blair, other, or none), and detection procedures (type of selective media, atmospheric environment, incubation temperature, and incubation time) (see Figure 5.1). Finally, laboratories were asked to report exactly, if possible, or to estimate the number of stool samples submitted for *Campylobacter* testing in 2004 and the number of samples that yielded *Campylobacter*. Completed surveys were returned to FoodNet staff in each site, entered into an Access database, and transferred to CDC for compilation, data cleaning, and analysis.

Statistical Analysis

The median and interquartile range of the *Campylobacter* detection frequency (the number of stools that tested positive for *Campylobacter* at a given laboratory in 2004 divided by the number of stools reportedly tested by that laboratory in 2004) was calculated for each FoodNet site, laboratory characteristic, and laboratory practice. Variables were categorized with cut-points assigned according to the ASM recommended procedure for the detection of *Campylobacter* (see Figure 5.1),⁸ where applicable. Use of correct transportation procedures was defined as transport time < 2 hours, regardless of transport media type, or use of transport media (any type) if transport time was > 2 hours. Use of correct storage procedures was defined as storage of specimens at 4 °C in transport media or processing a sample immediately. Based on the incidence rates of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis from 2004, the sites of California, Colorado and Oregon were considered as high incidence sites, Connecticut, Minnesota, and New York New Mexico were considered moderate incidence sites, and Georgia, Maryland and Tennessee were considered low incidence sites.⁹

A Poisson regression model was created to examine the factors associated with the *Campylobacter* detection frequency. Because the *Campylobacter* counts had a greater variance than would be expected under a Poisson distribution, the standard errors of the parameter estimates were scaled for Poisson overdispersion using the square root of the Pearson chi-square statistic divided by the model degrees of freedom.¹⁰ Referent categories for categorical variables were chosen based upon the method recommended by the ASM in 2003 or, if not applicable, the category that provided the most stable parameter estimates. Georgia was chosen as the referent category in the analysis of the FoodNet sites because it had one of the lowest overall detection frequency of the FoodNet sites.

The main exposure of interest was the FoodNet site but all variables were considered candidates for the final multivariate model. Prior to consideration of confounding, interactions between FoodNet site and laboratory characteristics and procedures were also considered and the final model was screened for multicollinearity using a SAS MACRO (Cary, NC).¹¹ To control for potential confounding by a larger number of stools or more non-*Campylobacter* stool samples tested by the laboratory, categorical variables representing the number of stools tested and the estimated number of *Salmonella* cases ascertained at each laboratory were also considered. The rationale

behind this was that if a laboratory identified a certain number of cases of salmonellosis, it could be assumed that that laboratory's practices were at least sufficient for the identification of Salmonella and so that laboratory would also be more likely to isolate *Campylobacter* as well. Additionally, we thought that the more stool specimens a laboratory received, the better the laboratory might be at detecting *Campylobacter* (simply by having more practice doing so). The number of Salmonella cases at each laboratory was calculated indirectly by using a laboratory identification number or name to link the laboratory survey data to the Salmonella surveillance data for 2004 by laboratory identification number or name.⁹ Categories of the number of Salmonella cases identified in FoodNet surveillance at a laboratory in 2004 were created by dichotomizing the number of cases at the median (<5 cases and > 5 cases). Using the laboratory survey data, categories of the number of stool specimens tested in 2004 were created (< 276 stool samples, 276-858 samples, >859 samples) based upon dividing the data from all eligible laboratories in terciles. Assessment of confounding of the association between FoodNet site and the *Campylobacter* detection frequency was assessed using the method recommended by Kleinbaum et al. (2007) by examining whether removal of a variable from the final multivariate model (containing all variables) meaningfully changed (set a prior at > 10%) the rate ratio associated with any FoodNet site.¹²

All analyses were conducted using SAS v.9.2 (Cary, NC). All hypothesis tests and reported p-values were two-sided.

Results

Survey Data

Of 584 laboratories surveyed, 534 (91%) returned a completed questionnaire. Of these, 411 (77%) reported testing stools on-site for *Campylobacter*, 102 (19%) sent stools offsite for testing, and 21 (4%) did not test for *Campylobacter* (Table 5.1). These 411 laboratories were responsible for 4,127 (77%) of the 5,343 culture-confirmed cases of *Campylobacter* ascertained by the nine FoodNet sites in 2004 (83% of the 4,949 cases with the laboratory name provided). The *Campylobacter* detection frequency could be calculated for 376 (91%) of the 411 laboratories (i.e., those that reported both the number of stools tested in 2004 and the number of stools that tested positive for *Campylobacter*) (Table 5.1). Of these 376 laboratories, two were excluded because their reported detection frequencies were 100%. There were no significant differences in the reported laboratory characteristics or practices between these 374 laboratories and the 37 that tested for *Campylobacter* onsite but did not provide enough data to calculate the *Campylobacter* detection frequency.

In 2004, these 374 laboratories tested a combined total of 411,473 stool samples and detected *Campylobacter* in 6,199 (1.51%) samples (interquartile range: 0.44% to 1.93%). The number of laboratories per FoodNet site ranged from 18 in Colorado to 69 in Georgia. Most (318; 85%) clinical laboratories were hospital-based, 19 (5%) were government laboratories, and 14 (4%) were commercial reference laboratories. The remaining 23 (6%) laboratories identified themselves as clinic-based or "other" laboratories. *Campylobacter* testing procedures were performed by multiple personnel in 305 (82%) of laboratories (data not shown).

Statistical Analysis

In univariate analysis, the factors that were significantly associated with the *Campylobacter* detection frequency were FoodNet site, type of laboratory, stool testing requirements, method and type of transport media use, the percent of stools transported in transport media, type of selective media used (Campy-BAP versus other), holding plates before placing them in the incubator, method used to create appropriate atmospheric environment, and the number of stools tested in 2004 (Table 5.2).

After adjusting for all other variables, FoodNet site, type of transport media used, and the number of stool specimens tested in 2004 all remained significant predictors of the *Campylobacter* detection frequency (Table 5.3). Consideration of interactions between laboratory procedures and FoodNet site in the model containing all variables of interest was not possible due to multicollinearity (condition indices > 30). After adjusting for the various laboratory characteristics and practices, the *Campylobacter* detection frequency was twice as high in the high and moderate incidence sites such as Minnesota (adjusted rate ratio (aRR): 2.36, 95% CI: 1.56, 3.56), Oregon (aRR: 2.28, 95% CI: 1.47, 3.56) and Colorado (aRR: 2.21, 95% CI: 1.25, 3.90) and over fifty percent higher in the high incidence site of California (aRR: 1.81, 95 % CI: 1.17, 2.80) and moderate incidence site of Connecticut (aRR: 1.60, 95 % CI: 1.04, 2.47) than in Georgia, a low incidence site. There was no significant difference in *Campylobacter* detection frequencies in New York, a moderate incidence site, and Maryland and Tennessee, both low incidence sites, compared to Georgia.

Despite multicollinearity in a model containing all variables, in a model containing only FoodNet site, type of transport media used, and the number of stools

112

tested in 2004 (the only three significant variables in the multivariate analyses), it was possible to examine the interaction between FoodNet site and transport media use. In this model, the interaction between FoodNet site and type of transport media used was significant (p=0.002) (Table 5.4). Four sites had significantly higher *Campylobacter* detection frequencies among laboratories that used Cary-Blair transport media as compared to laboratories in that site that did not use transport media: California, a high incidence site, Connecticut and New York, moderate incidence sites, and, Maryland, a low incidence site.

Discussion

We examined the impact of regional differences in clinical laboratory practices on the geographic variation observed in culture-confirmed rates of campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites. FoodNet site, the type and use of transport media, and the number of stools tested at a laboratory were the most significant predictors of the 2004 *Campylobacter* detection frequency, after adjusting for laboratory characteristics and practices. FoodNet site was the most important predictor of *Campylobacter* detection frequency, indicating that clinical laboratory practices are not the primary driver of the geographic variation in rates of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections.

In this study, the overall mean *Campylobacter* detection frequency in 2004 was 1.5% among FoodNet clinical laboratories. This rate is similar to those found in previous surveys of FoodNet clinical laboratories (1.4% in 1996 and 1.2% in 1999).⁶ The geographic variation in the mean *Campylobacter* detection frequencies for each of the

FoodNet sites closely mirrored the geographic variation observed in reported cultureconfirmed *Campylobacter* incidence rates in 2004, with the highest *Campylobacter* detection frequency and incidence rates in California, Colorado, and Oregon, and the lowest in Georgia, Maryland, and Tennessee.⁹

Variation in *Campylobacter* detection rates among clinical laboratories has been observed in other industrialized countries. In a small 2001 survey of 18 clinical laboratories in Europe, the reported *Campylobacter* detection frequency varied by country, ranging from 2.2 to 6.2%.⁵ However, differences in laboratory practices did not explain the regional difference observed in rates of campylobacteriosis. Surveys conducted among clinical laboratories in New Zealand showed that, although some changes had occurred in the *Campylobacter* detection practices over time (modifications in the type of selective media used and culturing all stools as opposed to only upon physician request), these differences did not explain the marked increase or the regional variation in rates of culture-confirmed campylobacterisosis.¹³

The use of transport media, specifically Cary-Blair transport media, was found to be associated with the *Campylobacter* detection frequency in multivariate analyses. Laboratories that used Cary-Blair transport media were found to have a *Campylobacter* detection frequency fifty percent higher than those laboratories that did not use transport media, after adjusting for other laboratory practices and characteristics, including FoodNet site. Although the impact of transport media varied by FoodNet site, given that transport of the clinical specimen to the laboratory is the first step in the *Campylobacter* detection process, it is not surprising that this factor was a significant predictor of the *Campylobacter* detection frequency. *Campylobacter* organisms are particularly sensitive to changes in temperature, humidity and atmosphere.¹⁴ Transport media provides a protective barrier against desiccation and allows *Campylobacter* in the stool specimen to persist longer at room temperature (25° C) and colder temperatures (4 ° C) than if it were not held in transport media.^{15, 16}

The number of stools tested in 2004 was also a significant predictor of the *Campylobacter* detection frequency in our multivariate analyses. Somewhat surprisingly, there was an inverse relationship between the *Campylobacter* detection frequency and the number of stools tested. At least one previous study found that testing more stool specimens increases the likelihood of detecting a bacterial pathogen.¹⁷ However, we have no data to determine if the laboratories that tested more stool samples were more likely to test multiple samples from the same patient. Another possibility is that laboratories that were testing more stools had less stringent guidelines on which stool samples should be tested for *Campylobacter*. For example, these laboratories might be routinely testing all stools for *Campylobacter* rather than excluding specimens from individuals who had been hospitalized for three or more days and are more likely to have nosocomial infections with other pathogens. The American College of Pathologists recommended in 1996 that routine bacterial cultures not be performed on individuals hospitalized for 3 or more days because the likelihood of detecting *Campylobacter* at this point was low.¹⁸

This study has several limitations. First, the variation in *Campylobacter* detection frequencies could be a result of variation in the number of stools submitted for testing due to non-*Campylobacter* enteric illnesses. In previous stool screening studies, *Campylobacter* has been identified in anywhere from two to nine percent of samples,

and no pathogen was identified in approximately half of all samples.¹⁹⁻²¹ By including a variable for the number of culture-confirmed cases of salmonellosis identified at a given laboratory and the total number of stools tested at each laboratory, we hoped to control for potential confounding by a larger number of stools or more non-*Campylobacter* stool samples being tested. Secondly, some clinical laboratories, particularly the large referent and government laboratories serving the FoodNet catchment area also serve populations residing outside the catchment area. Therefore, the number of *Campylobacter* diagnoses reported at a given laboratory practices in 2004 may not be reflective of practices from 1996-present (the time period over which geographic variation in rates of campylobacteriosis have been observed). However, we do not believe that clinical laboratory techniques changed dramatically during our period of interest. This is supported by the fact that the *Campylobacter* detection frequency has not varied substantially between the laboratory surveys conducted in 1996, 1999 and 2005.

Clinical diagnostic laboratories are an integral part of the public health response to infectious diseases in general. It is essential to understand factors that influence the ability of clinical laboratories to perform their vital functions, such as changes in staffing, outsourcing and centralization of laboratory testing, and changes in laboratory procedures. In general, the reported practices in clinical laboratories that are part of FoodNet are consistent with the procedures recommended by the ASM in 2003 for the detection of *Campylobacter*. Periodic evaluation of clinical laboratory practices will be helpful in the future to determine what effect changes in diagnostic testing are having on disease surveillance. If variation in clinical laboratory practices is not responsible for the geographic variation observed in the incidence of campylobacteriosis, what is? Differences in the frequency of healthcare use and stool sample submission do not appear to exist (Chapter 4), though these might be expected to affect all enteric pathogens simultaneously. Differences in the population exposure to *Campylobacter* may exist, though they have yet to be identified. The principal risk factors identified for sporadic campylobacteriosis in the United States are related to consumption of poultry, untreated surface water, raw milk, exposure to animals, and foreign travel, and for infants, riding in a shopping cart with packages of meat and poultry.²²⁻²⁵ A preliminary analysis of FoodNet population survey data did not identify regional variation in exposures that would explain the geographic variation.²⁶

In the United States, the striking five-fold geographic variation of *Campylobacter* infections is not explained by differences in laboratory practice. This variation may reflect an unidentified variation in exposure to *Campylobacter* that is not captured by simple risk factor epidemiology, or an as yet unidentified *Campylobacter*-specific difference in health-seeking behavior. Further efforts to characterize determinants of this variation may identify more specific risk determinants and thus pathways to reduce that risk.

References

1. Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, Marcus R, Segler S, McGivern T, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S165-74.

2. Scallan E. Activities, achievements, and lessons learned during the first 10 years of the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network: 1996-2005. Clin Infect Dis 2007;44(5):718-25.

3. Ailes E, Demma L, Hurd S, Hatch J, Jones TF, Vugia D, et al. Continued decline in the incidence of Campylobacter infections, FoodNet 1996-2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2008;5(3):329-37.

4. Vally H, Hall G, Scallan E, Kirk MD, Angulo FJ. Higher rate of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infections in Australia than in the USA: is this due to differences in healthcare-seeking behaviour or stool culture frequency? Epidemiol Infect 2009:1-8.

5. Takkinen J, Ammon A, Robstad O, T B. European Survey on Campylobacter surveillance and diagnosis 2001. Euro Surveill 2003;8(11):207-13.

6. Voetsch AC, Angulo FJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Shallow S, Cassidy M, Thomas SM, et al. Laboratory practices for stool-specimen culture for bacterial pathogens, including Escherichia coli O157:H7, in the FoodNet sites, 1995-2000. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S190-7.

7. Nachamkin I. *Campylobacter* and *Arcobacter*. In: Murray PR, ed. Manual of Clinical Microbiology. 8th ed: American Society for Microbiology; 2003:902-14.

8. Nachamkin I, Engberg, J., and Aarestrup, A.A. Diagnosis and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* species. In: Nachamkin IaB, M.J., ed. Campylobacter. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 2000:45-66.

9. Preliminary FoodNet data on the incidence of infection with pathogens transmitted commonly through food--10 sites, United States, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2005;54(14):352-6.

10. Pedan A. Analysis of Count Data Using the SAS System. In: SAS Users Group International (SUGI) Convention 2001 April 22-25; Long Beach, CA; 2001.

11. Davis CE, Hyde JE, Bangdiwala SI, Nelson JJ. An example of dependencies among variables in a conditional logistic regression. In: S. H. Moolgavkar, Prentice RL, eds. Modern statistical methods in chronic disease epidemiology. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1986:140-7.

12. Kleinbaum DG, Kupper LL, Nizam A, Muller KE. Confounding and Interaction in Regression. In: Applied Regression Analysis and Other Multivariable Methods. 4th ed. Belmont, CA: Thomson Higher Education; 2008:Ch. 11, pp. 198-203.

13. McNicholas AM, Bates M, Kiddle E, Wright J. Is New Zealand's recent increase in campylobacteriosis due to changes in laboratory procedures? A survey of 69 medical laboratories. N Z Med J 1995;108(1011):459-61.

14. Altekruse SF, Stern NJ, Fields PI, Swerdlow DL. Campylobacter jejuni--an emerging foodborne pathogen. Emerg Infect Dis 1999;5(1):28-35.

15. Wang WL, Reller LB, Smallwood B, Luechtefeld NW, Blaser MJ. Evaluation of transport media for Campylobacter jejuni in human fecal specimens. J Clin Microbiol 1983;18(4):803-7.

16. Wasfy M, Oyofo B, Elgindy A, Churilla A. Comparison of preservation media for storage of stool samples. J Clin Microbiol 1995;33(8):2176-8.

17. Ethelberg S, Olsen KE, Gerner-Smidt P, Molbak K. The significance of the number of submitted samples and patient-related factors for faecal bacterial diagnostics. Clin Microbiol Infect 2007;13(11):1095-9.

18. Valenstein P, Pfaller M, Yungbluth M. The use and abuse of routine stool microbiology: a College of American Pathologists Q-probes study of 601 institutions. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1996;120(2):206-11.

19. Klein EJ, Boster DR, Stapp JR, Wells JG, Qin X, Clausen CR, et al. Diarrhea etiology in a children's hospital emergency department: A prospective cohort study. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2006;43(7):807-13.

20. Amar CFL, East CL, Gray J, Iturriza-Gomara M, Maclure EA, McLauchlin J. Detection by PCR of eight groups of enteric pathogens in 4,627 faecal samples: reexamination of the English case-control Infectious Intestinal Disease Study (1993-1996). European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 2007;26(5):311-23.

21. de Wit MA, Koopmans MP, Kortbeek LM, Wannet WJ, Vinje J, van Leusden F, et al. Sensor, a population-based cohort study on gastroenteritis in the Netherlands: incidence and etiology. Am J Epidemiol 2001;154(7):666-74.

22. C. K. Olson, S. Ethelberg, W. van Pelt, Tauxe RV. Epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni Infections in Industrialized Nations. In: I. Nachamkin, C. M. Szymanski, M. J. Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. Third ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press 2008:163–91.

23. Effler P, Ieong MC, Kimura A, Nakata M, Burr R, Cremer E, et al. Sporadic Campylobacter jejuni infections in Hawaii: associations with prior antibiotic use and commercially prepared chicken. J Infect Dis 2001;183(7):1152-5.

24. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

25. Fullerton KE, Ingram LA, Jones TF, Anderson BJ, McCarthy PV, Hurd S, et al. Sporadic campylobacter infection in infants: a population-based surveillance case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26(1):19-24.

26. H.P. Green, Jr. GM, J. M. Nelson, D. Norton, P. Clogher, S. Zansky, et al. Correlates of Campylobacter incidence among FoodNet sites. In: Fifth International Conference on Emerging Infectious Diseases 2006 March 19-22nd, 2006; Atlanta, GA; 2006.

Tables and Figures

Table 5.1. Frequency and rate of testing of stool specimens at clinical laboratories in the2004 FoodNet *Campylobacter* laboratory survey

		No. of labora	tories	No. of specimens			
		Reported	Reported the				
	G	testing stools	no. of	T			
	Surv-	for Campylo-	specimens	Tes	ted, median		
FoodNet Site	eyed	bacter	tested*		(range)	Total	
	<u>No.</u>	<u>No. (%)</u>	<u>No. (%)</u>				
California	26	24 (92%)	24 (100%)	773.5	(10 12,328)	51,724	
Colorado	18	18 (100%)	18 (100%)	752	(50 15,500)	34,979	
Connecticut	33	32 (97%)	32 (100%)	820	(7 14,755)	42,857	
Georgia	90	81 (90%)	73 (90%)	500	(65 26,548)	78,542	
Maryland	46	42 (91%)	39 (93%)	825	(10 21,000)	52,818	
Minnesota	112	67 (60%)	63 (94%)	241	(18 4,600)	34,835	
New York	56	46 (82%)	43 (93%)	495.5	(11 33,863)	77,112	
Oregon	41	41 (100%)	38 (93%)	277.5	(57 4,694)	29,365	
Tennessee	112	60 (54%)	60 (100%)	509	(4 4,000)	52,105	
All Sites	534	411 (77%)	390 (95%)	519	(4 33,863)	454,337	

* Reported number of specimens tested for *Campylobacter* in 2004.

			Campylobacter		Poi	Poisson Regression Model			
			Detection	n Frequency		Bivariate			
Characteristi	c	Ν	Median	IQR	RR	(95% CI)	Р		
FoodNet Site	California	23	1.67	0.84 2.75	2.59	(1.86, 3.61)			
	Colorado	18	1.62	1.29 2.40	1.79	(1.22, 2.61)			
	Connecticut	29	1.05	0.66 2.00	1.89	(1.31, 2.72)			
	Georgia	69	0.75	0.33 1.33	ref		< 0.0001*		
	Maryland	38	0.55	0.31 0.88	1.57	(1.10, 2.25)			
	Minnesota	62	1.59	0.76 2.38	2.38	(1.66, 3.41)			
	New York	41	1.27	0.59 1.67	1.54	(1.09, 2.18)			
	Oregon	36	1.92	0.91 2.74	2.43	(1.68, 3.52)			
	Tennessee	58	0.72	0.39 1.36	1.01	(0.68, 1.51)			
Hospital-	Yes	318	1.01	0.45 1.76	0.61	(0.52, 0.72)			
based		56	1.33	0.05 2.20	ref		< 0.0001 *		
laboratory	No								
Test all stools	All stools	202	1.09	0.36 2.00	ref		0.0030*		
	routinely tested								
	No 3 day	120	1.02	0.51 1.97	0.85	(0.70, 1.03)			
	inpatient								
	No other day	21	0.88	0.35 1.69	0.75	(0.51, 1.09)			
	inpatient								
	Other	31	0.94	0.49 1.88	1.32	(1.06, 1.66)			
Transport	Yes	156	1.00	0.35 2.00	0.87	(0.71, 1.06)			
time <u><</u> 2	Unknown	44	0.86	0.38 1.65	0.99	(0.80, 1.23)			
hours	No	174	1.10	0.57 1.93	ref		0.3698		
Correctly	Yes	323	1.09	0.44 2.00	1.44	(1.02, 2.04)			
transport	No	38	0.98	0.59 1.32	ref		0.0303*		
specimens ¹	Unknown	13	0.44	0.00 1.11					
Type of	Cary-Blair	211	1.33	0.60 2.30	1.96	(1.53, 2.51)			

interquartile range, and Poisson regression model results.

Table 5.2. Number of laboratories, Campylobacter detection rate median and

transport	Other	47	0.89	0.25 1.54	1.30	(0.88, 1.91)	
media	None	118	0.73	0.32 1.37	ref		< 0.0001 *
Stools	0-50%	215	0.89	0.35 1.66	ref		< 0.0001 *
transported	51-90%	62	1.42	0.75 2.37	1.67	(1.33, 2.08)	
in transport	91-100%	64	1.41	0.44 2.31	1.75	(1.44, 2.13)	
media	Unknown	35	0.95	0.67 1.64			
Correctly	Yes	91	1.21	0.46 2.17	0.85	(0.67, 1.08)	
store	No	268	1.00	0.44 1.91	ref		0.1729
specimens ²	Unknown	15	0.89	0.00 1.30			
Use	Yes	20	0.67	0.28 1.55	0.71	(0.44, 1.15)	
enrichment ³	No	354	1.05	0.44 1.98	ref		0.1376
Use filtration	⁴ Yes	5	1.02	0.89 1.30	0.64	(0.24, 1.71)	
	No	364	1.02	0.43 1.91	ref		0.3408
	Unknown	5	2.46	0.44 2.76			
Use Campy-	Yes	189	0.87	0.39 1.56	0.72	(0.61, 0.84)	
Bap selective		174	1.31	0.47 2.30	ref		0.0001*
media	No						
	Unknown	11	1.02	0.36 2.00			
Hold plates	No	279	1.00	0.41 1.88	0.68	(0.57, 0.81)	
before	Unknown	52	0.98	0.28 1.76	0.99	(0.75, 1.31)	
incubating	Yes	43	1.39	0.84 2.37	ref		<0.0001*
Atmospheric	BBL Biobag	84	0.96	0.24 2.00	ref		0.0067*
conditions	CFJ						
	BBL Campy	76	0.85	0.35 1.52	0.83	(0.55, 1.23)	
	Pouch						
	BBL Campy	83	1.10	0.48 1.98	1.24	(0.89, 1.73)	
	Pak						
	Evacuation &	23	0.85	0.45 1.16	1.24	(0.76, 2.02)	
	Replacement						
	Mitsubishi	29	1.21	0.70 2.26	1.36	(0.93, 1.99)	
	CampyGen						
	Other	68	1.31	0.58 2.12	1.43	(1.03, 1.99)	
	Unknown	11	0.98	0.05 1.60			

Incubation	37 degrees	5	0.67	0.48 0.79	0.45	(0.09, 2.34)	
temperature	Celsius						
	37 and 42	11	1.32	0.60 2.37	0.92	(0.37, 2.28)	
	degrees Celsius						
	Other	7	1.02	0.05 2.12	1.14	(0.55, 2.37)	
	42 degrees	346	1.02	0.42 1.93	ref		0.7109
	Celsius						
	Unknown	5	1.59	0.00 3.33			
Last check	Yes	165	1.05	0.44 1.93	0.99	(0.84, 1.17)	
plates @ 72	No	203	1.02	0.45 2.00	ref		0.9012
hours	Unknown	6	0.60	0.00 1.33			
Number of		123	1.33	0.00 2.08	ref		0.0302*
stools tested	< 276 samples						
in 2004	276-<859	128	0.91	0.52 1.82	0.60	(0.41, 0.87)	
	samples						
	> 859 samples	125	1.05	0.46 1.64	0.72	(0.51, 1.00)	
Salmonella	> 5 cases	179	1.09	0.59 2.00	1.06	(0.89, 1.26)	
cases 2004	\leq 5 cases	197	0.93	0.31 1.88	ref		0.5216

IQR=Interquartile Range; RR=Rate Ratio; aRR=adjusted Rate Ratio; CI=Confidence Interval; P=likelihood ratio test p-value; ref=referent value for Poisson model

* *P* < 0.05

¹ Transport time < 2 hours, regardless of transport media use type, or use of transport media if transport time > 2 hours

² Storage of specimens at 4 °C in transport media or processed immediately

³ Routinely use enrichment broths

⁴Routinely use membrane filtration

		Multivariate**						
Characteristic		aF	aRR (95% CI)					
FoodNet Site	California	1.81	(1.17,	2.80)				
2 0002 00 5100	Colorado	2.21	(1.25,	,				
	Connecticut	1.60	(1.23,	<i>,</i>				
			(1.04,	2.47)	.0.0001	ala		
	Georgia	ref			< 0.0001	*		
	Maryland	1.11	(0.71,	1.74)				
	Minnesota	2.36	(1.56,	3.56)				
	New York	1.36	(0.88,	2.11)				
	Oregon	2.28	(1.47,	3.56)				
	Tennessee	0.98	(0.63,	1.53)				
Type of	Cary-Blair	1.52	(1.01,	2.30)				
transport	Other	1.05	(0.63,	1.77)				
media	None	ref			0.0291	*		
Number of	< 276	ref			0.0157	*		
stools tested in	samples							
2004	276-<859	0.57	(0.37,	0.86)				
	samples							
	> 859	0.52	(0.34,	0.80)				
	samples							

 Table 5.3. Poisson multivariate regression model results.

aRR=adjusted Rate Ratio (adjusted for all other characteristics listed in Table 5.2); CI=Confidence Interval; P=likelihood ratio test p-value;

ref=referent value for Poisson model

* *P* < 0.05

** N=324 (50 observations excluded due to missing values)

Table 5.4. Poisson interaction model including FoodNet site and transport media usetype, adjusted for number of stools tested in 2004.

rooullet site and transport					
media type	Rat	Rate Ratio (95% CI)			
California					
No Trans Media		Referen	t		
Cary-Blair	5.33	(1.94,	14.63)	0.0012	*
Other transport media	6.11	(0.95,	39.30)	0.0567	
Colorado					
No Trans Media		Referen	t		
Cary-Blair	1.10	(0.46,	2.65)	0.8310	
Other transport media	1.17	(0.18,	7.38)	0.8687	
Connecticut					
No Trans Media		Referen	ıt		
Cary-Blair	1.85	(1.08,	3.15)	0.0246	*
Other transport media	1.45	(0.64,	3.26)	0.3694	
Georgia					
No Trans Media		Referen	ıt		
Cary-Blair	0.97	(0.56,	1.67)	0.9096	
Other transport media	0.77	(0.37,	1.62)	0.4929	
Maryland					
No Trans Media		Referen	ıt		
Cary-Blair	3.74	(2.10,	6.65)	<.0001	*
Other transport media	0.83	(0.18,	3.84)	0.8088	
Minnesota					
No Trans Media		Referen	ıt		
Cary-Blair	0.69	(0.41,	1.15)	0.1555	
Other transport media	0.52	(0.18,	1.49)	0.2266	
New York^					
No Trans Media		Referen	ıt		
Cary-Blair	2.72	(1.16,	6.39)	0.0211	*

FoodNet site and transport

Oregon

No Trans Media		Referent	
Cary-Blair	2.41	(0.58, 9.91)	0.2238
Other transport media	2.05	(0.47, 8.90)	0.3362
Tennessee			
No Trans Media		Referent	
Cary-Blair	1.31	(0.75, 2.30)	0.3387
Other transport media	1.18	(0.55, 2.56)	0.6690

Adjusted for category of number of stools tested in 2004

* P < 0.05

^ Not possible to estimate the effect of other transport media due only one response

Figure 5.1. ASM recommended procedures for the detection of *Campylobacter* from stool. Items in gray have not been recommended by the ASM for routine use.



Appendix 5A. Additional Analyses

Frequency of laboratory characteristics by FoodNet site

The frequency of the various laboratory characteristics and procedures by FoodNet site was also performed. In order to determine if there was any significant difference in the proportion of laboratories from each FoodNet site that fell into the various categories, an exact test was used because most factors under consideration had counts of < 5 for at least one FoodNet site. A Monte Carlo simulation procedure (the MC option in the PROC FREQ procedure in SAS v. 9.2) of Fisher's exact test p-values was used to estimate exact p-values for these comparisons because Fisher's exact test was too computationally intensive.[‡]

There were significant differences between the proportion of laboratories that routinely tested all stools as compared to those that exclude stools from individuals hospitalized for three or more days or for other reasons (p-value 0.012) (Table 5A.1). The proportion of laboratories that tested all stools ranged from 31% in Connecticut to 67% in Oregon. Significant site-to-site variation was also observed in the proportion of laboratories that routinely used transport media (p-value: 0.0026). The proportion of laboratories that used transport media ranged from 45% in Maryland to 86% in Oregon. There was also significant variation in the proportion of stools that were transported in transport media (p-value: <0.001). The proportion of laboratories that reported transport media (p-value: <0.001). The proportion of laboratories that reported transport media (p-value: <0.001). The proportion of laboratories that reported transport media from 39% in

[‡] Agresti A. A Survey of Exact Inference for Contingency Tables. Statistical Science 1992;7(1):131-53.

Minnesota to 85% in Tennessee. The proportion of laboratories that reported holding plates before incubating also varied significantly by FoodNet site (p-value <0.001) and ranged from 0% in Oregon to 6% in California. The use of filtration (passing the stool suspension through a filter to remove non-Campylobacter organisms) also varied by FoodNet site (p-value: 0.0246) and, although not reported by most sites, was used by two percent, four percent, and 11% of laboratories in Tennessee, New York and Colorado, respectively. Use of Campy-BAP selective media showed site-to-site variation (p-value: <0.001) and ranged from 6% in Oregon to 68% in Maryland. Sites varied in their use of BBL Biobag CFJ to create an appropriate microaerobic environment for *Campylobacter* as well (p-value: <0.001). Only four percent of laboratories in California used this method compared to 31% of laboratories in Georgia. There was variation by site in the proportion of laboratories that last read plates for *Campylobacter* at 72 hours (p-value: 0.0053), ranging from 22% in New York to 65% in California. FoodNet sites also showed variation in the two variables created to help potentially control for unmeasured variables. The proportion of laboratories that tested less than 276 samples during 2004 varied significantly by site (p-value: <0.001) and ranged from 11% in both Colorado and Maryland to 55% in Minnesota. The proportion of laboratories that detected greater than 5 cases of *Salmonella* in FoodNet surveillance also varied significantly (p-value: <0.001), ranging from 31% in Connecticut to 72% in Oregon. No other significant differences in the frequency of laboratory characteristics or procedures by FoodNet site was observed.
Laboratory profile analyses

As a sub-analysis, a composite variable based upon the recommended procedures used to detect *Campylobacter* was also created. This variable was a tally of the number of the suggested procedures a laboratory used to detect Campylobacter, based upon five recommended by the ASM (2003).[§] A laboratory was given one point for each of the following that the laboratory reported performing: use of correct transportation procedure (transport time less than 2 hours, regardless of transport media use type, or use transport media if transport > 2 hours), use of correct storage procedure (store @ 4 °C in transport media or process immediately), use of suggested selective media (Campy CVA alone), use of suggested incubation temperature (incubate plates at 42 °C), and use of suggested incubation time (incubate plates for at least 72 hours before last read of plate). Laboratories that performed all of these five procedures as suggested by the ASM received a value of five; those that performed four out of the five correctly received a four, etc... If the information on a procedure was missing for a laboratory, it was classified as not performing the specific procedure. A Poisson regression model accounting for overdispersion was created to determine whether there was any difference in the *Campylobacter* detection rate between the levels of the composite variable. To test whether there was a significant linear trend in categories of the profile variable, a Poisson regression model was developed using an ordinal version of the profile variable.

[§] Nachamkin I. *Campylobacter* and *Arcobacter*. In: Murray PR, ed. Manual of Clinical Microbiology. 8th ed: American Society for Microbiology; 2003:902-14.

In the laboratory profile sub-analysis 11 (2.9%) of the 372 laboratories used all five procedures recommended by the ASM, 79 (21.1%) used four, 153 (40.9%) used three, 108 (28.9) used two, 20 (5.4%) used one, and 3 (0.8%) used none. The association between the categorical laboratory profile variable and the *Campylobacter* detection rate was significant (p-value=0.0298). As laboratories used fewer of the ASM-recommended procedures, the *Campylobacter* detection rate decreased (p-value for trend: 0.0081) (Table 5A.2, Figure 5A.1). However, when FoodNet site was included in the model along with the profile variable, the only significant predictor of the *Campylobacter* detection rate was the FoodNet site.

To determine whether the use of correct transport procedures was the main driver of the significance of the profile variable, a modified profile variable was created that excluded information about the correct transport of the specimen. When this variable alone was included in the Poisson model, it was not significant (p<0.05). When it was included in a model with a variable for the correct transport of the specimen, only the correct transport variable was significant (p=.0058). In order to determine if these was effect modification of the modified profile variable by the use of correct transport procedures, a model that also included the interaction between the modified profile variable and the correct transport variable was created. No significant interaction (p<0.05) was found.

Tables and Figures

Table 5A.1 Frequency of laboratory practices and characteristics by FoodNet site	

	CA	CO	СТ	GA	MD	MN	NY	OR	TN	Р
	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	N(%)	*
Test all stools	15(65)	7(39)	9(31)	43(62)	13(34)	36(58)	24(59)	24(67)	31(53)	*
Hospital-based lab	18(78)	14(78)	26(90)	61(88)	31(82)	52(84)	36(88)	26(72)	54(93)	
Transport time < 2	Q(12)	7(44)	11(42)	25(42)	22((1))	25(46)	12(22)	1A(A5)	22(60)	
hours	8(42)	/(44)	11(42)	25(42)	22(01)	23(40)	12(33)	14(45)	32(60)	
Use transport	10(70)	14(70)	21 (72)	42((1)	17(45)	17(7()	22(70)	21(0())	25((0))	*
media	18(78)	14(78)	21(72)	42(61)	1/(45)	4/(/6)	32(78)	31(86)	35(60)	T
Stools in transport	11(50)	11(60)	10(7()	16(71)	20(01)	22(20)	1((12))	17(52)	<i>A</i> 1(0 <i>E</i>)	*
media (<50)	11(50)	11(69)	19(76)	46(74)	30(81)	23(39)	16(42)	1/(53)	41(85)	
Correctly transport	t 21(05)	15(00)	2	52(02)	20(01)	$\mathcal{L}(02)$	27(00)	22(04)	52(05)	
specimens	21(95)	15(88)	26(90)	53(83)	29(81)	56(92)	37(90)	33(94)	53(95)	
Correctly store	2(14)	0(47)	((21)	20(20)	0(25)	1((07)	5(10)		15(20)	
specimens	3(14)	8(47)	6(21)	20(30)	9(25)	16(27)	5(12)	9(26)	15(28)	
Hold plates	6(29)	5(29)	11(39)	3(6)	3(9)	7(15)	5(13)	0(0)	3(6)	*
Enrichment	0(0)	1(6)	1(3)	6(9)	2(5)	3(5)	3(7)	1(3)	3(5)	
Filtration	0(0)	2(11)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	0(0)	1(2)	0(0)	2(4)	*
Campy-Bap media	3(13)	2(12)	15(54)	38(58)	26(68)	41(67)	26(63)	2(6)	36(67)	*
BBL Biobag CFJ	1(4)	2(13)	1(3)	21(31)	5(14)	28(47)	4(10)	8(23)	14(25)	*
Incubate 42°C	23 ⁽¹⁰⁰	17(94)	26(90)	65(94)	35(92)	54(93)	38(93)	34(94)	54(95)	
Read plates @ 72	15(65)	12(72)	1((55)	20(45)	14(20)	20(40)	0(22)	17(40)	22(20)	*
hours	15(65)	13(72)	16(55)	30(45)	14(38)	29(48)	9(22)	17(49)	22(39)	ጥ
< 276 stools	4(17)	2(11)	4(14)	23(33)	4(11)	34(55)	12(29)	17(47)	21(36)	*
Salmonella cases	10(42)		0(21)	00(00 [°]	1.7.(4.5)	44(71)		0((70)	25(50)	*
(> 5)	10(43)	7(39)	9(31)	22(32)	17(45)	44(71)	26(63)	26(72)	35(60)	ሻ

* Monte Carlo simulation exact *P* <0.05

Table 5A.2 Frequency of laboratory profiles and Poisson model results showing the association of the laboratory profile with the Campylobacter detection rate. The "Profile" column shows the total number of "correct" procedures used by the laboratory based on the ASM (2000) guidelines.

		Rate Ratio (95%	
Profile*	N (%)	Confidence Interval)	Р
5 (all) correct	11 (3)	ref	
4 vs 5 correct	79 (21)	1.30 (0.78, 2.16)	
3 vs 5 correct	153 (41)	1.06 (0.65, 1.75)	0.0208
2 vs 5 correct	108 (29)	1.02 (0.61, 1.70)	0.0298
1 vs 5 correct	20 (5)	0.73 (0.36, 1.49)	
0 vs 5 correct	3 (1)	0.16 (0.01, 2.87)	

* Profiles are based on the number of laboratory procedures done correctly, based on ASM (2003) recommended procedures:

Correct transportation procedure: Transport time less than 2 hours (regardless of transport media use type) or use transport media if transport > 2 hours Correct storage procedure: Store @ 4 degrees Celsius in transport media or process immediately

Use suggested selective media: Campy-CVA alone

Use suggested incubation temperature: Incubate plates at 42 degrees Celsius

Use suggested incubation time: Incubate plates for at least 72 hours before last read of plate

Figure 5A.1 Rate Ratios and associated 95% confidence intervals of laboratory profiles. The "Profile" column shows the total number of "correct" procedures used by the laboratory based on the ASM (2003) guidelines.*



* Profiles are based on the number of laboratory procedures done correctly, based on ASM (2003) recommended procedures:

Correct transportation procedure: Transport time less than 2 hours (regardless of transport media use type) or use transport media if transport > 2 hours Correct storage procedure: Store @ 4 degrees Celsius in transport media or process

immediately

Use suggested selective media: Campy-CVA alone

Use suggested incubation temperature: Incubate plates at 42 degrees Celsius

Use suggested incubation time: Incubate plates for at least 72 hours before last read of plate

Appendix 5B. Rationale for Use of Salmonella Data Isolating the Impact of Laboratory Practices

The goal of the laboratory survey analysis was to determine whether differences in clinical laboratory detection methods could explain the geographic variation observed the rates of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis. However, differences in the *Campylobacter* detection rate (the proportion of stools that tested positive for *Campylobacter* at a laboratory in 2004) could be due to factors unrelated to Campylobacter (i.e., more stool samples from non-Campylobacter infected individuals at one laboratory compared to another). Therefore, the method proposed to isolate any differences in the Campylobacter detection rate to those related to laboratory practices was to involve the Salmonella surveillance data. Because the detection of Salmonella from a stool sample is simpler than the detection of *Campylobacter*, the *Salmonella* detection rate was used as a proxy of laboratory competence. Geographic areas with a stable and similar *Salmonella* incidence may have a similar true *Campylobacter* incidence as well. Furthermore, it was hypothesized that any differences in the Campylobacter detection rate among laboratories within the same Salmonella-defined area may be due to differences in laboratory methods.

Using the FoodNet active surveillance data for *Salmonella* from 2004, the number of *Salmonella* cases identified in FoodNet surveillance from each laboratory was calculated. To determine whether this approach was feasible, the 23 laboratories that responded to the survey in California were first examined. Overall, there was significant heterogeneity in the *Salmonella* detection rate (number of cases of salmonellosis

captured in FoodNet surveillance in 2004 from a laboratory divided by number of stools tested) even within the three-county FoodNet catchment area of California. The California data was further subdivided based upon the counties that laboratories each served: Alameda alone, San Francisco alone, Contra Costa alone, or any combination of the three (e.g., Contra Costa and Alameda but not San Francisco, etc...). Within the groupings of counties there still remained significant variation in the *Salmonella* detection rate.

Since the creation of geographic categories based on *Salmonella* rates was difficult and the *Salmonella* detection rates were not homogenous even within these categories in the three-county area of California, we examined whether adjusting for the number of cases of salmonellosis identified at a given laboratory and categories of the number of stool specimens tested could be utilized. If a laboratory had identified a certain number of cases of salmonellosis, it could be assumed that that laboratory's practices were at least sufficient for the identification of *Salmonella* and so perhaps that laboratory would be more likely to be better at *Campylobacter* detection as well. Additionally, perhaps the more stool specimens a laboratory received, the better the laboratory was at detecting *Salmonella* (simply by having more practice doing so).

In order to determine if this approach was plausible, we conducted a comparison of the average annual rates of salmenollosis and campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites (Table 5B.1, Figure 5B.1). No laboratory survey data was used for this analysis. Instead, using *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* active surveillance data from 1996-2006 and annual census population estimates, the annual rate of salmonellosis and campylobacteriosis by FoodNet site and county was calculated. The average annual rate of these infections by county was then calculated and Pearson correlation coefficient (and two-sided p-values) between the rate of salmonellosis and campylobacteriosis were calculated. Scatter plots of the relationship between the average annual rates of campylobacteriosis and salmonellosis were also created. For the FoodNet sites of California, Colorado, Connecticut, New Mexico and Tennessee there was no clear relationship between the rates of salmonellosis and campylobacteriosis. For the sites of Georgia, Maryland, Minnesota, New York and Oregon, however, there was significant (P <0.05) positive correlation. This suggests that our assumption that counties with higher rates of salmonellosis also have higher rates of campylobacteriosis is plausible. Therefore, laboratories that are better at detecting *Salmonella* may also be better at detecting *Campylobacter*.

Tables and Figures

Table 5B.1 Average rates of campylobacteriosis and salmonellosis by FoodNet site and correlation between campylobacteriosis and salmonellosis rates by county.

			Annual Rate* per 100,000 persons				
		Ν		Standard			correlation
Site	Pathogen	(counties)	Mean	Deviation	Minimum	Maximum	coefficient
CA	Campylobacter	3	35.19	16.65	23.42	54.24	0.94225
	Salmonella	3	15.22	3.87	11.46	19.20	0.94223
CO	Campylobacter	7	17.48	4.60	14.48	27.48	0.55835
	Salmonella	7	13.42	1.63	11.69	15.97	0.55655
СТ	Campylobacter	8	16.18	2.42	13.87	21.29	0.17577
	Salmonella	8	13.32	2.31	8.65	16.00	0.1/3//
GA	Campylobacter	159	7.69	5.23	0.00	28.34	0.36068*
	Salmonella	159	27.16	19.10	0.00	101.41	0.30008
MD	Campylobacter	24	7.56	3.61	1.86	17.88	0.47141*
	Salmonella	24	19.23	10.26	9.42	54.69	0.4/141
MN	Campylobacter	87	19.69	9.79	1.64	45.68	0.68786*
	Salmonella	87	11.62	4.78	2.13	25.81	0.08/80
NM	Campylobacter	33	17.91	17.74	0.00	74.09	0 22027
	Salmonella	33	13.42	9.00	0.00	45.23	0.32937
NY	Campylobacter	34	15.02	6.24	0.00	28.33	0 (5244*
	Salmonella	34	11.60	3.96	0.00	20.57	0.65244*
OR	Campylobacter	36	18.72	7.61	4.89	41.82	0 4657*
	Salmonella	36	8.52	3.36	0.00	14.94	0.4657*
TN	Campylobacter	95	7.47	4.51	0.00	20.51	0 12400
	Salmonella	95	12.95	5.54	0.00	29.78	0.13409
	Salmonella	95	12.95	5.54	0.00	29.78	0.13409

*1996-2006 (CA, CT, GA, MN, OR), 1998-2006 (MD, NY), 2000-2006 (TN), 2001-2006

(CO), 2004-2006 (NM)

* *P* <.05











Abstract

In the United States, seasonal variation in rates of *Campylobacter* infections has been consistently observed, with the highest incidence occurring in the summer months. As *Campylobacter* is not thought to multiply readily outside a human or animal host, reasons for this seasonal variation are unclear although some studies have suggested a role for climatic factors such as temperature and precipitation. We used active surveillance data from the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network and meteorological data to assess the relationship between climatic factors and cultureconfirmed infections with Campylobacter. Using a case-crossover study design, we found a modest, but significant, and independent positive association between both minimum temperature and precipitation and an increased odds of campylobacteriosis. The odds of campylobacteriosis increased by six percent for every ten degree (Fahrenheit) increase in the weighted average of minimum temperature three to twelve days prior to specimen collection (adjusted odds ratio of 1.060 and 95% confidence interval of 1.020, 1.090) and the odds of campylobacteriosis were eight percent higher during periods of extreme precipitation compared to those without extreme precipitation (adjusted odds ratio of 1.081 and 95% confidence interval of 1.018, 1.0147). We found no evidence of effect modification of these effects by geographic location or age. Future studies are needed, however, to further elucidate the pathway between these meteorological factors and campylobacteriosis.

Introduction

The incidence of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections in the United States (U.S.) has shown consistent seasonal fluctuations, with a higher incidence often observed during summer months.¹⁻³ Campylobacteriosis is not alone in its seasonal periodicity; many other infectious diseases, including those caused by other enteric (e.g., salmonellosis and cholera) and respiratory (e.g., legionellosis, measles) microorganisms, also exhibit seasonal patterns.⁴ Mechanisms leading to this seasonal variation are often multifaceted and complex and may include: changes in environmental conditions that favor the growth and spread of pathogenic microorganisms (e.g., changing precipitation or temperature); and changes in human behavior (e.g., congregation of school children during the beginning of the school year, or increased outdoor recreational activities during warmer summer temperatures).^{4, 5}

The seasonality of *Campylobacter* closely mirrors general fluctuations in temperature with the highest incidence of infection during the warmer months of the year. However, *Campylobacter*, unlike many other foodborne bacteria, do not multiply outside a human or animal host.⁶ This suggests that the impact of climatic factors is indirect. A number of identified risk factors for campylobacteriosis, such as eating meat from a barbecue,^{7,8} and swimming in natural water sources,⁹ are more likely to occur in the warm summer months. The occurrence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in poultry, livestock and water sources has also been shown to change throughout the year,^{10, 11} leading some investigators to suggest that this influences the seasonality in human cases.¹¹⁻¹⁵ The presence of suspected vectors of *Campylobacter* transmission, such as flies and other insects, are also varies by season.¹⁶⁻¹⁹

Precipitation may also play a role in the seasonality of campylobacteriosis as above-average periods of precipitation have been linked to waterborne disease outbreaks,²⁰ including *Campylobacter*-associated outbreaks.²¹ Extreme precipitation events are thought to overwhelm water and wastewater treatment plans, allowing pathogenic microorganisms to enter the drinking water supply and leading to increased water turbidity levels. The efficacy of typical disinfection procedures designed to inactivate *Campylobacter* in drinking water is decreased with increasing turbidity levels.²² Previous studies have found lags of one to three weeks between increased water turbidity at treatment plants and increased rates of gastroenteritis.²³⁻²⁵ During a waterborne outbreak of campylobacteriosis in Canada, heavy rainfall occurred approximately one week before the peak in cases.²¹ A study of waterborne diseases outbreaks in the U.S. from 1948-1994 found that over half of outbreaks were proceeded by "extreme" precipitation in the month prior to the outbreak.²⁰

While studies have been conducted in a number of countries to better understand these associations,^{26, 27} few studies have yet been conducted in North America.^{28, 29} An examination and quantification of the relationship between climatic factors and *Campylobacter* incidence is in the U.S. is needed. The purpose of this study is to examine seasonal patterns in campylobacter rates and whether climatic factors, such as rainfall and temperature, are associated with an increased risk of campylobacteriosis.

Methods

Data Sources

Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet). Active, population-based surveillance data on culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections occurring between 1996 and 2006 was obtained from FoodNet. When first established in 1996, the FoodNet surveillance area (hereafter referred to as the "FoodNet sites") was comprised of five sites: select counties in California, Connecticut, and Georgia and the entire states of Minnesota and Oregon (14.2 million persons, five percent of the U.S. population). By 2006, the FoodNet surveillance are had increased to included 10 sites: select counties in California, Colorado, and New York and the states of Connecticut, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesota, New Mexico, Oregon and Tennessee (44.9 million persons, 15.2% of the U.S. population) and encompassed 486 counties.

Personnel at each FoodNet site have established procedures for contacting all the clinical laboratories (> 650 as of 2006) serving their respective surveillance areas at least monthly to collect information on culture-confirmed cases of Campylobacter. All records of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infection, including information on specimen collection date, are sent to a central database at CDC. Demographic information including age, gender, race/ethnicity, and county of residence are collected. National Climatic Data Center. Daily weather station-level precipitation and temperature (degrees Fahrenheit) data was obtained from the National Climatic Data Center (NCDC) of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) for all counties within the FoodNet surveillance area (486 counties as of 2006) that had at least one weather station. This database includes information on the minimum, maximum, and mean temperature and the amount of precipitation that fell within a 24hour period for every weather station within the FoodNet surveillance area from 1996 to 2006. These data were then aggregated by day and county. In the event that a county had more than one weather station, the data was averaged across weather stations.

Data Analysis

We described the seasonal variation of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* infections in FoodNet from 1996-2006 and examined whether the seasonal pattern was similar across the FoodNet sites and age groups. In order to calculate rates of campylobacteriosis, annual census estimates were obtained (U.S. Census Bureau 2006). The week during which each case occurred was calculated by including the first seven days in a year as week one, days eight to 14 as week two and so on. A main-effect, loglinear negative binomial regression model was used to estimate the weekly rates of infection, adjusted for changing surveillance area and calendar year.³⁰ To determine whether changes in rates were similar across various factors, the analysis was stratified by FoodNet site and age group. Age groups were defined as follows: <1 year, 1-4 years, 5-14 years, 15-24 years, 25-34, 35-54 years, 55-74 years, and \geq 75 years.

The association between meteorological factors, precipitation and minimum temperature, and the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis was examined using a case-crossover study design. Case-crossover studies are similar to case-control studies but each case serves as his or her own control. This type of study design has been used in other studies of the relationship between meteorological factors and infectious diseases.³¹ The date of specimen collection for all culture-confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis in FoodNet surveillance was each considered a "case day". Each case day was matched to two "control days" which represented the case's *Campylobacter*-free days during the same county, year, week group, and day of the week as the case. Week groups, or "strata", were calculated by dividing each calendar year into 17 three-week long segments, beginning with the first day of the year (the 17th segment contained 29-30 days). Control day selection was bi-directional in that, within strata, case days could be matched to control days that fell either before, after, or both before and after, the date of the case. For example, a case that fell on the Monday in the 5th week of the year could then be matched to a control day that was the 4th Monday of the year or the 6th Monday of the year. Similarly, a case that fell on a Tuesday during the first week of the year could be matched to a control day that was the Tuesday in the 2^{nd} week of the year and a Tuesday that was during the 3rd week of the year. Matching on

these characteristics controlled for a number of factors: annual and seasonal trends in campylobacteriosis, day-of-the-week effects, geographic variation in *Campylobacter* incidence, and long-term effects of meteorological variables.

A conditional logistic regression model that accounted for the matching between the case and control days was employed to examine the effect of temperature and precipitation. In order to mitigate against multiple testing, climatic factor exposure periods of interest were defined *a priori*. For the temperature analysis, the effect of minimum temperature at the estimated time of exposure to Campylobacter was chosen based upon the assumption of a possible threshold effect of temperature. Based on the data from a case-control study of risk factors for campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites,² the median length of time from onset of symptoms to specimen collection was 3 days (interquartile range: 2-5 days). The reported incubation period of campylobacteriosis is three days (range: one to seven days).³² Thus, plausible lag periods between exposure to *Campylobacter* and specimen collection date range from three to 12 days, with the most likely exposure occurring six days prior to specimen collection date. A weighted average of minimum temperature variable was created with weights half the weight assigned to the most likely day of exposure (day six) assigned to the extreme values (days three, 11, and 12) (see Table 6.1).

For the precipitation analysis, the average precipitation 7-14 days prior to specimen collection date (each day given equal weight) was examined, in order to allow sufficient time for *Campylobacter* to travel into the drinking water supply. Both temperature and precipitation categories were created by dividing the distribution into

146

percentiles. Extreme precipitation was defined as $>95^{\text{th}}$ percentile and compared to periods of non-extreme precipitation ($\leq 95^{\text{th}}$ percentile).

The relationship between climatic factors and campylobacteriosis was modeled in two ways: linearly and categorically. In order to more fully control for seasonality not related to temperature or precipitation, adjusted models also included terms for the day of year (1 through 365; in a leap year, February 29th was assigned the same day of the year as February 28th), day of year squared, and day of year cubed. Additionally, terms for the interaction between FoodNet site and the day of year effects, to account for differences in seasonality by FoodNet site, were included. The final multivariate model was constructed by examining the effects of those found significant in earlier analyses as well as interactions between climatic factors (temperature, precipitation) and demographic factors (FoodNet site and age group).

As an exploratory analysis to check the model specification, a model using distributed lags of minimum temperature and precipitation were considered. Distributed lag models include measurements of the exposure of interest at multiple time points and allow one to consider the effect of an exposure at one time point adjusted for the effect at other time points. The distributed lag models included minimum temperature and/or precipitation at various time points, ranging from twelve days *before* the specimen collection date to one day *after* the specimen collection date (i.e., they included the time period plausibly associated with campylobacteriosis in the primary analysis). Presumably, temperature or precipitation on the day of and day after specimen collection are not plausibly associated with the campylobacteriosis and thus may indicate that the model was specified incorrectly. As in the primary analyses, a conditional logistic

regression model accounting for the matching between the case day and its two control days was employed to examine the effect of the temperature and precipitation and analyses were adjusted for day of year effects (day of year, day of year², and day of year³) as well as the interaction between FoodNet site and day of year effects. In addition to the climatic factor that was the exposure of interest (e.g., temperature, precipitation), multivariate (adjusted) models also included the climatic factor that was not the exposure of interest in a specific analysis (e.g., precipitation, temperature). All p-values were two sided and the significance level was 0.05. All analyses were conducted in SAS v9.2 (Cary, NC).

Results

Rates of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis closely mirrored the overall trend in temperature in most FoodNet sites, with the exception of California (Figure 6.1). The peak in campylobacteriosis in summer months occurred during periods of minimal precipitation in the California and Oregon, whereas both precipitation and rates of campylobacteriosis peaked in the summer in Minnesota, and precipitation was distributed evenly throughout the year in the remaining FoodNet sites (Figure 6.2). Compared to other age groups, the largest seasonal peaks appeared in those aged 5-<15 years of age and in those \geq 75 years (Figure 6.3).

From 1996-2006, a total of 52,124 culture-confirmed cases of *Campylobacter* infection were ascertained; daily temperature and precipitation data from NCDC were available for 45,556 (87%) and 48,072 (92%) case days, respectively. Of the 104,248

control days (two for every case day), daily temperature and precipitation data from NCDC were available for and 91,118 (87%) and 96,165 (92%), respectively. A significant positive relationship between increasing categories of minimum temperature (degrees Fahrenheit) and risk of campylobacteriosis during the three to twelve days prior to specimen collection was observed (Table 6.2), after matching on state, county, day of week, week strata, and year, and adjusting for day of year effects and their interactions with FoodNet site. No linear relationship was observed between an increased risk of campylobacteriosis and increasing categories of precipitation; however, there was a modest but significant effect of extreme precipitation (>95th percentile). If the average precipitation was greater than the 95th percentile during the seven to fourteen days prior to specimen collection, the odds of campylobacteriosis increased by approximately seven percent (adjusted odds ratio [OR]: 1.066, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.007, 1.128).

Because analyses using nominal categorical variables for the levels of minimum temperature were supportive of a linear relationship, a continuous variable for minimum temperature was used in further analyses. For every ten degree increase in minimum temperature (Fahrenheit), the odds of campylobacteriosis increased by six percent (aOR: 1.060, 95% CI: 1.030, 1.090), after adjusting for day of year effects (Table 6.3). Similar associations were observed with weighted maximum temperature and weighted mean temperature (Table 6.3).

The final multivariate model included the main effects of minimum temperature (continuous) and extreme precipitation (>95th percentile) (Table 6.4). Interactions between these two climatic factors and FoodNet site and age group were considered

using a likelihood ratio test and were not significant. In this model, the odds of campylobacteriosis increased by six percent for every ten degree (Fahrenheit) increase in the weighted average of minimum temperature three to twelve days prior to specimen collection (aOR: 1.060, 95% 1.020, 1.090) and the odds of campylobacteriosis were eight percent higher during periods of extreme precipitation compared to those without extreme precipitation (aOR: 1.081, 95% 1.018, 1.0147), after adjusting for day of year effects, the interaction between the day of year effects and FoodNet site.

When all time points were considered simultaneously, the mean minimum temperature the day before specimen collection was the strongest and only significant predictor of campylobacteriosis (Table 6A.1). This association persisted after adjusting for day of year effects and the occurrence of extreme precipitation (>95th percentile of rainfall) events on the day of interest. Model results were similar when mean precipitation was used instead of extreme precipitation (data not shown). However, the association between the minimum temperature on the day after the specimen collection date was restricted to one FoodNet site. When the minimum temperature distributed lag analysis was stratified by FoodNet site, the strongest association between minimum temperature in the day after specimen collection and campylobacteriosis occurred in Colorado, whereas in other sites this association was not observed (Table 6A.2). When extreme precipitation was considered as the primary exposure of interest, although none of the lagged precipitation measurements were significantly associated with campylobacteriosis, the strongest association was observed at four and five days prior to the specimen collection date in the unadjusted analysis. After adjusting for day of year effects and minimum temperature, this effect was diminished (Table 6A.3).

150

Discussion

A modest, but significant, and independent positive association between both minimum temperature and precipitation and campylobacteriosis was observed in the case-crossover study, after matching on state, county, year, and three-week time period and controlling for day of year effects. The association between minimum temperature and campylobacteriosis was approximately linear, with a six percent increase the odds of campylobacteriosis for every ten degree Fahrenheit increase in weighted average of minimum temperature during the three to twelve days prior to specimen collection. Periods of extreme precipitation during the seven to fourteen days prior to specimen collection were also associated with increased odds of campylobacteriosis. Weekly temperature fluctuations closely mirrored the weekly rates of campylobacteriosis in nine of 10 FoodNet sites. The association between weekly rates of campylobacteriosis and Weekly precipitation exhibited more variation; in Minnesota as the peak in rainfall occurred during the summer peak in campylobacteriosis, whereas in Oregon and the California site, the peak in rainfall occurred in winter or fall, when rates of campylobacteriosis are generally lowest; the pattern of campylobacteriosis and precipitation fluctuated throughout the year for the remaining sites. The largest differences in rates of campylobacteriosis by season occurred in those aged 15-30 and over 75 years or age.

The differences in weekly rates of campylobacteriosis by age group is worth noting and suggests that seasonal risk factors may differ by age group; a finding which is supported by other studies. For example, a recent study of bacterial infections, including those of campylobacteriosis, by Denno et al. in persons <19 years of age found an increased risk from recreational water exposure and noted that this association was not as strong in studies conducted among all age groups.³³ Furthermore, a study by Miller et al. (2005) found that there were serotype differences in *Campylobacter* by the age of the infected person, suggesting that there are strain differences by age.

A positive association between increased temperature and *Campylobacter* incidence has been found in other studies, although the use of temperature measurements (mean, minimum), lag periods, and study methodologies has varied.^{26, 34} In a study of two Canadian provinces, Fleury and colleagues (2006) found that the weekly incidence of campylobacteriosis increased by between two and four percent for every degree Celsius increase in mean weekly temperature.²⁹ A significant association was found for each week between zero and six weeks prior to infection, suggesting that temperature may play a role at many points along the pathway from food production to consumption. In Denmark, maximum temperature four weeks prior to the date of diagnosis (which coincided with the approximate time of exposure), was found to be the best predictor of weekly *Campylobacter* rates.¹² Given the additional association with hours of sunlight, the authors hypothesized the pathway could be related to behavioral factors.¹² A study in England found that, given a lag of six weeks prior to specimen collection date, mean weekly temperature to be related to weekly incidence of campylobacteriosis, with a one degree (Celsius) increase in temperature related to a five percent increase in campylobacteriosis notifications, but only up to temperatures of 14 degrees C.²⁷ However, a more recent examination of similar data in England by Lake et al. (2009) found a positive association between increased temperature in the week of and one week prior to specimen collection in a recent study conducted.³⁵ In the U.S., Naumova et al.

(2007) found that the peak in daily *Campylobacter* incidence occurred on the same day as the peak in maximum temperature, although this study was limited to one state.²⁸

As *Campylobacter* has not been shown to multiply outside of a human or animal host, the relationship between temperature and campylobacteriosis is likely to be complex. In this study, an association was found between temperature at the approximate time of exposure (estimated to be 3-12 days prior to specimen collection) and campylobacteriosis. Higher temperature may be correlated with human behaviors that put individuals at greater risk for exposure to *Campylobacter*. One might speculate that some identified risk factors for campylobacteriosis, such as eating chicken from a barbecue, and swimming in natural water sources, are likely to occur much more frequently in the summer, however these do not appear to be large contributing factors to the seasonality of campylobacteriosis in the FoodNet sites (Chapter 7). In addition, the occurrence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in food and the environment has also been shown to change throughout the year. For example, the proportion of poultry flocks that test positive for *Campylobacter*, and the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in natural water sources, varies seasonally.^{10, 11}

Another potential pathway suggested by Nichols (2005),¹⁸ as well as others,³⁶⁻³⁸ is that flies contribute to *Campylobacter* transmission and seasonality. Housefly (*Musca domestica*) development from larvae to adult is largely dependent on temperature, as well as moisture content.³⁹ At warmer temperatures, housefly development can range from days to weeks and is fastest at warmer temperatures. Flies are most active in the northern hemisphere from May-October.³⁷ Nichols reported an association between an excess number of *Campylobacter* cases (> 170 per week) and ambient temperatures

during which flies would more likely have the shortest development time (< 3 weeks) of the housefly. We are not aware of evidence suggesting direct fly-human transmission occurs. Fly densities in henhouses may affect poultry contamination. A study in Iceland of risk factors for *Campylobacter* contamination of boiler chickens found a link between fly activity and poultry contamination, mediated by temperature¹⁶ and the implementation of henhouse fly screens was found to reduce the proportion of *Campylobacter*-positive poultry flocks in Denmark.⁴⁰

In this study, an association between extreme precipitation and campylobacteriosis was found. Waterborne outbreaks of campylobacteriosis have occurred after heavy precipitation events,^{21, 41} and case-control studies have identified improperly treated drinking water as a risk factor for infection.⁴² In addition, *Campylobacter* was found more often in the environment on rainy days as opposed to sunny days in a study conducted in 2007 by Hansson et al.⁴³ Despite this, an association between precipitation and campylobacteriosis has rarely been found in other studies, although it is unclear whether many studies examined events of extreme precipitation.¹², ^{26, 27} Reasons why our study found an effect of precipitation and others did not could include differences in the estimated period of exposure (i.e., lag times), or differences in the geographic scale of the precipitation measurement. We examined the relationship of the average precipitation for a specific county lagged seven to fourteen days prior to specimen collection date. This exposure period was chosen because it was presumed to allow sufficient time for the precipitation to affect water treatment systems and for that water to travel to consumers. and was consistent with the lag time found in other studies.41,44

Despite the substantial differences in rainfall patterns across the FoodNet sites, no differences in the effect of precipitaiton across the FoodNet FoodNet sites were found. While temperature patterns tend to track over counties and even larger geographic areas, precipitation events can occur at a much more localized scale. For example, in general, the surface areas of counties in FoodNet are smaller than the two geographic regions examined in the U.K. study that found no association between campylobacter and precipitation.²⁷ Differences in the source of drinking water (e.g., groundwater vs. surface water) could also modify the impact of precipitation on the role of drinking water as a cause of campylobacteriosis. Rainfall effects may be more important in areas where drinking water is derived from surface water sources than groundwater surfaces, and the importance of the timing of the rainfall may vary with the type of water system used, as was found in a study by Curriero et al. (2001).²⁰ In their study of the relationship between extreme precipitation events and waterborne disease outbreaks due to multiple pathogens, rainfall during the month of the outbreak was a significant predictor of outbreaks in areas using surface water as the source of drinking water. However, rainfall two months prior to the outbreak was a predictor in areas using groundwater as the source of drinking water. Their analyses were more localized to the area likely to be impacted by the precipitation events, as it was conducted at the watershed level as compared to the county level in our analyses. A similar study in the FoodNet sites might be useful.

This study has several limitations. First, international travel history has only been collected in FoodNet since 2004; therefore we were unable to exclude cases likely to have acquired their *Campylobacter* infections abroad. Data from a 1998-1999 case-

control study of risk factors for campylobacteriosis conducted in the FoodNet sites indicated that approximately 13% of cases traveled internationally in the seven days prior to their illness.² It has been suggested that some of the summer peak in campylobacteriosis in other countries, particularly the Netherlands and Denmark, may be due to international travel.²⁶ The authors felt this was a more likely cause than domestic exposure because the peak in temperature in these countries occurred prior to that in cases. In most FoodNet sites, however, the peak in campylobacteriosis occurs concomitantly or after the peak in minimum temperature, so the contribution of travelassociated cases to the summer peak in infections may be less in the FoodNet sites. Secondly, the temperature and precipitation experienced by each case of campylobacteriosis was assumed to be that of their county of residence. Additionally, the impact of attributing the county average precipitation and temperature measurements to each case in a county may vary somewhat by state, given that the counties in the FoodNet sites are not of a uniform area. Counties involved in FoodNet surveillance range from ninety-two square miles (Baltimore City County, Maryland) to ten thousand square miles (Harney County, Oregon).⁴⁵ Third, the results of our distributor lag analysis suggests that it is possible that our conditional logistic regression models may not have been specified correctly. However, the main association of concern, that of an association between campylobacteriosis and minimum temperature the day after specimen collection was only found in Colorado. *Campylobacter* are known to be sensitive to changes in humidity and temperature, and thus temperature may affect the ability of *Campylobacter* to survive transport to the clinical laboratory. Alternately, the

association between campylobacteriosis and temperature that was observed could be due to chance.

Future studies should consider more refined measurements of temperature and precipitation in examining the effect of these climatic factors on campylobacteriosis, particularly in measuring the precipitation and temperature effects at relevant areas of exposure. For instance, given the high proportion of cases attributable to poultry consumption,² it is possible that a more relative exposure of temperature and precipitation is in the locations where the poultry are reared. Conversely, temperature and precipitation at a person's home may be more relevant as it impacts cooking practices and animal exposures, other established risk factors for infection.^{2, 46} Additionally, studies that elucidate the pathway between meteorological factors and campylobacteriosis and which clarify the reasons for the seasonal distribution in campylobacteriosis are needed.

References

1. Tauxe RV, Hargrett-Bean N, Patton CM, Wachsmuth IK. Campylobacter isolates in the United States, 1982-1986. MMWR CDC Surveill Summ 1988;37(2):1-13.

2. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

3. Ailes E, Demma L, Hurd S, Hatch J, Jones TF, Vugia D, et al. Continued Decline in the Incidence of Campylobacter Infections, FoodNet 1996-2006. Foodborne Pathogens and Disease 2008;5(3):329-37.

4. Altizer S, Dobson A, Hosseini P, Hudson P, Pascual M, Rohani P. Seasonality and the dynamics of infectious diseases. Ecol Lett 2006;9(4):467-84.

5. Grassly NC, Fraser C. Seasonal infectious disease epidemiology. Proc Biol Sci 2006;273(1600):2541-50.

6. Wagenaar JA, Mevius DJ, Havelaar AH. Campylobacter in primary animal production and control strategies to reduce the burden of human campylobacteriosis. Rev Sci Tech 2006;25(2):581-94.

7. Neimann J, Engberg J, Molbak K, Wegener HC. A case-control study of risk factors for sporadic campylobacter infections in Denmark. Epidemiol Infect 2003;130(3):353-66.

8. Studahl A, Andersson Y. Risk factors for indigenous campylobacter infection: a Swedish case-control study. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125(2):269-75.

9. Schonberg-Norio, Takkinen D, Hanninen J, Katila ML, Kaukoranta ML, Mattila SS, et al. Swimming and Campylobacter infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10(8):1474-7.

10. Eyles R, Niyogi D, Townsend C, Benwell G, Weinstein P. Spatial and temporal patterns of Campylobacter contamination underlying public health risk in the Taieri River, New Zealand. J Environ Qual 2003;32(5):1820-8.

11. Meldrum RJ, Griffiths JK, Smith RM, Evans MR. The seasonality of human campylobacter infection and Campylobacter isolates from fresh, retail chicken in Wales. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133(1):49-52.

12. Patrick ME, Christiansen LE, Waino M, Ethelberg S, Madsen H, Wegener HC. Effects of climate on incidence of Campylobacter spp. in humans and prevalence in broiler flocks in Denmark. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70(12):7474-80.

13. Wedderkopp A, Gradel KO, Jorgensen JC, Madsen M. Pre-harvest surveillance of Campylobacter and Salmonella in Danish broiler flocks: a 2-year study. International Journal of Food Microbiology 2001;68(1-2):53-9.

14. Wallace JS, Stanley KN, Currie JE, Diggle PJ, Jones K. Seasonality of thermophilic Campylobacter populations in chickens. J Appl Microbiol 1997;82(2):219-24.

15. Meldrum RJ, Smith RM, Wilson IG. Three-year surveillance program examining the prevalence of Campylobacter and Salmonella in whole retail raw chicken. J Food Prot 2006;69(4):928-31.

16. Guerin MT, Martin SW, Reiersen J, Berke O, McEwen SA, Fridriksdottir V, et al. Temperature-related risk factors associated with the colonization of broiler-chicken flocks with Campylobacter spp. in Iceland, 2001-2004. Prev Vet Med 2008;86(1-2):14-29.

17. Hald B, Skovgard H, Pedersen K, Bunkenborg H. Influxed insects as vectors for Campylobacter jejuni and Campylobacter coli in Danish broiler houses. Poult Sci 2008;87(7):1428-34.

Nichols GL. Fly transmission of Campylobacter. Emerg Infect Dis 2005;11(3):361 4.

19. Shane SM, Montrose MS, Harrington KS. Transmission of Campylobacter jejuni by the housefly (Musca domestica). Avian Dis 1985;29(2):384-91.

20. Curriero FC, J. A. Patz, J. B. Rose, Lele S. The association between extreme precipitation and waterborne disease outbreaks in the United States, 1948-1994. Am J Public Health 2001;91(8):1216-23.

21. Auld H, MacIver D, Klaassen J. Heavy rainfall and waterborne disease outbreaks: the Walkerton example. J Toxicol Environ Health A 2004;67(20-22):1879-87.

22. Snelling WJ, McKenna JP, Lecky DM, Dooley JS. Survival of Campylobacter jejuni in waterborne protozoa. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71(9):5560-71.

23. Morris RD, Naumova EN, Levin R, Munasinghe RL. Temporal variation in drinking water turbidity and diagnosed gastroenteritis in Milwaukee. Am J Public Health 1996;86(2):237-9.

24. Patz. JA, Vavrus SJ, Uejio CK, McLellan SL. Climate Change and Waterborne Disease Risk in the Great Lakes Region of the U.S. Am J Prev Med 2008;35(5):365-76.

25. Tinker SC, Moe CL, Klein M, Flanders WD, Uber J, Amirtharajah A, et al. Drinking water turbidity and emergency department visits for gastrointestinal illness in Atlanta, 1993-2004. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 2008.

26. Kovats RS, Edwards SJ, Charron D, Cowden J, D'Souza RM, Ebi KL, et al. Climate variability and campylobacter infection: an international study. Int J Biometeorol 2005;49(4):207-14.

27. Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, O'Brien SJ, Hajat S. Temperature dependence of reported Campylobacter infection in England, 1989-1999. Epidemiol Infect 2006;134(1):119-25.

28. Naumova EN, Jagai JS, Matyas B, DeMaria A, Jr., MacNeill IB, Griffiths JK. Seasonality in six enterically transmitted diseases and ambient temperature. Epidemiol Infect 2007;135(2):281-92.

29. Fleury M, Charron DF, Holt JD, Allen OB, Maarouf AR. A time series analysis of the relationship of ambient temperature and common bacterial enteric infections in two Canadian provinces. Int J Biometeorol 2006;50(6):385-91.

30. Scallan E. Activities, achievements, and lessons learned during the first 10 years of the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network: 1996-2005. Clin Infect Dis 2007;44(5):718-25.

31. Fisman DN, Lim S, Wellenius GA, Johnson C, Britz P, Gaskins M, et al. It's not the heat, it's the humidity: wet weather increases legionellosis risk in the greater Philadelphia metropolitan area. J Infect Dis 2005;192(12):2066-73.

32. Nachamkin I, Engberg, J., and Aarestrup, A.A. Diagnosis and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* species. In: Nachamkin IaB, M.J., ed. Campylobacter. 2nd ed. Washington, D.C.: ASM Press; 2000:45-66.

33. Miller G, Dunn GM, Reid TM, Ogden ID, Strachan NJ. Does age acquired immunity confer selective protection to common serotypes of Campylobacter jejuni? BMC Infect Dis 2005;5:66.

34. Bi P, Cameron AS, Zhang Y, Parton KA. Weather and notified Campylobacter infections in temperate and sub-tropical regions of Australia: an ecological study. J Infect 2008;57(4):317-23.

35. Lake IR, Gillespie IA, Bentham G, Nichols GL, Lane C, Adak GK, et al. A reevaluation of the impact of temperature and climate change on foodborne illness. Epidemiol Infect 2009;137(11):1538-47.

36. Ternhag A, Torner A, Svensson A, Giesecke J, Ekdahl K. Mortality following Campylobacter infection: a registry-based linkage study. BMC Infect Dis 2005;5:70.

37. Hald B, Pedersen K, Waino M, Jorgensen JC, Madsen M. Longitudinal study of the excretion patterns of thermophilic Campylobacter spp. in young pet dogs in Denmark. J Clin Microbiol 2004;42(5):2003-12.

38. Ruble R. Flies and Campylobacter. Am J Public Health 1986;76(12):1457.

39. Lefebvre F, Pasquerault T. Temperature-dependent development of Ophyra aenescens (Wiedemann, 1830) and Ophyra capensis (Wiedemann, 1818) (Diptera, Muscidae). Forensic SciInt 2004;139(1):75-9.

40. Hald B, Sommer HM, Skovgard H. Use of fly screens to reduce Campylobacter spp. introduction in broiler houses. Emerg Infect Dis 2007;13(12):1951-3.

41. Pitkanen T, Miettinen IT, Nakari UM, Takkinen J, Nieminen K, Siitonen A, et al. Faecal contamination of a municipal drinking water distribution system in association with Campylobacter jejuni infections. J Water Health 2008;6(3):365-76.

42. Hopkins RS, Olmsted R, Istre GR. Endemic Campylobacter jejuni infection in Colorado: identified risk factors. Am J Public Health 1984;74(3):249-50.

43. Hansson I, Vagsholm I, L.Svensson, O.Engvall E. Correlations between Campylobacter spp. prevalence in the environment and broiler flocks. J Appl Microbiol 2007;103(3):640-9.

44. Schwartz J, Levin R, Goldstein R. Drinking water turbidity and gastrointestinal illness in the elderly of Philadelphia. J Epidemiol Community Health 2000;54(1):45-51.

45. Population estimates, 2006. Available at <u>http://www.census.gov/popest/datasets.html.</u>, 2006. (Accessed at

46. Brown P, Kidd D, Riordan T, Barrell RA. An outbreak of food-borne Campylobacter jejuni infection and the possible role of cross-contamination. J Infect 1988;17(2):171-6.

Tables and Figures

Table 6.1. Weights assigned to minimum temperature on each day prior to specimen

 collection date during possible exposure period.

Day prior to specimen	Weight
collection	
3, 11, and 12 days	1/(1+1.33+1.66+2+2*(1.66)+2(1.33)+2(1)=13.97)
4, 9 and 10 days	1.33/13.97
5, 7 and 8 days	1.66/13.97
6 days	2/13.97

Table 6.2. Association between climatic factors (temperature and precipitation as categorical variables) during a priori specified lag periods and the probability of the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis.

Categories of Climate Variables	aO	aOR (95% CI)†		Р	P for trend
Categories of Weighted Average* of					
Minimum Temperature (degrees					
Fahrenheit) (days 3-12 prior to					
specimen collection)					
< 37° Fahrenheit		Ref		0.0337	0.0044
37-48° Fahrenheit	1.063	(0.996,	1.133)		
48-56° Fahrenheit	1.074	(0.987,	1.168)		
57-66° Fahrenheit	1.148	(1.039,	1.269)		
>67° Fahrenheit	1.209	(1.057,	1.383)		
Categories of Average Precipitation					
(inches) (days 7-14 prior to specimen					
collection)					

No Rain		Ref		0.1566	0.0978
<0.17 inches	1.023	(0.974,	1.075)		
0.17-0.60 inches	1.001	(0.950,	1.055)		
0.60-1.36 inches	1.029	(0.975,	1.086)		
1.36-3.20 inches	1.026	(0.970,	1.086)		
>3.20 inches	1.091	(1.010,	1.178)		
Extreme Precipitation					
Extreme precipitation (>3.2 inches)	1.066	(1.007,	1.128)	0.0275	
Non-extreme precipitation (\leq 3.2					
inches)		Ref			

* see Methods for a description of weights

† Case days and controls days were matched on day of the week (i.e., Monday, Tuesday, etc...), and 3-week strata, and year. Odds ratios represent increase in odds comparing minimum temperature or precipitation in a given range compared to minimum temperatures < 25% of the distribution or precipitation of 0 inches. aOR=Odds Ratio adjusted for day of year effects (day, day squared, day cubed) and interaction between day of year effects and FoodNet site</p>

Table 6.3. Association between climatic factors (temperature and precipitation as categorical variables) during a priori specified lag periods and the probability of the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis.

Temperature Variable	aO	aOR (95% CI)		
Weighted Average* of Minimum				
Temperature (degrees Fahrenheit) (days 3-12				
prior to specimen collection)	1.060	(1.030,	1.090)	0.0006
Sensitivity analyses examining other				
temperature measurements				
Weighted Average* of Mean Temperature				
(degrees Fahrenheit) (days 3-12 prior to				
specimen collection)	1.050	(1.020,	1.080)	0.0032

Weighted Average* of Maximum

Temperature (degrees Fahrenheit) (days 3-12

prior to specimen collection) **1.030** (1.000, 1)

(1.000, 1.060) 0.0328

* see Methods for a description of weights

[†] Case days and controls days were matched on day of the week (i.e., Monday, Tuesday, etc...), and 3-week strata, and year. Odds ratios represent increase in odds comparing minimum temperature or precipitation in a given range compared to minimum temperatures < 25% of the distribution or precipitation of 0 inches. **aOR**=Odds Ratio adjusted for day of year effects (day, day squared, day cubed) and interaction between day of year effects and FoodNet site

Table 6.4. Multivariate Model: Association between climatic factors during a priori specified lag periods and the probability of the occurrence of a culture-confirmed case of campylobacteriosis. Case days and controls days were matched on day of the week (i.e., Monday, Tuesday, etc...), and 3-week strata, and year. For temperature, odds ratios represent increase in odds per 10 degree (Fahrenheit) increase in temperature.

Climatic Factor	aC	Р		
Weighted Average* of Minimum Temperature				
(degrees Fahrenheit) (days 3-12 prior to specimen				
collection)	1.060	(1.020,	1.090)	0.0009
Extreme precipitation (> 3.20 inches) during the 7-				
14 days prior to specimen collection	1.081	(1.018,	1.147)	0.011

* see Methods for a description of weights

aOR=Odds Ratio adjusted for day of year effects (day, day squared, day cubed) and interaction between day of year effects and FoodNet site, as well as main effects of weighted temperature and precipitation

year) and temperature, FoodNet sites 1996-2006 California Avg Max Temp \times Avg Min Temp * Avg Mean Temp -California (peak wk:28) 100 1 0.9 90 Adjusted Rate Per 100,000 0.8 80 0.7 70 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 20 10 0.1 0 0 10 0 20 30 40 50 Week Colorado ▲ Avg Max Temp × Avg Min Temp * Avg Mean Temp -Colorado (peak wk:28) 100 1 90 0.9 0.8 80 0.78 70 Temperature (F) 0.6 60 0.5 4 0.0 0.4 8 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 50

> 0 0

10

20

30

Week

40

Figure 6.1. Average weekly rates of campylobacteriosis (adjusted for FoodNet site and

0

50


















Figure 6.2. Average weekly rates of campylobacteriosis (adjusted for FoodNet site and year) and precipitation, FoodNet sites 1996-2006



















Figure 6.3. Rate ratios (adjusted for calendar year and changing FoodNet site and comparing the rate of campylobacteriosis for a given week compared to the rate in the 51^{st} week) of campylobacteriosis by age group and week.



Lag (day before specimen Adjusted OR (95% collection) OR (95% CI) Р CI)* Р -1 1.003 (1.000,1.006) 0.0401 1.003 (1.001,1.006)0.0204 0 1.001 (0.998,1.004) 0.5890 1.001 (0.997,1.004)0.7464 1 1.000 (0.996, 0.9061 (0.997, 0.9764 1.003) 1.000 1.004) 2 1.000 (0.997,1.004) 0.9847 1.001 (0.997, 1.004) 0.7008 3 (0.997, 1.000 (0.997, 1.004) 0.9739 1.001 1.004) 0.7525 4 1.000 (0.997, 1.004) 0.9589 1.000 (0.996, 1.003) 0.9355 5 (0.999, (0.999, 1.006) 0.1558 1.002 1.002 1.006) 0.2014 6 1.001 (0.998, 0.6002 1.002 (0.998, 0.3649 1.004) 1.005) 7 1.001 (0.998,1.005) 0.5203 1.001 (0.998,1.005) 0.4633 8 (0.998, 1.005) 0.2717 (0.999, 1.002 1.002 1.006) 0.2370 9 0.999 (0.996,1.003) 0.7050 1.000 (0.996, 1.003) 0.8315 10 0.999 (0.995, 1.002) 0.4224 0.998 (0.995, 1.002) 0.3885 11 0.999 (0.995,1.002) 0.3967 0.999 (0.995,1.002) 0.4304 12 1.001 (0.999, 1.004) 0.3012 1.002 (0.999, 1.005) 0.1193

Appendix 6A:Distributed Lags

Table 6A.1. Minimum Temperature Distributed Lag, All FoodNet Sites

* Adjusted for day of year effects (day of year, day of year², day of year³), interaction between FoodNet site and day of year effects, and extreme precipitation

	Colorado Alone			All Sites Except Colorado						
Lag (day before	Adjusted OR (95%				Adjusted OR (95%					
specimen collection)		CI)*		Р		CI)*		Р		
-1	1.018	(1.006,	1.030)	0.0032	1.002	(0.999,	1.005)	0.1067		
0	0.995	(0.980,	1.010)	0.5123	1.001	(0.997,	1.004)	0.6481		
1	0.998	(0.983,	1.013)	0.7728	1.000	(0.997,	1.004)	0.8900		
2	1.007	(0.992,	1.021)	0.3858	1.000	(0.997,	1.004)	0.8024		
3	0.994	(0.980,	1.009)	0.4507	1.001	(0.997,	1.004)	0.6431		
4	0.987	(0.973,	1.002)	0.0875	1.000	(0.997,	1.004)	0.8036		
5	1.008	(0.993,	1.023)	0.2849	1.002	(0.998,	1.006)	0.2876		
6	1.016	(1.001,	1.032)	0.0354	1.001	(0.997,	1.005)	0.5972		
7	0.988	(0.973,	1.003)	0.1289	1.002	(0.998,	1.006)	0.2697		
8	1.004	(0.989,	1.019)	0.6151	1.002	(0.998,	1.006)	0.2597		
9	1.007	(0.992,	1.022)	0.3763	0.999	(0.996,	1.003)	0.6411		
10	0.995	(0.981,	1.010)	0.5018	0.999	(0.995,	1.002)	0.4423		
11	1.001	(0.986,	1.015)	0.9357	0.998	(0.995,	1.002)	0.3970		
12	1.001	(0.990,	1.013)	0.8010	1.002	(0.999,	1.005)	0.1171		

Table 6A.2. Minimum Temperature Distributed Lag, Adjusted for Day of Year Effects

 and Extreme Precipitation, by FoodNet site

* Adjusted for day of year effects (day of year, day of year², day of year³), interaction

between FoodNet site and day of year effects, and extreme precipitation

before									
specimen				Adjusted OR (95%					
collection)	OR (95% CI)			Р	CI)*			Р	
-1	1.039	(0.980,	1.101)	0.2016	1.029	(0.968,	1.095)	0.3608	
0	0.997	(0.940,	1.058)	0.9252	0.990	(0.930,	1.054)	0.7549	
1	0.961	(0.906,	1.020)	0.1904	0.943	(0.885,	1.004)	0.0654	
2	0.949	(0.894,	1.007)	0.0864	0.949	(0.891,	1.011)	0.1039	
3	1.007	(0.950,	1.069)	0.8054	0.989	(0.929,	1.054)	0.7380	
4	1.030	(0.971,	1.093)	0.3224	1.038	(0.975,	1.105)	0.2444	
5	1.032	(0.973,	1.095)	0.2922	1.028	(0.965,	1.095)	0.3895	
6	0.990	(0.933,	1.051)	0.7457	0.962	(0.904,	1.025)	0.2335	
7	1.012	(0.954,	1.074)	0.6874	1.009	(0.947,	1.075)	0.7817	
8	1.006	(0.948,	1.068)	0.8418	0.992	(0.931,	1.056)	0.7966	
9	1.022	(0.963,	1.084)	0.4699	1.024	(0.962,	1.091)	0.4538	
10	0.997	(0.939,	1.058)	0.9197	0.992	(0.931,	1.057)	0.8089	
11	0.981	(0.924,	1.042)	0.5341	1.016	(0.954,	1.082)	0.6204	
12	1.016	(0.958,	1.078)	0.5949	0.993	(0.933,	1.057)	0.8279	

Table 6A.3. Extreme Precipitation Distributed Lag, All FoodNet Sites

Lag (day

* Adjusted for day of year effects (day of year, day of year², day of year³),

interaction between FoodNet site and day of year effects, and minimum temperature

CHAPTER 7. DO DIFFERENCES IN RISK FACTORS EXPLAIN THE SEASONAL VARIATION IN CAMPYLOBACTERIOSIS?

Abstract

Campylobacter is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States and many other countries where seasonal variation in rates of culture-confirmed infections has been consistently observed. The reasons for the seasonal pattern in campylobacteriosis are unclear, but climatic factors and seasonal variation in exposures have been suggested as possible contributors. We used a case-control study conducted by the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network to examine whether the risk for *Campylobacter* infection from various exposures, and the prevalence of these exposures (proportion of individuals reporting exposure), varied seasonally. We found no evidence of seasonal effect modification of select previously-identified (consumption of chicken at commercial eating establishments, raw milk, and untreated water, and exposures to farm animals and animal stool) or plausible seasonally-varying (eating chicken cooked outdoors, and swimming in a river, lake or stream) risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection. The reasons for the seasonal periodicity observed in rates of campylobacteriosis remain unexplained.

Introduction

Campylobacter is a leading cause of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States (U.S.) and many other countries where seasonal variation in rates of culture-confirmed infections has been consistently observed.^{1, 2} It has been suggested that seasonal differences in risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection, including the consumption of raw or undercooked chicken, unpasteurized milk, and untreated water³⁻⁷ and exposure to dogs, farm animals, and foreign travel,^{3, 5, 7} contribute to the summer peak in campylobacteriosis. The occurrence and concentration of *Campylobacter* in the environment and in food sources has been shown to vary throughout the year. For example, the proportion of poultry flocks that test positive for *Campylobacter*, and the occurrence of *Campylobacter* in natural water sources, both were highest in the summer.^{4,8} Even if the risk from a specific exposure remains constant across seasons, the prevalence of the exposure may vary seasonally. For example, some exposures, such as

eating undercooked chicken from a barbecue, are more likely to occur in the warm summer months.

Campylobacteriosis is not a nationally-notifiable disease in the U.S.; however, the Foodborne Diseases Active Surveillance Network (FoodNet) has conducted active, population-based surveillance for culture-confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis in select states since 1996. FoodNet also acts as a platform for conducting epidemiologic studies to better understand the problem of foodborne disease and conducted a 12-month case-control study during 1998-1999 to determine risk factors for campylobacteriosis.³ The aims of this analysis were to investigate the seasonality of select risk factors identified in the original analysis (consumption of chicken at commercial eating establishments or at a barbecue, raw milk, and untreated water, and exposures to farm animals and animal stool, and swimming in a lake, pond, or stream)³ and to determine if the prevalence of these risk factors varied by season.

Methods

FoodNet is a collaborative program between the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Agriculture's Food Safety and Inspection Service, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, and participating state health departments in the FoodNet sites. FoodNet surveillance officers in the FoodNet sites have established reporting procedures and routinely contact clinical laboratories serving the FoodNet surveillance area to ensure that all incident cases of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis are ascertained.

Over a 12-month period from 1998-1999, a case-control study of cultureconfirmed Campylobacter infections was conducted in the FoodNet sites. In 1998, the FoodNet surveillance area encompassed seven percent of the U.S. population (21 million persons) and included the entire states of Connecticut, Minnesota, and Oregon and selected counties in California, Georgia, Maryland and New York. The case-control study methodology has been described previously.³ Briefly, cases were drawn from the sample of residents of the FoodNet sites with culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis that were not associated with a recognized outbreak (i.e., sporadic) during the 12-month study period. Each FoodNet site attempted to enroll approximately 200 cases selected randomly from those that were reported throughout the study period. Controls were selected by sequential digit dialing based off of the telephone number of the case. Controls and cases were matched based on age (in strata of 2 to <6 years of age; 6 to <12 years of age; 12 to <18 years of age; 18 to <40 years of age; 40 to <60 years of age; 60 or older years of age) and the county of residence of the case. Informed consent was obtained for all participants prior to interview. Information on cases or controls <12 years of age was collected from a parent or guardian; all other cases were interviewed directly. Case patient interviews were conducted within 21 days of their specimen collection date, and controls were interviewed within seven days of their matched case's interview. Cases and controls were asked about exposures during the seven days prior to the case's onset of illness. Information was collected on symptoms experienced by the case, demographic and socioeconomic characteristics, as well as food consumption patterns and animal and water exposures. Season was assigned based upon the specimen collection date of the case and was categorized as follows: spring (March, April and

May), summer (June, July, and August), fall (September, October and November), and winter (December, January, and February).

The study protocol was approved by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Institutional Review Board (IRB) as well as the IRBs in the different FoodNet sites.

Statistical Methods

Exposures of interest (consumption of chicken outside the home at commercial eating establishments, raw milk, and untreated water, and exposures to farm animals and animal stool) were chosen because they were previously found to be associated with *Campylobacter* infection and because the prevalence of exposure was posited to vary by season. In addition, while they were not found to be independently significant risk factors in the original analysis, we included an examination of eating chicken cooked outdoors (at home and away from home) and swimming in a river, lake or stream in our analysis because they had been suggested in the literature as potentially associated with the seasonality of campylobacteriosis. Children ≤ 2 years of age and individuals reporting international travel were excluded from the analysis due to the evidence that risk factors for infants are different from those for older ages⁹ and the likelihood that travelers were infected outside the U.S.

Conditional logistic regression models, which took into account the age group and county-of-residence-matching between cases and controls, were used. Case-control pairs with the same age group and county of residence were pooled into the same strata.¹⁰ In univariate analyses, each exposure was consider alone in a model restricted to each season, and again in a model including data from all seasons along with an interaction term between the exposure of interest and season. The likelihood ratio test was used to determine if there was significant interaction between season and the exposure of interest. Although season was not considered as a separate factor in the multivariate model, we were able to include it as part of the interaction term because the seasonal effects were incorporated into the model as components of the matching factors.¹⁰

To determine if there were differences in the risk due to a specific exposure after accounting for other known risk factors for infection (identified in the initial analysis of these data³), multivariate models including other known risk and protective factors for infection were created. These risk and protective factors included male sex, having a pet puppy and consumption of the following: any chicken cooked at home, any pink chicken, fried chicken, any turkey meat at home, any turkey at commercial eating establishment, any meat at home, any meat at commercial eating establishment, any berries bought in a store. Multivariate models were created using the entire dataset and included an interaction term between the exposure of interest and season.

Because the controls, if selected appropriately, represent the exposure pattern of the general population, the frequency of various exposures among the controls in each season was calculated. A chi-square test was used to determine whether the frequency of each exposure varied significantly by season. If the number of exposed controls was less than five, a Monte Carlo simulation procedure (the MC option in the PROC FREQ procedure in SAS v. 9.2) of Fisher's exact test p-values was used to estimate exact p-

183

values for these comparisons because Fisher's exact test was too computationally intensive. Multiple comparisons were done by a SAS macro using a Tukey type multiple comparison procedure after an overall chi-square indicated all comparisons were significant.^{11, 12}

All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS v.9.2 (Cary, NC) and all hypothesis tests and p-values were two sided (alpha of 0.05).

Results

A total of 2,093 cases were contacted. However, 780 either met one of the exclusion criteria or refused to participate, 75 were \leq 2 years of age, 178 reported traveling internationally in seven days prior to illness onset, 18 had missing county information, and 14 had a missing specimen collection date. A total of 1,028 case-control pairs were included in the analysis with the following breakdown by season: spring (171), summer (446), fall (255) and winter (156).

The seasonal distribution of cases showed a strong seasonal peak, with the greatest number occurring in the summer (Figure 7.1). When stratified by season, drinking unpasteurized milk, eating chicken cooked outdoors away from home, and swimming in a lake, river or stream were not significantly associated with an increased odds of campylobacteriosis during any season (Table 7.1). Eating chicken cooked outdoors at home was significantly associated with decreased odds of campylobacteriosis in summer and fall (data not shown). There was no effect modification of any risk (or protective, in the case of eating chicken cooked outside at home) factors by season when the risk factors were considered individually (Table 7.1)

or in models adjusted for other known risk factors for campylobacteriosis (data not shown).

Consuming chicken at a commercial eating establishment was reported more frequently during all seasons than the majority of the other risk factors studied (Table 7.1, Figure 7.2). Across all seasons, a small proportion of controls reported drinking raw milk or drinking untreated water from a lake, river, or stream. The proportion of controls that reported contact with animal stool was significantly higher in summer than in fall (p-value=0.031) (Figure 7.2). The proportion of controls who reported swimming in a lake, river or stream was significantly higher in summer than in any of the other three seasons, and was higher in spring than in winter (Fisher p-value <0.001). There was no difference in the prevalence of exposure across seasons for the other risk factors (data not shown).

Discussion

The goal of this study was to examine whether there were seasonal differences in the risk for campylobacteriosis from select exposures and whether the prevalence of these exposures varied by FoodNet site. We found no evidence that the odds of campylobacteriosis associated with eating chicken at commercial eating establishment, having contact with animal stool, drinking unpasteurized milk, drinking untreated water from lake, river or stream, having contact with a farm animal, eating chicken cooked outdoors, or swimming in a lake, river or stream vary seasonally. We did find seasonal differences in the proportion of controls that reported having contact with animal stool and swimming in a lake, river or stream. However, swimming was not significantly associated with campylobacteriosis in any season (nor was it in the original analysis³) and contact with animal stool was only a significant risk factor in spring and fall. Still, these potential risk factors may be more important in summer as compared to other seasons because of the increased prevalence of exposure in summer. Thus, it does not appear that the seasonal changes in *Campylobacter* incidence are explained by seasonal variation in risk associated with these exposures.

Case-control studies conducted in other countries have also found some exposures to be more common in the summer months, when campylobacteriosis rates are highest. For instance, a recent case-control study in Finland was the first to identify swimming in natural sources of water as a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection.¹³ This risk factor may have only been identified because the study was limited to the summer season (July 1st -- September 30th) when Finland experiences their highest incidence of campylobacteriosis and swimming is most common. Another case-control study conducted in Sweden found the proportion of individuals reporting various exposures, particularly eating meat that had been grilled or consuming water from a stream or a lake, was greater during the summer months.¹⁴

Although we did not find evidence to suggest that the magnitude of association between the exposures examined in this study vary by season, there could be other, yetunidentified risk factors which contribute to the burden of campylobacteriosis only in one season and thus have yet to be identified as risk factors. A few studies have examined the genetic profiles of *Campylobacter* isolates and found that some strains predominated during the summer peak in incidence. Hudson et al. (1999) conducted a study in New Zealand, where incidence also shows marked seasonality, and found differences in the strains of *Campylobacter* that were prevalent during winter months as compared to summer months.¹⁵ A Scandinavian study found similar results, with certain *Campylobacter* strains more likely to occur during summer months as compared to others and also found differences in strains between children and adults.¹⁶

Because of these changes in the prevalence or strains of *Campylobacter* in foodborne and environmental risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection, it is possible that the actual risks for illness from these exposures change seasonally as well, despite the lack of evidence from this study. Effect measure modification by season of specific *Campylobacter* risk factors has been observed in a handful of case-control studies. A study conducted in Denmark by Neimann et al. (2003) found that certain risk factors, principally barbecuing, drinking unpasteurized milk, and consumption of apples or pears, showed effect modification by season.¹⁷ While barbecuing "in season" (June-October) was a strong significant risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection, barbecuing "off-season" (November-May) was found to be protective (although not statistically significant, while drinking unpasteurized milk off-season was a significant risk factor for risk factors.

Other potential explanations for the seasonality of *Campylobacter* rates include complex, as-yet-unidentified interactions between age, season, and risk factors, or a role for climatic factors such as temperature and precipitation in the spread of *Campylobacter*. Preliminary analyses of FoodNet surveillance data have indicated that the seasonal peak in incidence appeared to be greatest in teenagers and older age groups (Chapter 6), and thus may be related to different risk factors by age. A recent study by Denno et al. (2009) conducted in children (\leq 18 years of age), for instance, found a strong association between recreational water exposure and campylobacteriosis, with a population attributable fraction of over 20%.¹⁸ This was not identified in our study as a risk factor for infection or one that varied significantly by season, although further stratification of our data by age group would have been useful had we had a large enough sample size. Climatic factors may also play a role in the seasonal distribution of campylobacteriosis. A number of studies, mostly conducted in other countries, have found a small, but significant, relationship between climatic factors such as temperature and campylobacteriosis, ^{19, 20} and the general pattern of culture-confirmed rates of campylobacteriosis tends to mirror that of temperature (Chapter 6).

This study has several limitations. When stratified by season, the number of cases and controls reporting certain exposures became quite small, as the original study was not designed to examine risk factors separately by season. As with most case-control studies, recall bias is a potential issue. Because of their illness, cases may have been more likely to recall certain exposures than controls, particularly those they may have associated with their illness. Additionally, the cases included in this study only represent a sample of those culture-confirmed cases that occurred in the FoodNet surveillance area and an even smaller fraction of all cases of campylobacteriosis.²¹ Previous analyses have suggested that the culture-confirmed cases included in this study are similar to those culture-confirmed cases that were not included with regard to demographic and socioeconomic factors.³ The culture-confirmed cases included in this study are likely to be more ill than those cases who did not seek care or submit a stool sample for *Campylobacter* testing.^{22, 23} We have no reason to believe that the risk factors

for culture-confirmed cases are different from those that do not seek care or submit a stool sample for testing, although we have no evidence to this effect.

The reasons for the seasonal periodicity observed in rates of campylobacteriosis remain unexplained. Studies that examine whether differences in risk factors by season and age group exist would be useful. Additionally, the seasonality should be considered when investigators use molecular techniques to attribute specific *Campylobacter* strains to various exposures.

References

1. Tauxe RV, Pegues DA, Hargrett-Bean N. Campylobacter infections: the emerging national pattern. Am J Public Health 1987;77(9):1219-21.

2. Ailes E, Demma L, Hurd S, et al. Continued decline in the incidence of Campylobacter infections, FoodNet 1996-2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2008;5(3):329-37.

3. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

4. Eyles R, Niyogi D, Townsend C, Benwell G, Weinstein P. Spatial and temporal patterns of Campylobacter contamination underlying public health risk in the Taieri River, New Zealand. J Environ Qual 2003;32(5):1820-8.

5. Ethelberg S, Simonsen J, Gerner-Smidt P, Olsen KE, Molbak K. Spatial distribution and registry-based case-control analysis of Campylobacter infections in Denmark, 1991-2001. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162(10):1008-15.

6. Kist M, Bereswill S. Campylobacter jejuni. Contrib Microbiol 2001;8:150-65.

7. Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. Br Med J 1977;2(6078):9-11.

8. Meldrum RJ, Griffiths JK, Smith RM, Evans MR. The seasonality of human campylobacter infection and Campylobacter isolates from fresh, retail chicken in Wales. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133(1):49-52.

9. Fullerton KE, Ingram LA, Jones TF, et al. Sporadic campylobacter infection in infants: a population-based surveillance case-control study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2007;26(1):19-24.

10. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Analysis of Matched Data Using Logistic Regression. In: Logistic Regression: A Self-learning Text 2nd. ed. New York: Springer-Verlag; 2002:pp. 227-65.

11. Elliott AC, Reisch JS. Paper 204-31: Implementing a Multiple Comparison Test for Proportions in a 2xc Crosstabulation in SAS. In: Proceedings of the Thirty-first Annual SAS® Users Group International Conference; 2006; San Francisco, California SAS Institute Inc; 2006.

12. Zar JH. Trends Among Proportions. In: Biostatistical Analysis. Fourth Edition ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall; 1999:565 and Appendix B, Table B.5.

13. Schonberg-Norio D, Takkinen J, Hanninen ML, et al. Swimming and Campylobacter infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10(8):1474-7.

14. Carrique-Mas J, Andersson Y, Hjertqvist M, Svensson A, Torner A, Giesecke J. Risk factors for domestic sporadic campylobacteriosis among young children in Sweden. Scand J Infect Dis 2005;37(2):101-10.

15. Hudson JA, Nicol C, Wright J, Whyte R, Hasell SK. Seasonal variation of Campylobacter types from human cases, veterinary cases, raw chicken, milk and water. J Appl Microbiol 1999;87(1):115-24.

16. Hook H, Ekegren MB, Ericsson H, Vagsholm I, Danielsson-Tham ML. Genetic and epidemiological relationships among Campylobacter isolates from humans. Scand J Infect Dis 2004;36(6-7):435-42.

17. Neimann J, Engberg J, Molbak K, Wegener HC. A case-control study of risk factors for sporadic campylobacter infections in Denmark. Epidemiol Infect 2003;130(3):353-66.

18. Denno DM, Keene WE, Hutter CM, et al. Tri-county comprehensive assessment of risk factors for sporadic reportable bacterial enteric infection in children. J Infect Dis 2009;199(4):467-76.

19. Lake IR, Gillespie IA, Bentham G, et al. A re-evaluation of the impact of temperature and climate change on foodborne illness. Epidemiol Infect 2009;137(11):1538-47.

20. Naumova EN, Jagai JS, Matyas B, DeMaria A, Jr., MacNeill IB, Griffiths JK. Seasonality in six enterically transmitted diseases and ambient temperature. Epidemiol Infect 2007;135(2):281-92.

21. Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S165-74.

22. Scallan E, Jones TF, Cronquist A, et al. Factors associated with seeking medical care and submitting a stool sample in estimating the burden of foodborne illness. Foodborne Pathog Dis 2006;3(4):432-8.

23. Hennessy TW, Marcus R, Deneen V, et al. Survey of physician diagnostic practices for patients with acute diarrhea: clinical and public health implications. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S203-11.

Tables and Figures

Table 7.1. Association of risk factors with campylobacteriosis, stratified by season (spring: March, April and May; summer: June, July, and August; fall: September,October and November; and winter: December, January, and February; S). Conditional logistic regression models (adjusting for FoodNet site, county and age group) were used.Where indicated, exact models were used if case or control counts were less than 5.

		Exposed	Exposed			
		Cases	Controls	Odds Ratio (95%		
Risk Factor	Season	N (%)	N (%)	Confidence	Interval)	\mathbf{P}^{\dagger}
Ate any chicken at	Spring	74 (43.3%)	50 (29.2%)	1.82 (1.14,	2.91)*	
commercial eating	Summer	191 (42.8%)	105 (23.5%)	2.68 (1.96,	3.66)*	
establishment	Fall	121 (47.5%)	68 (26.7%)	2.74 (1.82,	4.12)*	0.6756
(excluding deli meat, pot pie, salad)	Winter	69 (44.2%)	42 (26.9%)	2.35 (1.40,	3.92)*	
Contact with any	Spring	48 (28.1%)	31 (18.1%)	1.79 (1.06,	3.03)*	
animal stool	Summer	104 (23.3%)	84 (18.8%)	1.38 (0.98,	1.93)	0 7105
	Fall	47 (18.4%)	28 (11.0%)	1.79 (1.05,	3.04)*	0.7185
	Winter	33 (21.2%)	21 (13.5%)	1.67 (0.89,	3.11)	
Drank any	Spring	5 (3.0%)	1 (0.6%)	5.00 (0.56,	236.49)^	
unpasteurized (raw)	Summer	6 (1.4%)	3 (0.7%)	2.16 (0.45,	13.60)^	0.8274
milk	Fall	6 (2.4%)	1 (0.4%)	6.00 (0.73,	275.99)^	0.8274
	Winter	1 (0.6%)	0 (0.0%)	1.00 (0.03,	$\infty)_{\vee}$	
Drank untreated	Spring	3 (1.8%)	1 (0.6%)	3.00 (0.24,	157.49)^	
water from lake,	Summer	23 (5.4%)	8 (1.8%)	3.43 (1.41,	8.37)*	0.4194
river or stream	Fall	11 (4.4%)	4 (1.6%)	4.27 (1.08,	24.67)*^	
	Winter	2 (1.3%)	3 (1.9%)	0.66 (0.05,	5.89)^	
Had contact with a	Spring	18 (10.7%)	9 (5.3%)	2.85 (1.01,	8.03)*	
farm animal	Summer	52 (11.8%)	26 (5.9%)	2.39 (1.37,	4.18)*	0.4657
(chicken, turkey,	Fall	23 (9.1%)	20 (8.0%)	1.29 (0.62,	2.70)	

cow, goat, horse or	Winter	11 (7.1%)	3 (2.0%)	3.51 (0.79,	21 82)∧	
pig)	w mter	11 (7.170)	5 (2.076)	3.31 (0.79,	21.83)	
Chicken cooked	Spring	7 (4.2%)	2 (1.2%)	3.42 (0.65,	33.75)^	
outdoors away from	Summer	18 (4.2%)	13 (3.0%)	1.47 (0.71,	3.07)	0.5643
home	Fall	9 (3.8%)	6 (2.5%)	1.47 (0.52,	4.21)	
	Winter					
Swim in lake, river	Spring	6 (3.5%)	4 (2.4%)	1.67 (0.32,	10.73)^	
or stream	Summer	49 (11.1%)	39 (8.8%)	1.33 (0.83,	2.12)	0.879
	Fall	6 (2.4%)	8 (3.2%)	0.59 (0.16,	2.11)	0.079
	Winter	3 (1.9%)	0 (0.0%)	3.18 (0.33,	$\infty)_{\vee}$	

*Significant at p<0.05

^ Exact conditional logistic regression used

[†]Likelihood ratio p-value from test of interaction

Figure 7.1. Number of cases of culture-confirmed campylobacteriosis by week and season (N=1,028).





Figure 7.2. Proportion of controls reporting exposure to risk factor, by season, for risk factors with a prevalence of exposure that varied significantly by season

195

CHAPTER 8. DISCUSSION

Conclusion

Campylobacteriosis is one of the most common causes of bacterial gastroenteritis in the United States. As campylobacteriosis is not a nationally-notifiable disease, information on this important pathogen is captured through the Foodborne Diseases Surveillance Network (FoodNet), a collaboration among select state health departments, the Food and Drug Administration, the Department of Agriculture, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Since FoodNet began conducting active surveillance for culture-confirmed infections in 1996, geographic and seasonal variation in the rates of campylobacteriosis has been consistently observed. Reasons for the geographic and seasonal variation in campylobacteriosis remain elusive.

The number of culture-confirmed cases of campylobacteriosis only represents a fraction of those that occur in the community. Samuel et al. (2004) estimated that there are 34 cases in the community for every one case of culture-confirmed *Campylobacter* that was captured in FoodNet surveillance.¹ Not every case of campylobacteriosis will seek health care as a result of his/her illness or have a stool sample submitted for testing. Differences at any of the *surveillance steps*² in the process from an individual becoming exposed to *Campylobacter*, to health care utilization as a result of his/her illness, clinical laboratory testing procedures, and reporting of cases to public health authorities may result in overall differences in the rates of campylobacteriosis detected by FoodNet. This study found no evidence to suggest that surveillance artifacts explain the observed geographic variation in campylobacteriosis. Differences in health care utilization or stool sample submission practices did not appear to be important in explaining the geographic

differences, though these might be expected to impact reported rates of all enteric pathogens similarly. Furthermore, despite the some variation in the process used to detect *Campylobacter* in clinical specimens, geographic differences in clinical laboratory practices appear to explain little of the geographic differences in campylobacteriosis. As the goal of FoodNet is to capture every instance of a cultureconfirmed case of campylobacteriosis in surveillance, and this is confirmed by laboratory audits, reporting differences are not likely to exist.

The principal risk factors identified for sporadic campylobacteriosis in the U.S. are related to consumption of poultry, untreated surface water, raw milk, exposure to animals, and foreign travel.³⁻⁵ Geographic differences in risk factors for campylobacteriosis, as a result of variation in the population exposure to *Campylobacter*, have not been identified. No significant differences in the risk for campylobacteriosis from selected risk factors (thought to have the largest impact and to vary geographically) were identified in this study. Some differences in the frequency of reported exposures were found across the FoodNet sites, suggesting that the impact of these exposures could vary due to the differing frequencies of exposure. Interestingly, those in California reported some of the highest frequency of chicken consumption, thought to be a major risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection.

Additionally, although temperature and precipitation were associated with campylobacteriosis, they do not explain much of the seasonality of campylobacteriosis. A modest, but significant, association was found between both a weighted average of the minimum temperature in the three to twelve days prior to specimen collection and "extreme" precipitation during the seven to fourteen days prior to specimen collection.

197

Although a handful of studies in other countries have found an association between temperature and campylobacteriosis, this is the first study in the U.S. to identify this association in multiple states. Furthermore, the finding of an association between sporadic cases of campylobacteriosis and extreme precipitation is novel. However, the effects were small and do not appear to explain the striking overall seasonal variation.

Future Directions

Given these findings, what factors are likely to explain the geographic variation observed in rates of campylobacteriosis? One factor that has yet to be fully explored is that of immunity. A recent study by Havelaar et al. (2009) has suggested that population immunity to *Campylobacter* in epidemiological studies may contribute to observed epidemiological features.⁶ For instance, a recent case-control study of campylobacteriosis in the U.K. found that individuals who were habitual consumers of chicken had a lower risk of infection with Campylobacter than those who consumed chicken less often, suggesting that this risk for illness might be modified by immunity. related to frequently previous exposure to the risky food.⁷ Other risk factors for campylobacteriosis, such as owning a pet dog, were also found to vary by duration of exposure. In the same study, recent dog owners had an increased risk of *Campylobacter* infection whereas those who had owned dogs for a longer period of time did not have the same risk. Furthermore, a British study suggested that variation in strain-specific immunity may help explain the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis. Miller et al. (2005) found that older age groups were more likely to be infected with "rare" serotypes of *Campylobacter*, in comparison to younger individuals, who were infected with more

common serotypes. They suggested that this pattern indicates that acquired immunity plays a role in the epidemiology of campylobacteriosis. It would be helpful to include direct or proxy measures of immunity to *Campylobacter* in future epidemiological studies.

As it is a major identified risk factor for infection that is consistently identified in case control studies, future studies should continue to better quantify the association between chicken consumption and campylobacteriosis. In the study conducted in the FoodNet sites, chicken eaten outside the home was a risk for infection, while chicken eaten at home was protective.⁵ Whether this discrepancy is due to differences in food handling practices or another factor is unclear. It is still possible that part of the reason for California's high rates of campylobacteriosis is related to California's law prohibiting of labeling previously-frozen chicken as "fresh".⁸ In other countries, national *Campylobacter* control programs have focused on reduction of the quantity of Campylobacter that occurs when poultry meat is frozen. In Iceland, for example, recent policies dictate that poultry from *Campylobacter* positive-flocks is required to be frozen before being sold to consumers. These policies seem to have led to a reduction in the reported rates of campylobacteriosis.⁹ Therefore, future studies of the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis should consider the quantity of *Campylobacter* present on poultry.

The seasonality of campylobacteriosis is also still largely unexplained. This study found some differences in the frequency of exposures to factors known to be associated with the risk for campylobacteriosis, although these did not appear to fully explain the seasonality of campylobacteriosis. As we noted a stronger seasonal peak in children and the elderly, risk factors for these age groups may have a stronger seasonally-varying component that should be explored in future studies. The evidence of modest associations between both temperature and precipitation and campylobacteriosis in this study do not appear to fully explain the seasonality of campylobacteriosis. It remains likely that the pathway between these meteorological factors, particularly temperature, and campylobacteriosis is indirect. Due to its specific growth requirements for lower than atmospheric levels of oxygen and warmer temperatures, *Campylobacter* is not thought to readily multiply in the open environment. It is possible that increasing temperature may lead to increases in vectors for *Campylobacter*, such as flies, and the role for this exposure pathway with regard to human illness has not fully been explored. In poultry operations, studies have found that using fly screens significantly reduces the proportion of poultry flocks that become colonized with *Campylobacter*.¹⁰

This study used multiple data sources that were collected for public health surveillance purposes. While this study did not find any striking evidence to suggest that differences in risk factors for campylobacteriosis or surveillance artifacts explain the geographic variation in campylobacteriosis or that seasonal variation in risk factors explain the seasonal peak in campylobacteriosis, this study provides a model of how one can use public health surveillance data to better understand key factors that could influence geographic and seasonal differences in reported rates of illness.

References

1. Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, Marcus R, Segler S, McGivern T, et al. Epidemiology of sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S165-74.

2. Vally H, Hall G, Scallan E, Kirk MD, Angulo FJ. Higher rate of culture-confirmed Campylobacter infections in Australia than in the USA: is this due to differences in healthcare-seeking behaviour or stool culture frequency? Epidemiol Infect 2009:1-8.

3. C. K. Olson, S. Ethelberg, W. van Pelt, Tauxe RV. Epidemiology of Campylobacter jejuni Infections in Industrialized Nations. In: I. Nachamkin, C. M. Szymanski, M. J. Blaser MJ, eds. Campylobacter. Third ed. Washington, DC: ASM Press 2008:163–91.

4. Effler P, Ieong MC, Kimura A, Nakata M, Burr R, Cremer E, et al. Sporadic Campylobacter jejuni infections in Hawaii: associations with prior antibiotic use and commercially prepared chicken. J Infect Dis 2001;183(7):1152-5.

5. Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, et al. Risk factors for sporadic Campylobacter infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38 Suppl 3:S285-96.

6. Havelaar AH, van Pelt W, Ang CW, Wagenaar JA, van Putten JP, Gross U, et al. Immunity to Campylobacter: its role in risk assessment and epidemiology. Crit Rev Microbiol 2009;35(1):1-22.

7. Tam CC, Higgins CD, Neal KR, Rodrigues LC, Millership SE, O'Brien SJ. Chicken consumption and use of acid-suppressing medications as risk factors for Campylobacter enteritis, England. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;[Epub ahead of print].

8. Section 26661 of the California Food and Agricultural Code. In: California Food and Agricultural Code; 1993.

9. Lowman R, Hardardottir H, Kritinsson KG, Sigmundsdottir G, Frioriksdottir V, Reiersen J, et al. Iceland: a review of reduction in human incidence of domestically acquired campylobacteriosis from 2000-2008, concurrent with Iceland's freezing policy. In: 15th International Workshop on Campylobacter, Helicobacter, and Related Organisms; 2009; Niigata, Japan; 2009.

10. Hald B, Skovgard H, Sommer HM. Screen Out Insect Vectors to Significantly Reduce *Campylobacter* Prevalence in Broilers. In: 14th International Workshop on *Campylobacter*, *Helicobacter* and Related Organisms; 2007; Rotterman, The Netherlands; 2007.